
 

Page 1 of 7 

  City of Gardner, Massachusetts 
Office of the City Council 

~~~~~~~ 
CALENDAR FOR THE MEETING 

of 
TUESDAY, JANUARY 16, 2024 
CITY COUNCIL CHAMBER 

7:30 P.M. 
 

ORDER OF BUSINESS  
 
 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER 

 
II. CALL OF THE ROLL OF COUNCILLORS 

 
III. OPENING PRAYER 
 
IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
V. ANNOUNCEMENT OF OPEN MEETING RECORDINGS 
 

Any person may make a video or audio recording of an open session of a meeting, or may transmit the meeting through any medium, subject to reasonable 
requirements of the chair as to the number, placement and operation of equipment used so as not to interfere with the conduct of the meeting.  Any person 
intending to make such recording shall notify the Chair forthwith.  All documents and exhibits used or referenced at the meeting must be submitted in 
duplicate to the City Clerk, as they become part of the Meeting Minutes. 

 
VI. READING OF MINUTES OF PRIOR MEETING(S) 

• January 4, 2024, Inaugural Minutes   
  
VII. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
VIII. COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE MAYOR 

 
ORDERS 
 
11118 – An Order Authorizing $106.24 Payment of Prior Year Salary Expenditure. 

(Finance Committee)  
 
APPOINTMENTS 
 
11119 – A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Rachel J. Roberts, to the 

position of Executive Secretary, for term expiring January 1, 2025. 
(confirmation not required) (Appointments Committee) 

 
11120 – A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of John M. Flick, to the 

position of City Solicitor, for term expiring January 1, 2025. (confirmation 
not required) (Appointments Committee) 

 



 

Page 2 of 7 

 
11121 – A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Kevin J. Arsenault, to 

the position of Constable, for term expiring January 1, 2027. (confirmation 
not required) (Appointments Committee) 

 
11122 – A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Gloria Tarpey, to the 

position of President of Golden Agers Club, for term expiring January 8, 
2025. (confirmation not required) (Appointments Committee) 

 
11123 – A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Theresa Hillman, to the 

position of Gardner Community Action Board of Directors Member, for term 
expiring January 4, 2025. (confirmation not required) (Appointments 
Committee) 

 
11124 – A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Alan Agnelli, to the 

position of Historical Commission Member, for term expiring January 8, 
2027. (Appointments Committee) 

 
11125 – A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Barbara LeBlanc, to the 

position of Council on Aging Member, for term expiring January 8, 2027. 
(Appointments Committee) 

 
11126 – A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Tammy Erdman, to the 

position of Municipal Grounds Commission Member, for term expiring 
January 9, 2027. (Appointments Committee) 

 
11127 – A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Thomas Zuppa, to the 

position of Building Commissioner, for term expiring January 9, 2027. 
(Appointments Committee) 

 
11128 – A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Robert Charland, Esq., 

to the position of Assistant City Solicitor, for term expiring January 1, 2025 
(Appointments Committee) 

 
11129 – A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Dane Arnold, to the 

position of Public Works Director, for term expiring January 4, 2027 
(Appointments Committee) 

 
11130 – A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Michael F. Ellis, to the 

position of Senior Citizen’s Director, for term expiring January 4, 2027 
(Appointments Committee) 

 
11131 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Lynette R. Gabrila, to the 

position of Veteran’s Agent/Veterans’ Burial Agent, for term expiring 
January 4, 2025 (Appointments Committee) 

 



 

Page 3 of 7 

11132 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Gregory Lagoy, to the 
position of Fire Chief, for term expiring January 4, 2027 (Appointments 
Committee) 

 
11133 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Paul Topolski, to the 

position of Civil Defense Director, for term expiring January 4, 2027 
(Appointments Committee) 

 
11134 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Carla J. Wojtukiewcz, to 

the position of Trustee, Williams-Rockwell Educational Gift Fund, for term 
expiring January 4, 2027 (Appointments Committee) 

 
11135 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Robert Rice, Esq., to the 

position of Trustee, Williams-Rockwell Educational Gift Fund, for term 
expiring January 4, 2027 (Appointments Committee) 

 
11136 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Cheryl Slack, to the 

position of Animal Control Officer, for term expiring January 4, 2025 
(Appointments Committee) 

 
11137 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Autumn Brown, to the 

position of Animal Control Officer, for term expiring January 4, 2025 
(Appointments Committee) 

 
11138 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Alana Meserve, to the 

position of Animal Control Officer, for term expiring January 4, 2025 
(Appointments Committee) 

 
11139 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Robert Bettez, to the 

position of Planning Board Member, for term expiring January 4, 2027 
(Appointments Committee) 

 
11140 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Robert Swartz, to the 

position of Planning Board Member, for term expiring January 4, 2027 
(Appointments Committee) 

 
11141 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Stephen Cormier, to the 

position of Planning Board Member, for term expiring January 4, 2027 
(Appointments Committee) 

 
11142 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Charles LeBlanc, to the 

position of Board of Assessors, for term expiring January 4, 2027 
(Appointments Committee) 

 
11143 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Richard Germano, to the 

position of Local Inspector, for term expiring January 4, 2027(Appointments 
Committee)  



 

Page 4 of 7 

 
11144 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of James E. Imprescia, to 

the position of Plumbing & Gas Inspector, for term expiring January 4, 
2027(Appointments Committee)  

 
11145 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Michael Fitzsimmons, to 

the position of License Commission Member, for term expiring January 4, 
2027 (Appointments Committee) 

 
11146 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Kenneth Arsenault, to 

the position of License Commission Member, for term expiring January 4, 
2027 (Appointments Committee) 

 
11147 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Nancy Binder, to the 

position of License Commission Member, for term expiring January 4, 2027 
(Appointments Committee) 

 
11148 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Ann Twohig, to the 

position of Golf Commission Member, for term expiring January 4, 2027 
(Appointments Committee) 

 
11149 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Kathy O’Brien, to the 

position of Council on Aging Member, for term expiring January 8, 2027 
(Appointments Committee) 

 
11150 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Timothy Horrigan, to the 

position of Redevelopment Authority, for term expiring January 8, 2027 
(Appointments Committee) 

 
11151 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Theresa Hillman, to the 

position of Council on Aging Member, for term expiring January 8, 2027 
(Appointments Committee) 

 
11152 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Gloria Tarpey, to the 

position of Council on Aging Member, for term expiring January 8, 2027 
(Appointments Committee) 

 
11153 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Susan Avallone, RN, to 

the position of Board of Health Member, for term expiring January 8, 2027 
(Appointments Committee) 

 
11154 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Geoffrey Tobia, to the 

position of Board of Health Member, for term expiring January 8, 2027 
(Appointments Committee) 

 



 

Page 5 of 7 

11155 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Michele Parker, to the 
position of MD, Board of Health Member, for term expiring January 8, 2027 
(Appointments Committee) 

 
11156 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Marcelle S. Cormier, to 

the position of Board of Registrar Member, for term expiring January 8, 2027 
(Appointments Committee) 

 
11157 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Patricia Darby, to the 

position of Board of Registrar Member, for term expiring January 9, 2027 
(Appointments Committee) 

 
11158 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Kevin McInerney, to the 

position of Contributory Retirement Board, for term expiring January 11, 
2027 (Appointments Committee) 

 
COMMUNICATIONS 
 
11159 – A Notification from the Mayor Regarding Submission of Inaugural Address. 
 
11160 – A Notification from the Mayor Regarding the FY2025 Budget Process. 
 
11161 – A Notification from the Mayor Regarding the City Code Review. 
 
11162 – A Notification from the Mayor Regarding the Bus Shelter/Stop Proposal. 
 
11163 – A Notification from the Mayor Regarding Updates to Municipal Finance 

Law.  
 
11164 – A Notification from the Mayor Regarding Change in Regulations for 

Communities Designated as Green Communities. 
 
11165 – A Notification from the Mayor Regarding Increased Chapter 90 Funding 

Received from Commonwealth. 
 
11166 – A Notification from the Mayor Regarding Updated Road Priority List and 

Rating Methodology.  
 
11167 – A Notification from the Mayor Regarding Recent Grants Received by the 

City. 
 
11168 – A Notification from the Mayor Regarding 9C Cuts in State Budget. 
 
11169 – A Notification from the Mayor Regarding Update Related to the On-Street 

Parking Ban issued from January 6th through January 8th. 
 



 

Page 6 of 7 

11170 – A Notification from the Mayor Regarding Notices of Vacancy in Appointed 
Positions.  

 
IX. PETITIONS, APPLICATIONS, COMMUNICATIONS, ETC. 
 

11117 - Applications for Motor Vehicle Dealers License, Class II, Sylvester R. 
Anghuy, 146 Sherman Street. (Safety Committee) 

 
11171 – A Notice from the City Clerk Relative to a Vacancy in the Position of 

Councillor at Large. 
 
X. REPORTS OF STANDING COMMITTEES   
  

SAFETY COMMITTEE 
 
11086 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner Chapter 600, 

Entitled “Vehicles and Traffic”, Section 24, Entitled “Parking Prohibited on 
Certain Streets” – Comee Street. (In the City Council and Referred to the 
Public Safety Committee 11/6/2023; More Time 11/20/2023, 12/4/2023, 
12/18/2023, 1/2/2024) 

 
11115 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner Chapter 600, 

Entitled “Vehicles and Traffic”, Section 24, Entitled “Parking Prohibited on 
Certain Streets.” – Douglas Road. (In the City Council & Referred to Safety 
Committee 12/18/2023; More Time 1/2/2024) 

 
11116 – Applications for Motor Vehicle Dealers License, Class II, Gardner Five Star 

Auto Sales, 407 Chestnut Street. (In City Council and Referred to Safety 
Committee 1/2/2024) 

 
XI.    UNFINISHED BUSINESS AND MATTERS FOR RECONSIDERATION  
 

11112 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 
thereof, entitled “Zoning,” to Add “Sports Betting” to the Zoning Table of 
Uses. (Submitted by Councilor Dana Heath; In the City Council, Referred to 
Planning Board 12/4/2023; More Time 12/18/23, 1/2/2024) 

 
11113 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 

thereof, entitled “Zoning,” to Amend Section 1070 thereof, entitled, 
“Marijuana Establishments” to Change the Method to Increase the Quota 
Allowed by the Code of the City of Gardner. (Submitted by Councilor Dana 
Heath; In the City Council, Referred to Planning Board 12/4/2023; More time 
12/18/23, 1/2/2024) 

 
 
 
 



 

Page 7 of 7 

XII. NEW BUSINESS 
 
XII. COUNCIL COMMENTS AND REMARKS 
 
XIV. CLOSING PRAYER 
 
XV. ADJOURNMENT 
 
  
 

Items listed on the Council Calendar are those reasonably anticipated by the Council President to be discussed at the meeting.  Not all items listed 
may in fact be discussed and other items not listed may also be brought up for discussion to the extent permitted by law. 
 
 
 



 
2024 CITY INAUGURAL EXERCISES 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     MASSACHUSETTS 

To be entered upon the Journals of the City Council of the City of Gardner in accordance with 
guidance provided under Section 23 of THE CHARTER OF THE CITY OF GARDNER.    
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *  
In accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Gardner and Section 17 of 
Chapter 43 of the General Laws, the Mayor-Elect, Councillors at-Large-Elect, Ward 
Councillors-Elect, and School Committee Members-Elect, assembled in the Rotunda of 
Gardner City Hall on Monday, January 1, 2024 at 10:00 o’clock in the forenoon, to be sworn 
to the faithful performance of their duties. 

 
 

CERTIFICATE OF ELECTION & RESULTS OF VOTES CAST 
 

The CERTIFICATE OF ELECTION and RESULTS OF THE VOTES CAST were declared by 
City Clerk Titi Siriphan and entered into the journals of the City Council, as follows: 
 

As a result of the votes cast at the City Election held on November 7, 2023, the 
following persons were declared elected: 

 

MAYOR    Michael Joseph Nicholson 
  

COUNCILLORS AT-LARGE  Elizabeth J. Kazinskas  
     Judy A. Mack 

George C. Tyros 
Ronald F. Cormier 

      Craig R. Cormier 
      Carolyn A. Kamuda  

 
WARD COUNCILLORS  David Thibault-Muñoz (Ward 1) 

      Dana M. Heath (Ward 2) 
      Nathan R. Boudreau (Ward 3) 
      Karen G. Hardern (Ward 4) 
      Aleksander Dernalowicz, Esq. (Ward 5) 
  

SCHOOL COMMITTEE  Rachel A. Cormier 
MEMBERS    Robert J. Swartz 

John M. Lafreniere 
      

City Clerk Titi Siriphan called the Roll of Officials: 
 

PRESENT: 
 

MAYOR    Michael Joseph Nicholson 
  

COUNCILLORS AT-LARGE  Judy A. Mack  
      



 
2024 CITY INAUGURAL EXERCISES 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     MASSACHUSETTS 

George C. Tyros 
Ronald F. Cormier 

      Craig R. Cormier 
      Carolyn A. Kamuda  

 
WARD COUNCILLORS  David Thibault-Muñoz (Ward 1) 

      Dana M. Heath (Ward 2) 
      Nathan R. Boudreau (Ward 3) 
      Karen G. Hardern (Ward 4) 
      Aleksander Dernalowicz, Esq. (Ward 5) 
  

SCHOOL COMMITTEE  Rachel A. Cormier 
MEMBERS     
 

ABSENT:    Elizabeth J. Kazinskas  
     George C. Tyros  
 
     Robert J. Swartz 
     John M. Lafreniere 
 
 

                                                 OATH OF OFFICE 
COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 

 

Worcester, ss.    Gardner, Massachusetts                     January 1, 2024 
 
 I, Titi Siriphan, City Clerk of the City of Gardner, in witness thereof, certify that on 
the 1st day of January, 2024 at 10:00 o’clock in the forenoon, at a meeting of the Mayor-Elect, 
Councillors-at-Large-elect, Ward Councilors-elect, and School Committee Members-Elect, I 
administered the oath required by the City Charter to the following: 
    
  

 SCHOOL COMMITTEE  Rachel A. Cormier 
MEMBERS     

 
COUNCILLORS AT-LARGE  Carolyn A. Kamuda 

      Judy A. Mack 
George C. Tyros 
Ronald F. Cormier 

       Craig R. Cormier  
 

WARD COUNCILLORS  David Thibault-Muñoz (Ward 1) 
       Dana M. Heath (Ward 2) 
       Nathan R. Boudreau (Ward 3) 
       Karen G. Hardern (Ward 4) 
       Aleksander Dernalowicz, Esq. (Ward 5) 



 
2024 CITY INAUGURAL EXERCISES 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     MASSACHUSETTS 

 
Who severally solemnly swore that they would faithfully and impartially perform the duties 
of the office for which they have been elected in the City of Gardner according to the best of 
their ability and in conformity with law. 
 
In testimony of all of which is required by the City Charter, I make this certificate to be entered 
on the journals of the meetings of the City Council.      
  

            /s/ Titi Siriphan, City Clerk 
 

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 
 
Worcester, ss.    Gardner, Massachusetts                       January 1, 2024 
 
 I, Titi Siriphan, City Clerk of the City of Gardner, hereby certify that on the FIRST 
DAY of JANUARY, 2024 at TEN o’clock in the forenoon, I administered the oath required by 
the City Charter to Mayor-elect Michael J. Nicholson for the term expiring January 5, 2026. 

 

Michael J. Nicholson solemnly swore that he would bear true faith and allegiance to 
the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and would support the Constitution thereof, so help him 
God. 

 

And, 
 

Michael J. Nicholson solemnly swore and affirmed that he would faithfully and 
impartially discharge and perform all the duties incumbent on him as Mayor, according to the 
best of his abilities and understanding, agreeably, to the rules and regulations, of the 
Constitution thereof, and the laws of this Commonwealth, so help him God. 

 

And, 
 

Michael J. Nicholson solemnly swore that he would support the Constitution of the 
United States, so help him God.  
 

In testimony of all of which is required by the City Charter, I make this certificate to be entered 
on the journals of the meetings of the City Council.      
  

            /s/ Titi Siriphan, City Clerk 
 
 
Officials were dismissed at 10:15am on January 1, 2024 after the oaths were sworn.  
 
 
 
 



 
2024 CITY INAUGURAL EXERCISES 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     MASSACHUSETTS 

 
CEREMONIAL INAUGURATION 

 

On the 4th day of January in the Year Two Thousand and Twenty-Four at 6:30 o’clock in the 
evening, officials and guests assembled in the Honorable Fred E. Perry, Gardner City Hall, 95 
Pleasant Street, to bear witness to the administration of the ceremonial oath of office to the 
Honorable Michael J. Nicholson, Mayor of the City of Gardner, members of the City Council, 
and the School Committee. 
 

WELCOME AND PROCESSION: 
 

Mr. Jacob Boucher Cormier, president and CEO of Boucher Funeral Home and member of 
the Board of Directors of Gardner Square Two, Inc., welcomed guests to the 55th City 
Inaugural Exercises and announced the entrance of the City Councilors-Elect and School 
Committee Members- Elect.  
 

“ALL HAIL TO MASSACHUSETTS” 
 

“All Hail to Massachusetts,” the official Anthem of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, was 
played as the City Councilors- Elect and School Committee Members- Elect entered the 
auditorium.  
 

ENTRANCE OF THE MAYOR 
 

Mr. Jacob Cormier announced that as had been done at the City’s first inaugural exercises in 
1923, the Mayor would be escorted into the Ceremony by Chief Gregory Lagoy of the Gardner 
Fire Department and Chief Richard Braks of the Gardner Police Department.  
 
Mr. Cormier then announced the entrance of  his Honor, Michael J. Nicholson, 20th Mayor of 
the City of Gardner  
 

“GOD BLESS AMERICA” 
 

The Mayoral Honors March, consisting of “Four Ruffles and Flourishes” followed by “God 
Bless America” was played as Mayor- Elect Nicholson entered the Auditorium and took his 
place on the stage.  
 

WELCOMING REMARKS 
 

Master of Ceremonies, Dr. Stephanie Marchetti, Executive Director of the Montachusett 
Veterans Outreach Center, opened the Inaugural Exercises by welcoming officials and guests 
in attendance. 
 



 
2024 CITY INAUGURAL EXERCISES 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     MASSACHUSETTS 

 
“Good evening everyone, as stated my name is Stephanie Marchetti and I am honored to serve 
as the Master of Ceremonies for the 2024 Inaugural Exercises. Throughout my time working 
in public and human services in the city of Gardner, nearly 15 years now, first at Mount 
Wachusett Community College and now at MVOC, I have watched the city grow and change 
but one thing has remained constant and that is a commitment to the well-being of residents.  
It has been a privilege to collaborate with your elected officials over the years and I am honored 
to be inducting each of these individuals in office tonight.  Like so many of you, I look forward 
to seeing what the next term of office brings to Gardner and I am excited to be part of the 
positive changes that are anticipated. 
 
I would also like to recognize those members of the Gardner School Committee who are with 
us this evening who were elected to their current four-year term in the previous municipal 
election and is not being sworn into office this evening – Atty Jennifer Zlotnik Pelavin who 
serves as the Vice Chair of the School Committee, Anne Hurst, and Shannon Ward-Leighton.  
 
I would also like to acknowledge Councilor-at-large-Elect Calvin Brooks who is with us this 
evening, who received the 7th highest votes in this last election. The City Council will be 
taking action to fill the recent vacancy on the Council and appoint Councilor-Elect Brooks 
according to the process outlined in the City Charter at their regularly scheduled meeting of 
January 16th.” 
 

PRESENTATION OF THE COLORS 
 

The National and City Colors were presented and posted by the Montachusett Regional 
Vocational Technical High School Marine Corps Junior ROTC and the Color Guard of the 
American Legion Post 129, Gardner.  
 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

The Boy Scouts of America of Troops 9 and 49 led the Assembly in the “Pledge of Allegiance.” 
 

“THE STAR SPANGLED BANNER” 
 

The Gardner Middle School Select Choir under the Direction of Mr. Gianni Patrizio Davilli, 
performed “The Star Spangled Banner.”  
 
 

INVOCATION 
 

The Invocation was offered by the Reverend Pastor David Trolongo of Chair City Church. 
 



 
2024 CITY INAUGURAL EXERCISES 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     MASSACHUSETTS 

Good evening. Will you bow your your heads to join me in a time of prayer? Heavenly Father, 
we come before you with thanksgiving for all those who gathered together here this evening 
to recognize and support those who have chosen to give their lives to serve our city. May your 
loving hand be upon each and every one of them. To our mayor, our city council, our school 
committee, to bring them calmness and comfort as they engage and endure the complexity of 
the challenges that await them and yet at the same time may your spirit Empower them as 
they together create new opportunities which will form and shape New Beginnings in our 
great City. God Almighty, we humbly ask that you would go before them to move the hearts 
and minds of those in our community towards kindness and support of each one of them as 
they dutifully serve our city. May your Spirit guide them to peace and unity in all they do 
together in their service of our city father Heavenly Father. We are grateful for your love of 
everyone in this room and that you have heard our prayer this evening. Amen. 

 
CERTIFICATE OF ELECTION & RESULTS OF VOTES CAST 

 

The CERTIFICATE OF ELECTION and RESULTS OF THE VOTES CAST were declared by 
City Clerk Titi Siriphan and entered into the journals of the City Council, as follows: 
 

As a result of the votes cast at the City Election held on November 7, 2023, the 
following persons were declared elected: 

 

MAYOR    Michael Joseph Nicholson 
  

COUNCILLORS AT-LARGE  Elizabeth J. Kazinskas  
     George C. Tyros 

Judy A. Mack  
Ronald F. Cormier 

      Craig R. Cormier 
      Carolyn A. Kamuda  

 
WARD COUNCILLORS  David Thibault-Muñoz (Ward 1) 

      Dana M. Heath (Ward 2) 
      Nathan R. Boudreau (Ward 3) 
      Karen G. Hardern (Ward 4) 
      Aleksander Dernalowicz, Esq. (Ward 5) 
  

SCHOOL COMMITTEE  Rachel A. Cormier 
MEMBERS    Robert J. Swartz 

John M. Lafreniere 
      

City Clerk Titi Siriphan called the Roll of Officials: 
 

PRESENT: 
 



 
2024 CITY INAUGURAL EXERCISES 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     MASSACHUSETTS 

MAYOR    Michael Joseph Nicholson 
  

COUNCILLORS AT-LARGE  Elizabeth J. Kazinskas  
     George C. Tyros 

Judy A. Mack 
Ronald F. Cormier 

      Craig R. Cormier  
 
WARD COUNCILLORS  David Thibault-Muñoz (Ward 1) 

      Dana M. Heath (Ward 2) 
      Nathan R. Boudreau (Ward 3) 
      Karen G. Hardern (Ward 4) 
      Aleksander Dernalowicz, Esq. (Ward 5) 
  

SCHOOL COMMITTEE  Rachel A. Cormier 
MEMBERS    Robert J. Swartz 

 
 

ABSENT:    John M. Lafreniere* 
 
*Mr. Lafreniere took his Oath of Office at the Regularly Scheduled School Committee 
Meeting of January 2nd, 2024 
    
    MUSICAL SELECTION 
 

The Greater Gardner Community Choir then performed its rendition of “Joy to the World,” 
by George Frederick Handel, Arranged by Pink Zebra, under the direction of Mrs. Dianne 
Cushing 

 
OATHS OF OFFICE 

 

The Honorable Mark Goldstein, First Presiding Justice of the Gardner – Winchendon District 
Court administered the Oaths of Office to City Councilors and School Committee members.  

 

************************* 
COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 

 

Worcester, ss.    Gardner, Massachusetts                     January 4, 2024 
 
 I, Titi Siriphan, City Clerk of the City of Gardner, in witness thereof, certify that on 
the 4th day of January, 2024 at six-thirty o’clock in the evening, at a meeting of the Mayor-
Elect, Councilors-at-Large-elect, Ward Councilors-elect, and School Committee Members-
Elect, The Honorable Mark Goldstein, First Presiding Justice of the Gardner – Winchendon 
District Court, administered the oath required by the City Charter to the following: 
 



 
2024 CITY INAUGURAL EXERCISES 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     MASSACHUSETTS 

  SCHOOL COMMITTEE  Rachel A. Cormier 
MEMBERS    Robert J. Swartz 

 
COUNCILLORS AT-LARGE  Elizabeth J. Kazinskas  

      Judy A. Mack 
George C. Tyros 
Ronald F. Cormier 

       Craig R. Cormier  
 

WARD COUNCILLORS  James M. Walsh, Esq. (Ward 1) 
       Dana M. Heath (Ward 2) 
       Nathan R. Boudreau (Ward 3) 
       Karen G. Hardern (Ward 4) 
       Aleksander Dernalowicz, Esq. (Ward 5) 
 
Who severally solemnly swore that they would faithfully and impartially perform the duties 
of the office for which they have been elected in the City of Gardner according to the best of 
their ability and in conformity with law. 
 
In testimony of all of which is required by the City Charter, I make this certificate to be entered 
on the journals of the meetings of the City Council.      
  

            /s/ Titi Siriphan, City Clerk 
 

 
INAUGURAL ADDRESS OF THE CITY COUCNCIL PRESIDENT 

 
The Honorable Elizabeth J. Kazinskas, City Council President of the City of Gardner, delivered 
the following Address: 
 

“Thank you, Stephanie, for the introduction, and thank you for your 
important work at the Montachusett Veterans Outreach Center.  We are lucky 
to have such a valuable resource right here in Downtown Gardner to serve 
our area’s veterans. 
 
Good evening.  On behalf of the Gardner City Council, thank you to all of you 
for being here – elected officials, family, friends, clergy, community 
performance groups, and citizens of Gardner. 
 
To my family - Thank you for listening, understanding, cheering me on, 
taking care of me, and for your support of my passion for all things black and 
orange, all things Wildcat and all things Gardner…and what that means is 



 
2024 CITY INAUGURAL EXERCISES 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     MASSACHUSETTS 

every gift that they receive from me is the latest black and orange apparel from 
John’s Sport Shop in downtown Gardner, with the expectation that they will 
wear it as often as possible. 
 
Representative Zlotnik – You have turned countless possibilities into reality 
for Gardner through your work and advocacy at the State level.  Thank you 
for your friendship and continuing to be a reliable State partner to our City, 
and for your many years of dedicated service to the Commonwealth. 
Vice Chair Pelavin – Congratulations on your re-election as Vice Chair once 
again, and thank you to you and the Members of the School Committee for 
your hard work and service to our schools. 
 
Mayor Nicholson – Thank you for working alongside the City Council in our 
City government – this is how it is supposed to work, and we have proven in 
Gardner, that it does work.  We don’t have to agree all the time, but it is ok if 
we agree some of the time.  We don’t have to respect each other, but we 
choose to do so.  We can have different roles that serve different purposes in 
our City government, and still share a common goal.  Your strong 
commitment to transparency is appreciated, and I look forward to all that WE 
as a City Council, will accomplish TOGETHER with YOU as our city’s Mayor, 
in our respective roles, over the next two years. 
 
Judge Goldstein – Thank you for administering the Oath of Office to the City 
Council this evening.  Also, thank you for recognizing the needs of our 
community and serving those needs through your work at Gardner District 
Court. 
 
To the citizens of Gardner – The City Council’s role in serving you is 
important, and your role in electing us to do so is equally as important.  Thank 
you for giving this City Council the opportunity to work for you. 
 
To my fellow City Councillors – I am grateful and humbled by your 
unanimous vote to re-elect me as City Council President.  Your confidence in 
my ability to serve you and our community in this position holds significant 
value to me.  Thank you all. 
 
To our families - City Council business is a huge commitment.  It takes away 
from time with you, it follows us everywhere we go – to the grocery store, 
family dinners, on social media.  Your support is important to us, and to the 
community.  Thank you for all that you do to keep us afloat. 



 
2024 CITY INAUGURAL EXERCISES 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     MASSACHUSETTS 

 
City Clerk Titi Siriphan – Thank you for being the backbone of the City 
Council and always rising to the occasion.  You never complain, you always 
deliver, and you take your job seriously.  It is an honor to work with you, and 
sit next to you at each and every City Council meeting. 
 
During this term, I look forward to the City Council continuing to do great 
work to give Gardner all that it deserves.  We have a lot of work behind us, 
and a lot of work ahead of us, and I am confident that we will get it done. 
 
David Thibault-Muñoz joins the City Council as Ward 1 Councillor, for his 
first term.  Calvin Brooks will fill the Councillor at Large vacancy, and be 
sworn in officially during the next regular City Council meeting, to begin his 
first term.  Congratulations, and welcome to you both. 
 
Dana Heath is serving his second term as Ward 2 Councillor.  He was the only 
new City Councillor this past term, stepped up to the plate, and took it on with 
success. 
 
Ward 5 Councillor Alek Dernalowicz, Councilor at-Large Judy Mack, and 
Councillor at-Large George Tyros are serving their third term.  All three 
Councillors have served as Chairs of City Council Standing Committees and 
on multiple committees. 
 
Ward 3 Councillor Paul Tassone has served multiple terms as a City Councillor 
and Gardner School Committee member. 
 
Ward 4 Councillor Karen Hardern and at-Large Councillor Craig Cormier also 
bring multiple terms of City Council experience, and have served on many of 
our Standing Committees. 
 
At-Large Councillor Ronald Cormier is the longest serving City Councillor in 
the history of the City of Gardner.  Ron brings valuable experience and 
knowledge to the Council.  He has more experience in City Government than 
the rest of us combined.  To put things into perspective, I will be 41 years old 
after this term, and Councillor Cormier’s career on the Gardner City Council 
will be 38 years old after this term. 
 
Our City Council should reflect the citizens of Gardner.  Some of us are new, 
some of us are seasoned, but regardless of our experience, the expectation from 



 
2024 CITY INAUGURAL EXERCISES 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     MASSACHUSETTS 

the people that we represent should be the same of all of us – that the integrity 
of the Council is incredibly important and taken seriously by its members.  I 
am excited and proud to lead this Council, and confident that we will serve 
Gardner honorably and responsibly over the next two years.  Thank you. 

 
 

    MUSICAL SELECTION 
 

The Greater Gardner Community Choir then performed its rendition of “A Glad New Song,” 
by Gwyneth Walker, under the direction of Mrs. Dianne Cushing 
 

REMARKS BY REPRESENTATIVE JONATHAN ZLOTNIK 
 
The Honorable Jonathan D. Zlotnik, State Representative for the Second Worcester District, 
delivered the following remarks: 
 

“Good evening, it’s my pleasure tonight to introduce Mayor Nicholson at the 
start of his 2nd term in office.  
 
In Mike, those of us on this stage who hold public office, have a genuine 
partner who comes to the table eager to collaborate, be flexible, and get 
things done.  
 
I attended a City Council Meeting in November, because there was an item 
on the agenda that would be coming to the legislature. But while I was there, 
there were several instances of the Mayor providing information on issues 
that will come up in the future, or may come up, as well as updates on 
matters the Council had previously voted on. He’s not required to do that, 
but that’s the norm he has adhered to for the last 3 years.  
 
Those of us who live in the City benefit from that way of doing business. It 
means that the Council, School Committee, is better informed, more in 
advance so when an issue does come up, and needs to be voted on. They 
have been there every step along the way.  
 
You can point to many positive developments over the last 3 years, but if I 
can highlight one thing. It is Mike’s willingness to work with others. To put 
in that effort to take in other opinions, that really produces results, especially 
in the long term.  
 



 
2024 CITY INAUGURAL EXERCISES 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     MASSACHUSETTS 

That vote that brought me to the Council meeting a couple of months ago, 
was the latest step in amending the City’s Charter. Something Mike 
spearheaded this last term. It was something that has been on the back 
burner for a while, failed at least a couple times before. But over the course 
of more than a year, many conversations, and more than a few compromises, 
it passed the Council, passed on the ballot, and is now HD4729 awaiting 
approval from the Legislature.   
 
Now it is my honor to introduce to you all my former colleague and current 
friend, Jen Flanagan who will administer the oath of office to Mayor 
Nicholson. Following the Oath of Office, Mayor Nicholson will deliver his 
Inaugural Address.” 

 
REMARKS BY FORMER STATE SENATOR JENNIFER L. FLANAGAN-LONG 

 

The Honorable Jennifer L. Flanagan-Long, Former State Senator for the Worcester-Middlesex 
District, then delivered the following remarks:  
 

Good Evening. It is a pleasure, an honor, and a privilege to be standing 
here and to be asked by Mayor Nicholson to deliver to administer the oath of 
office to him, while I also get the non-distinguished honor of trying to get every 
elected official in this room and get their names right.  
I'm no stranger to Gardner. For almost 9 years, I was fortunate to be the state 
senator from this city and the one thing that I can tell you is that the themes 
that are going through the speeches tonight are working together, mutual 
respect, common denominator, and really a common purpose. As the City 
Council President said, everyone has their individual roles but at the same time 
there's a common goal to move Gardener forward. When I was the state senator 
in the district included Leominster and Fitchburg, we used to call ourselves the 
Tri Cities and we prided ourselves in the fact that we were North County, we 
were the north county part of Worcester County and when you called one of 
us you called eight of us because geographically, we all knew that we had the 
same struggles. We all understood that one of the most important issues to us 
was the train and getting people back and forth to Boston. Making sure we had 
enough services for substance use disorder, making sure people had health care 
as close possible as they can to their homes and not having to travel near and 
far, and at the same time, we all took that lonely ride down Route two to go to 
Boston to fight for the people of Gardner, and tonight you have before you 
school committee members, City councilors, State officials and a mayor, who 
if I'm being completely transparent was my intern, all working together to 



 
2024 CITY INAUGURAL EXERCISES 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     MASSACHUSETTS 

benefit the community of Gardner. If you look around this room, you see how 
full it is of people, there's older people, and children, and families, and adults, 
and business people, and healthcare workers, all coming together to celebrate 
the mayor and also getting out before the snow storm comes on Sunday. So 
with that, I have the honor of introducing many of my former colleagues, many 
of whom I still consider friends, that are standing here in the audience tonight 
we have: 

 
• Auditor Diana Dizoglio 
• Senator Peter Durant  
• Former Senator and Director of Rural Affairs Ann Gobi  
• Former State Representative Hank Naughton  
• Worcester County Registrar of Deeds Kate Toomey 
• Worcester County District Attorney and my favorite DA Joe Early  
• Worcester County Sheriff Lou Evangelidis 
• Mayor Christian Dumais of Marlborough 
• Former Mayors of Gardner Alan Agneli and Dan Kelley  
• Randolph City Councilor Ryan Egan  
• Former Braintree City Councilor Michael Owens  
• Chair of the Lancaster Selectboard and Chair of the Massachusetts 

Democratic Party Steve Kerrigan  
• Rutland Selectman Paul Matson  
• Templeton Selectman Matt Revard  
• Milbury School Committee Member Nick Lazzaro  
• Rutland Town Administrator Austin Cyganiewicz 
• Mount Wachusett Community College president Dr James Vander 

Hooven  
• We have MART President and CEO Bruno Fischer and  
• We have the Heywood Healthcare President and CEO Rozanna Penney  
 
Thank you all for coming here tonight and celebrating our elected officials 

here in Gardner.  
 
Would Mayor Nicholson and Jackie Nicholson please join me at the 

podium to take the oath of office? 
 

OATHS OF OFFICE 
 

The Honorable Jennifer L. Flanagan-Long, Former State Senator for the Worcester-Middlesex 
District, administered the Oaths of Office to Mayor-Elect Michael J. Nicholson.  

 



 
2024 CITY INAUGURAL EXERCISES 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     MASSACHUSETTS 

************************* 
 

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 
 
Worcester, ss.    Gardner, Massachusetts                         January 4, 2024 
 
 I, Titi Siriphan, City Clerk of the City of Gardner, hereby certify that on the FIRST 
DAY of JANUARY, 2024 at six-thirty o’clock in the evening, Honorable Jennifer L. Flanagan-
Long, Former State Senator for the Worcester-Middlesex District, administered the ceremonial 
oath to Mayor Michael J. Nicholson for the term expiring January 5, 2026. 

 

Then, 
 

Michael J. Nicholson, who solemnly swore that he would bear true faith and allegiance 
to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and would support the Constitution thereof, so help 
him God. 

 

And, 
 

Michael J. Nicholson, who solemnly swore and affirmed that he would faithfully and 
impartially discharge and perform all the duties incumbent on him as Mayor, according to the 
best of his abilities and understanding, agreeably, to the rules and regulations, of the 
Constitution thereof, and the laws of this Commonwealth, so help him God. 

 

And, 
 

Michael J. Nicholson, who solemnly swore that he would support the Constitution of 
the United States, so help him God. 
 

In testimony of all of which is required by the City Charter, I make this certificate to 
be entered on the journals of the City Council. 

    

            /s/ Titi Siriphan, City Clerk 
 

INAUGURAL ADDRESS 
 

The Honorable Michael J. Nicholson, Mayor of the City of Gardner, delivered the following 
Inaugural Address: 
 

Good Evening, 
 
President Kazinskas and the Members of the City Council, Vice Chair Pelavin and the 
members of the School Committee, Judge Goldstein, reverend clergy, elected officials, 
family, friends, relatives, fellow Gardnerites, and those visiting, including those who wished 
they could be here but were not able to for whatever reason and are watching this later on.  



 
2024 CITY INAUGURAL EXERCISES 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     MASSACHUSETTS 

 
To all of you - Thank you for joining us this evening. 
 
Mom, Dad, and Jackie, all of my family, friends, and loved ones; I cannot thank you enough 
for always having my back. The gratitude I have for the love and support you have shown 
me is something I’ll never be able to express in words alone.  
 
A mi familia nicaragüense, cada oportunidad que he tenido durante mi vida ha sido por las 
oportunidades que se sacrificaron ustedes para que la generación menor de la familia tuviera 
una vida mejor. Es por sus sacrificios que puedo estar aquí hoy, como el primer alcalde e 
electo 
latino de esta ciudad. 
 
A ustedes que son nuevos residentes de nuestra ciudad, y en algunos casos, de este país, es mi 
honor y privilegio oficialmente decirles a todos BIENVENIDOS. Es mi esperanza que 
podamos construirles una comunidad que quieran llamar su hogar, donde puedan vivir, 
trabajar, y encontrar nuevas oportunidades. Mi familia encontró su sueño americano en 
Gardner cuando mi madre y su familia dejaron su hogar devastado por la Guerra y buscaron 
una vida mejor, y esa es mi esperanza para ustedes. 
 

Previous section translated:  
To my Nicaraguan Family- every opportunity that I have had in my live has 
been because of the opportunities that you sacrificed so that the younger 
generation of our family could have a better life. It is because of these 
sacrifices that I can stand here today, as the first Latin-American Mayor and 
Elected official of this City.  
 
To those of you here who are new residents of our City - and in some cases, 
this country - It is my absolute honor and privilege to officially say to you all 
as the Mayor of this City – welcome. It is my hope that we can build you a 
community that is welcoming and that you can look forward to calling your 
home- where you can live, work, and find new opportunities. My family 
found their American Dream in Gardner when my mother and her family left 
their war torn home and sought a better life, and that is my hope for you. 

 
Judge Goldstein - Thank you for being here with us this evening. Having a local Gardnerite 
serve as the first presiding justice of our local court has been a benefit to this City. You truly 
know Gardner and its people and your work on the bench has helped people get back on 
their feet when they need it the most. In particular, I would like to thank you for the vital 
role you played in bringing a Veterans Treatment Specialty Court to the 



 
2024 CITY INAUGURAL EXERCISES 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     MASSACHUSETTS 

Gardner/Winchendon District Court - the only one to exist in Worcester County - to help 
bring new forms of treatment and rehabilitation efforts to our veterans in particular those 
dealing with issues of substance abuse and addiction.  
 
Representative Zlotnik and Senator Flanagan – Thank you for joining us this evening. I 
learned a lot when I interned for you both before when I was a college student, and I truly 
appreciate your continued friendship, guidance, advice, and partnership since then to now.  
 
Father Thiago and Pastor Dave- Thank you for your prayers tonight, and for the guidance 
you provide to residents of our City through your work at your respective churches.  
 
Dr. Marchetti- Thank you for the work you do every day for the veterans in the 
Montachusett Region and the advancements you made in improving access to veterans 
housing in the area.  
 
 Lastly, scattered throughout the hall this evening are our city department heads, employees, 
and first responders. Please join me in a round of applause for these individuals who work 
tirelessly every day to provide top quality services to all of our residents. 
 
I would be remiss if I did not thank in a special way, Rachel Roberts from my office, and 
back here joining us this evening, Colin Smith, who recently left for a new position 
elsewhere. Thank you both for all you helped me with this past year, and to all of my former 
interns who have joined us here this evening as well.  I truly appreciate you all.    
 
When I gave this address at the beginning of the last term, we were on the doorstep of 
celebrating our 100th anniversary as a City. We talked about goals of economic growth and 
revitalization of the downtown. Ideas of increasing our outreach efforts were just starting to 
transition into discussions.  
Plans were being put in place to provide our public safety officials with the tools they need 
to do their jobs in the most efficient and effective ways possible. Concerns were being raised 
about the demand for housing we were seeing in Gardner. And the questions that were being 
asked as we approached our last inauguration ceremony were “how do we meet these 
challenges?”,  “Are we doing everything we can to be proactive not only to address the 
situations at hand, but also to plan for the future so we don’t end up back where we started 
in just a few years?”,  and most importantly, “are we doing everything we can to seize every 
opportunity available to us and to the people who put us into office?” 
 
Standing here now and reflecting on these times- Gardner’s been pretty busy, and our efforts 
are bearing fruit. 
 



 
2024 CITY INAUGURAL EXERCISES 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     MASSACHUSETTS 

We’ve continued to make strides in upholding our fiduciary responsibility to our residents. 
For the third year in a row, we have received a perfect audit report from the external 
auditors who review the City’s financial statements on an annual basis. Additionally, our 
stabilization account is the highest it has been in decades and our new growth revenue 
continues to come in well over budget, showing our strong financial promise for the future.  
 
Because of this strong financial standing, we have been able to invest more in our programs, 
initiatives, and infrastructure - and the return we have already begun to see on that 
investment is unprecedented. 
 
In our public safety departments, we purchased new equipment, re-vamped programming, 
and created new positions to ensure our first responders have the tools and resources they 
need to do their jobs in the most effective manner and keep the public safe.  
 
This includes purchasing a new ambulance, fire engine, heavy rescue and ladder truck for 
the fire department - all of which are currently being constructed.  
 
For our police department, we purchased a new drone with infrared, spotlight, and speaker 
technology, portable radios, sidearms, and eight new cruisers- half of which are hybrid.  
 
Aside from these capital investments, we also invested in our programming to help increase 
our outreach opportunities in these departments. We reinstated the Domestic Violence 
Advocate position in the Gardner Police Department, that had originally be cut in 2010, as 
well as launched our two K9 programs with Rocky, our patrol dog for the Police Department, 
and Sully, our Fire Department Comfort Dog to help assist in the operations of both of these 
departments.  
We continued these investments in our recreation and infrastructure. In doing so, we have 
not only set an example to others by showing them that we are willing to invest in ourselves, 
but we have also planned for our future with a growing population.  
 
Gardner now has new pickleball courts and our first playground graded for ages 5 and under 
at Bailey Brook Park, the new park and walking path at the old Park Street National Grid 
Substation location, and our new fitness court, done in partnership with Blue Cross Blue 
Shield, located at Gardner High School next to our newly refurbished tennis courts.  
 
Additionally we have paved 20 miles of roads (almost a quarter of our entire city) in just the 
last three years, installed new sidewalks, lighting structures and crossing ramps throughout 
the downtown area and at Monument Park, and new runway replacement and building 
upgrade projects at the Gardner Municipal Airport.  
 



 
2024 CITY INAUGURAL EXERCISES 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     MASSACHUSETTS 

Our School System has seen significant achievements in recent years. Since 2019, just 5 years 
go, the number of students enrolled in Gardner Public Schools has increased by almost 400 
students. At the same time, the number of students choosing to school choice out of Gardner 
to another district has declined by over 50%.  
 
We have made significant efforts to bring our schools’ curriculum into a full 21st Century 
learning environment - particularly in our early college program and through our new 
innovative pathway courses. Currently, approximately 30% of our juniors and seniors at 
Gardner High School are taking advantage of our immersive Early College Program with 
Mount Wachusett Community College and our newly added partner, Fitchburg State 
University. As a result, this last spring, over 50 students graduated with a high school 
diploma and a college associates degree at the same time.  
 
Additionally, we have invested in new equipment for our innovative pathway classes, 
traditional school version of trade classes that we offer in manufacturing, automotive, 
robotics, woodworking, business and finance, healthcare, information technology, and 
engineering all of which now have state of the art equipment to work with, making our 
students’ transition to college or employment easier, by giving them hands on learning while 
still in our classrooms.  
 
And the most significant achievement we had in our educational efforts was the opening of 
our new Elementary School, where our students in preschool through fourth grade can have 
a modern learning environment that meets their needs and helps them best prepare for their 
futures.  
Some of the most visible accomplishments we have seen over the last few years have been in 
our economic development endeavors. In the last two years, over 50 businesses have either 
newly opened or expanded their services in Gardner and almost 20 buildings in the 
downtown area alone have changed ownership and are under renovation. This has opened 
up an unprecedented amount of opportunity for Gardner.  
 
We also made a concerted effort to hold ourselves to the same standard we hold the private 
sector to and make sure that we as a City do not become our next absentee landlord. We 
reviewed the properties owned by the City that were underutilized, put them on the market, 
and got them back onto the tax rolls - not only bringing in new revenue as a result, but also 
helping ensure that these properties can be used to their fullest potential through private 
sector investments.  
 
However, the economic goals that we have met only bear true fruit if people can access 
them- which we have accomplished through the advancements we made in our 
transportation efforts.  



 
2024 CITY INAUGURAL EXERCISES 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     MASSACHUSETTS 

One of the biggest complaints we used to receive at City Hall was the fact that Gardner no 
longer had a taxi cab service and getting around the City was difficult for many people. For 
some, getting to doctor's appointments, grocery shopping, visiting loved ones, and many 
other instances, were almost impossible. To help meet this need, Council President Kazinskas 
and I put forward ordinance legislation that was unanimously approved by the City Council 
that made it easier for people looking to open and operate rideshare services in the City. 
Then, working with Woods Ambulance, we launched the first phase of Woods Plus - 
“SwiftRide.” This new, locally owned ride-share service now allows our residents to get 
anywhere around the City at an affordable rate to fill the gap in transportation that we saw 
before.  
 
We have also begun the process with MART to update and re-route our fixed bus routes 
around Gardner that haven’t been reviewed since the 1980s. This allows us to truly capture 
the growth that we are seeing in our population and plan for it the most efficient and 
effective way possible.  
This all started when Councilor Dernalowicz first approached us to inquire about adding 
additional bus stops in South Gardner particularly at the former Prospect Street School 
location. As a result, not only has this stop been added but other stops received new signage 
and shelter structures. For the last two years, have been in constant conversations with 
MART about improving services in Gardner. As the Mayor of this city and the Chair of the 
MART Advisory Board, I’d like to thank MART’s Administration for the new energy they’ve 
placed into improving access to public transportation in Gardner, most recently with the 
new fare free initiative that was launched for all fixed routes in the MART district earlier 
this week for the next six-months.  
 
Lastly, we made sure to break away from the “that’s how we’ve always done it,” mentality 
and see if there were any updates that could be made to improve our operations.  
 
This is why Councilor George Tyros and I were able to put forward legislation to revamp our 
vacant, abandoned, blighted, and nuisance ordinance to give our City personnel in the health 
and building departments the tools they need to prevent properties from becoming problems 
and incentivize property owners to keep their buildings up to a standard of care.  
 
Most notably in this review and update process, after an almost eight year process, the 
proposed amendments to the City Charter are on their way to Boston for consideration by 
the State Legislature, to make sure Gardner has a 21st Century Government that meets the 
needs of a modern, growing community.  
We certainly have accomplished a lot in the last term, and we have set the stage for us to 
continue with that momentum as we move Gardner forward.  
 



 
2024 CITY INAUGURAL EXERCISES 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     MASSACHUSETTS 

Our economic development efforts continue to move forward with new advances set to take 
place in the next few months. Work in the downtown area is continuing to move forward 
with renovations being completed to the facades of several buildings, interior renovations 
and build outs expected to begin, and over 225 housing units expected to be constructed in 
the downtown alone.  
New businesses - like Aldi, Chipotle, Five Below, and others, like Jersey Mike’s, announced 
today for the Timpany Crossroads Plaza – are set to open their doors in Gardner in 2024.  
Construction projects will soon be starting on Rear Main Street, Rome Square, the 
Greenwood Pool, Maki Park, the Uptown Rotary, Ovila Case Playground, the North Central 
Pathway Bike Trail, and more.  
 
Perhaps the most significant construction project we have ongoing for the new year is our 
continued work renovating the former Waterford Street School location to house our new 
non-profit community center. This project will surely bring new opportunities to the area by 
bringing all of these services under one roof and allowing them to expand their collaboration 
with each other.  
Growing Places, a local non-profit focused around access to healthy and affordable food, has 
already received their zoning approvals, is just about ready to move in and begin operations, 
and has also begun working with a newly formed group of farmers on ways to promote local 
agriculture and create new farmers market opportunities at the site. 
 
Over and over again, we have seen that when we as a City invest in ourselves - our 
infrastructure, economy, facilities, residents - the return we receive on that investment 
exceeds our expectations. Tens of millions of dollars of private sector investment have poured 
into Gardner in the last two years, because we were willing to hold ourselves to a high 
standard and set that example for others. If we want to continue the successes that we have 
seen - we still have work to do. 
  
One of these investments we know we need to look at is the Gardner Fire Headquarters 
Building. The roof of the fire station is original to the building’s 1978 construction and 
currently is experiencing large issues with leaks. These issues need to be addressed in order 
to make sure we are providing our employees with an adequate, livable, workspace that 
meets the needs of a modern fire department.  
 
We have also begun to study the feasibility of new investments in our parking and solar 
canopy infrastructure to better help plan for the future in Gardner- in particular in the 
downtown and at our public buildings.  
 
Aside from these goals, we also need to review our processes, procedures, City Code, and 
other documents to see if our operations  are working or if we are getting in our own way of 



 
2024 CITY INAUGURAL EXERCISES 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     MASSACHUSETTS 

progress. We cannot just sit and hope that the way we have always done things is meeting 
the current issues that arise in the here and now, or may arise in the future.  
 
To begin this review, earlier this week, I directed our City Department Heads and the Chairs 
of all of our Boards and Commissions to review our City Ordinance Code - both general and 
zoning - and to submit any changes that could be made to improve the way we operate in the 
City. These changes will first be reviewed by my administration with a final version 
submitted to the City Council as a comprehensive package for consideration later this year.  
 
The work that we’ve done and the successes that we’ve achieved is entirely thanks to the 
amount of collaboration and cooperation that our officials at all levels of government have 
had. I would like to thank the members of my administration, our department heads and 
employees, the members of our City Council, School Committee, our state and federal 
legislative delegation, and all our partners in government for constantly coming together to 
build a community that the people we represent can truly be proud to call their home.  
 
This is how the government should work. Far too often, people view political office as a 
theater for character assassinations, false claims in social media posts, and deliberate 
misrepresentations for political gain and click bait. However, we have not let that get to us 
here. Even in the face of what goes on elsewhere, here in Gardner, when a problem arises, 
we come together, find a solution, and just do what needs to be done.  
 
As we move into this new year, and the next century in our City’s history, I look forward to 
us continuing to work together for what our City needs and setting the example for others to 
follow. It is my true and firm belief, that continuing with that momentum and guided by 
God’s grace we’ll be able to accomplish things beyond what we dreamed of and build a better 
city for it. 
 
God Bless you all, and God Bless this Great City.  
 
Thank you. 

MUSICAL SELECTION 
 

Surround Sound then performed their rendition of Frank Sinatra’s, “America The Beautiful- 
Overlay.”  
 

 
 
 
 



 
2024 CITY INAUGURAL EXERCISES 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     MASSACHUSETTS 

BENEDICTION 
 

Please bow your heads and pray for God's blessing.  Let us remember we are in the 
presence of God. 
Almighty God, we come before you first to praise your name and thank you for 
the opportunity of being here tonight witnessing this beautiful moment in the 
history of the city of Garder. We thank you that we are free and able to choose the 
people who lead our community. Thank you. Thank you for your servant, our 
Mayor Michael Nicholson, who was elected to guide and govern the City of 
Gardner. We ask you Lord to continue to bless him, to bless all the members of the 
City Council, and the School Committee who make a commitment this evening to 
serve this community. Bless and protect our city as we enter in this new beginning. 
May we prosper, being proud of living here. We ask all those things in Jesus' name. 
Amen.  

 

The Benediction was offered by the Reverend Father Thiago Rodrigues Ibiapina, Associate 
Pastor of Annunciation Parish. 
 

 
RECESSION OF OFFICIALS 

 

Officials recessed from the stage accompanied by a Musical Selection of “Trumpet Voluntary.”  
 
Accepted by the City Council:  ________________ 

 
A True Copy, Attest: 

          
 

    Titi Siriphan, City Clerk 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 



11118



11118



11118



11119



11120



11121



11122



11123



11124



11125



11126



11127



11128 



11129



11130



11131



11132



11133



11134



11135



11136



11137



11138



11139



11140



11141



11142



11143



11144



11145



11146



11147



11148



11149



11150



11151



11152



11153



11154



11155



11156



11157



11158



11159



11159



11159



11159



11159



11159



11159



11159



11160



11161



11162



11162



11163



11163



11163



11163



11163



11163



11163



11163



11163



11163



11164



11164



11164



11164



11164



11164



11164



11164



11164



11164



11164



11164



11164



11164



11164



11164



11164



11164



11164



11164



11164



11164



11164



11164



11164



11164



11165



11165



11165



11165



11166



11166



11166



11166



11166



11166



11166



11166



11166



11167



11167



11168



11168



11169



11169



11169



11170



11117



11117



CCIITTYY  ooff  GGAARRDDNNEERR  
OOffffiiccee  ooff  tthhee  CCiittyy  CClleerrkk  

9955  PPlleeaassaanntt  SSttrreeeett,,  RRoooomm  112211  
  GGaarrddnneerr,,  MMAA  0011444400  

**TTeell..  997788--663300--44005588      **FFaaxx::  997788--663300--22558899

TTIITTII  SSIIRRIIPPHHAANN,,  CCiittyy  CClleerrkk  
FFaaiitthh  AA..  GGlloovveerr,,  AAsssstt..  CCiittyy  CClleerrkk    
EElliizzaabbeetthh  DDooiirroonn,,  AAsssstt..  CCiittyy  CClleerrkk  

January 11, 2024 

Hon. Elizabeth J. Kazinskas, President 
And Members of the City Council  
City Hall, 95 Pleasant Street 
Gardner, MA 01440 

Re: Notice of Councillor at Large Vacancy 

Dear President Kazinskas and Members of the City Council: 

I am writing to inform you that a vacancy shall exist in the position of Councillor at Large 
effective on Tuesday, January 2, 2024 at 7:12 p.m.  The impending vacancy is due to the 
resignation of Councillor Carolyn A. Kamuda. 

Consequently, the provisions of Section 32 of the Charter of the City of Gardner state, “if a 
vacancy occurs in the position of councilor at large, the city council shall appoint the person 
who received the seventh highest vote total for the position of councilor at large during the most 
recent municipal election to fill the vacancy for the unexpired term, if the person is willing to 
serve, then to the eighth and so on until a person is appointed.”  

The candidate receiving the seventh highest vote total in the November 7, 2023 City Election 
was Calvin D. Brooks, 147 Elm Street.  I have spoken to Mr. Brooks and he has notified me that 
he will accept the appointment. 

Should you have any questions, please feel free to contact me.  

Sincerely, 

Titi Siriphan 
City Clerk 

11171



11171



11171



CITY OF GARDNER, MASSACHUSETTS

NOVEMBER 7, 2023 CITY ELECTION

Official Results

The following is a result of the votes cast in the various precincts in the City of Gardner at the City Election held on November 7, 2023,

as returned by the Precinct Clerks and tabulated by the City Clerk:

MAYOR 1A 1B 2A 2B 3A 3B 4A 4B 5A 5B TOTAL
BALLOTS CAST 536         228         405         450         334         427         320         253         301         481         3,735            
KIMBERLY ANN BLAKE 137         61           126         144         122         130         108         92           92           177         1,189            
MICHAEL JOSEPH NICHOLSON 381         165         271         291         206         289         204         158         202         292         2,459            
Josh Cormier (Write-in) 2              -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          2                    
Martin Gray (Write-in) -          4              -          -          -          -          -          -          -          4                    
Neil Jansen (Write-in) -          -          -          1              -          -          -          -          -          -          1                    
Dwayne Bouchard (Write-in) -          -          -          1              -          -          -          -          -          -          1                    
Scott Graves (Write-in) -          -          -          1              -          -          -          -          -          -          1                    
Mark Hawke (Write-in) -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          1              -          1                    
April Agnelli (Write-in) -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          1              1                    
Jonathan Teken (Write-in) -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          1              1                    
Anthony Agnelli (Write-in) -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          1              1                    
Gerald St. Hilaire (Write-in) -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          1              1                    
BLANKS 16           2              4              12           6              8              8              3              6              8              73                  

COUNCILLOR AT LARGE 1A 1B 2A 2B 3A 3B 4A 4B 5A 5B TOTAL
BALLOTS CAST 536         228         405         450         334         427         320         253         301         481         3,735            
CAROLYN A. KAMUDA 192         92           177         236         150         196         156         132         138         227         1,696            
GEORGE C. TYROS 302         102         189         201         158         238         144         110         148         226         1,818            
RONALD F. CORMIER 288         97           167         204         150         223         149         108         135         221         1,742            
ELIZABETH J. KAZINSKAS 351         120         246         246         184         220         192         125         162         248         2,094            
BRAD E. HEGLIN 251         75           155         180         120         164         130         99           131         192         1,497            
JUDY A. MACK 291         103         188         212         156         210         156         119         141         231         1,807            
JAMES M. HUNT 153         72           128         149         112         130         102         76           114         161         1,197            
CALVIN D. BROOKS 291         92           187         202         159         164         145         93           117         233         1,683            
CRAIG R. CORMIER 273         104         168         194         157         221         157         110         137         201         1,722            
Brian Andrew (Write-in) -          -          1              -          -          -          -          -          -          -          1                    
Glenn Rediker (Write-in) -          -          -          -          -          1              -          -          -          -          1                    
Katherine Margoles (Write-in) -          -          -          -          -          -          1              -          -          -          1                    
Bruce Chester (Write-in) -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          1              -          1                    
Scott J. Graves (Write-in) -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          1              1                    
BLANKS 824         511         824         876         658         795         588         546         582         945         7,149            

November 7, 2023 City Election Official Results - CERTIFIED Page 1 of 3



CITY OF GARDNER, MASSACHUSETTS

NOVEMBER 7, 2023 CITY ELECTION

Official Results

The following is a result of the votes cast in the various precincts in the City of Gardner at the City Election held on November 7, 2023,

as returned by the Precinct Clerks and tabulated by the City Clerk:

WARD ONE COUNCILLOR 1A 1B 2A 2B 3A 3B 4A 4B 5A 5B TOTAL
BALLOTS CAST 536         228         764                
DAVID R. THIBAULT-MUNOZ 263         92           -          355                
JAMES F. WALLGREN 227         106         333                
Peter Sargent (Write-in) 1              -          1                    
BLANKS 45           30           75                  

WARD TWO COUNCILLOR 1A 1B 2A 2B 3A 3B 4A 4B 5A 5B TOTAL
BALLOTS CAST -          -          405         450         -          -          -          -          -          -          855                
DANA M. HEATH -          -          299         347         -          -          -          -          -          -          646                
John M. Curran (Write-in) -          1              1                    
Guy McDonald (Write-in) -          1              1                    
Val Cormier (Write-in) -          1              1                    
Kylee Caruso (Write-in) -          1              1                    
Ed Perry (Write-in) -          1              1                    
Steve Rockwood (Write-in) -          1              1                    
BLANKS -          -          106         97           -          -          -          -          -          -          203                

WARD THREE COUNCILLOR 1A 1B 2A 2B 3A 3B 4A 4B 5A 5B TOTAL
BALLOTS CAST -          -          -          -          334         427         -          -          -          -          761                
JEFFREY MICHAEL PALMIERI -          -          -          -          139         183         -          -          -          -          322                
PAUL GERARD TASSONE 156         217         373                
Scott Rak (Write-in) 1              -          1                    
Pryore Felse (Write-in) -          1              1                    
BLANKS -          -          -          -          38           26           -          -          -          -          64                  

WARD FOUR COUNCILLOR 1A 1B 2A 2B 3A 3B 4A 4B 5A 5B TOTAL
BALLOTS CAST -          -          -          -          -          -          320         253         -          -          573                
KAREN G. HARDERN 226         195         421                
Mark Monahan (Write-in) 2              -          2                    
Mark Metzger (Write-in) 2              -          2                    
Mark White (Write-in) 1              -          1                    
Tim Horrigan (Write-in) 1              -          1                    
Mike Horrigan (Write-in) 1              -          1                    
Matthew P. Jee (Write-in) -          1              1                    
Tony Hawk (Write-in) -          1              1                    
BLANKS 87           56           143                

November 7, 2023 City Election Official Results - CERTIFIED Page 2 of 3



CITY OF GARDNER, MASSACHUSETTS

NOVEMBER 7, 2023 CITY ELECTION

Official Results

The following is a result of the votes cast in the various precincts in the City of Gardner at the City Election held on November 7, 2023,

as returned by the Precinct Clerks and tabulated by the City Clerk:

WARD FIVE COUNCILLOR 1A 1B 2A 2B 3A 3B 4A 4B 5A 5B TOTAL
BALLOTS CAST 301         481         782                
ALEKSANDER H. DERNALOWICZ 227         350         577                
Daniel Forte (Write-in) -          1              1                    
BLANKS 74           130         204                

SCHOOL COMMITTEE 1A 1B 2A 2B 3A 3B 4A 4B 5A 5B TOTAL
BALLOTS CAST 536         228         405         450         334         427         320         253         301         481         3,735            
JOHN M. LaFRENIERE 215         104         167         193         141         211         147         111         146         228         1,663            
STEPHEN P. SANDOVAL 124         61           100         112         87           92           98           66           78           115         933                
ROBERT  J. SWARTZ 210         83           144         172         145         171         138         82           80           177         1,402            
MARGARET BISSONNETTE 175         62           141         183         127         144         114         101         110         173         1,330            
BRANDON RICHARD HUGHEY 188         64           122         152         100         130         93           72           95           139         1,155            
RACHEL ANN CORMIER 357         129         193         234         162         243         177         129         165         236         2,025            
Jason Carl (Write-in) 1              -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          1                    
Ayesha Coaxum (Write-in) -          -          2              -          -          -          1              -          1              -          4                    
Mark Monahan (Write-in) -          -          -          -          -          -          1              -          -          -          1                    
Joseph R. Lyman II (Write-in) -          -          -          -          -          -          -          1              -          -          1                    
Bruce Chester (Write-in) -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          1              -          1                    
BLANKS 338         181         346         304         240         290         191         197         227         375         2,689            

QUESTION 1 1A 1B 2A 2B 3A 3B 4A 4B 5A 5B TOTAL
BALLOTS CAST 536         228         405         450         334         427         320         253         301         481         3,735            
YES 322         135         212         221         165         226         154         110         146         237         1,928            
NO 138         72           143         179         130         152         119         98           114         175         1,320            
BLANKS 76           21           50           50           39           49           47           45           41           69           487                

NO. OF VOTERS CASTING BALLOTS 536           228           405           450           334           427           320           253           301           481           3,735               

NO. OF REGISTERED VOTERS 1,519        887           1,513        1,548        1,513        1,501        1,371        1,345        1,313        1,562        14,072             

PERCENTAGE OF REGISTERED VOTERS 

CASTING BALLOTS 
35.29% 25.70% 26.77% 29.07% 22.08% 28.45% 23.34% 18.81% 22.92% 30.79% 26.54%

A True Copy, Attest: Titi Siriphan, City Clerk

November 7, 2023 City Election Official Results - CERTIFIED Page 3 of 3



AN ORDINACNE TO AMEND THE CODE OF THE CITY OF GARDNER CHAPTER 600, ENTITLED 
“VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC”, SECTION 24, ENTITLED “PARKING PROHIBITED ON CERTAIN STREETS” 
 
BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GARDNER AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1: Sec�on 24, of Chapter 600 of the Code of the City of Garnder, en�tled “Parking 
Prohibited on Certain Streets” by amended by adding the following 
 
Name of Street  Side   Loca�on 
Comee St   West   En�re Length 
Comee St   East   From Pearl Street southerly for a distance  

of 30 feet 

11086



CITY OF GARDNER POLICE DEPARTMENT 
200 Main Street ֱ• Gardner, Massachusetts 01440 

                                      Emergency-Dial 911 
  Main line: (978) 632-5600 
Fax Line: (978) 630-4027 

 

 

 

TRAFFIC COMMISSION - MEETING MINUTES 

Date: Thursday August 10,2023       Time: 10am 

Location: Community Classroom, GPD 

 

Provided by Dept. Chief of Police Nick Maroni 

 

1. Members in attendance:  Call to Order: 10:03 am by D.C. Nicholas Maroni 

Dane Arnold – Director of DPW 

Rob Oliva – City Engineer 

Josh Cormier – Director of Civil Enforcement 

Craig Cormier – Councilor at large  

 

Member(s) not in attendance- Trevor Beauregard 

 

2. Waive reading / acceptance of meeting minutes from April 24,2023  

 

a. Motion by Dane, 2nd by Rob, All in favor – Unanimous.  

 

3. Rob- updated on flashing school zone signs on Catherine St 

 

a. Future updates to city ordinance to define current school zones. 

 

4. Gardner ale house renting a parking spot on parker St to designate as Pick up parking. 

a. Josh- if allowed would this cause other businesses to ask too. 

b. Dane-not in favor, large parking area behind business and across the street 

c. Nick- limited parking already in the downtown area 

d. Dane motion to not allow pick up parking for all of downtown, Rob 2nd, unanimous vote. 

 

5. Pedestrian traffic concerns with new Tap House going in at Bullnose Park. 

a. Rob- ask Tap house to help enhance crosswalks in area, flashing lights, push button to activate when 

pedestrians cross. Recommends city work with building owner to install flashing lights 

 

6. New School Traffic and speeding on Catherine St.  

a. Dane worked with school on new traffic pattern for drop off and pick up that should cut down on traffic. 

Tabled until start of school to see how it works. 

 

7. Eliminate Parking Spot on Central St near the cross walk at Lake St on the Southwest travel side of Central St so 

pedestrians can be seen by motor vehicles.  

a. Dane motioned, Josh 2nd All in Favor-Unanimous 

b. Forwarded to Public Safety Committee  

 

8. Remove handicap spot in front of 144 Central St and recommend city council to approve new Handicap spots on 

Central St at Monument Park.  

a. Dane motioned, Josh 2nd, all in favor, unanimous. 

b. Forwarded to Public Safety Committee 

c. Let property owner know about removing Handicap spot in front of 144 Central. 

 

11086



9. Eliminate parking spot in front of crosswalk on west bound side of East Broadway at Prospect St so motor vehicles

can see pedestrians in the cross walk.

a. Dane motioned, Rob 2nd all in favor, unanimous.

b. Forwarded to Public Safety Committee.

10. New Business

a. Rob suggested making whole length of westside of Comee St no parking and making no parking 30 ft

from stop sign on east side heading from Pearl St

i. Dane motioned, Josh 2nd all in favor, unanimous will be forwarded to public safety committee.

b. Speeding on Elm St & Lawrence St, request more enforcement with school starting.

c. Craig asked about speeding issues on Chesley St

i. Nick stated Officers did enforcement in that area and we have not received any further complaints.

Conclusion: At 10:56 am Dane made a motion to adjourn the meeting, seconded by Craig 

All in favor - Unanimous 

Next Traffic Committee Meeting Schedule: TBD 

11086

tsiriphan
Highlight

tsiriphan
Highlight

tsiriphan
Highlight



AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF THE CITY OF GARDNER CHAPTER 600, ENTITLED 
“VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC”, SECTION 24, ENTITLED “PARKING PROHIBITED ON CERTAIN STREETS” 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GARDNER AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: Sec�on 24, of Chapter 600 of the Code of the City of Gardner, en�tled “Parking 
Prohibited on Certain Streets” be amended by adding the following 

Name of Street Side Loca�on 
Douglas Rd  South From Coleman Street westerly for a distance 

of 30 feet 

11115



CITY OF GARDNER POLICE DEPARTMENT 
200 Main Street 

Gardner, MA 01440 
Phone (978) 632-5600 

Fax (978) 630-9045 

Eric P. McAvene       Nicholas P. Maroni 
Chief of Police  Deputy Chief of Police 

Date: 12/5/2023 

To Councilor Cormier, Committee Chairman, and members of the Public Safety Committee, 

The Traffic Committee met on November 28,2023 and discussed a few changes and 

recommendations to increase the safety of the City’s roadways. The following are the changes 

and recommendations the Traffic Committee voted on, unanimously (6 of 6) to send to the 

Public Safety Committee for review.  

1. City Ordinance change to §600-24 (Parking prohibited on certain Streets) due to parking

spots being eliminated by new construction around Monument Park.

Name of Street  Side  Location 

Park Street   South  From Cottage Street to Central St 

2. Temporary 60 Day restricted parking trial on the North side of Edgell St to Westford St.

3. Recommended eliminating parking 30 ft southerly side of Douglas Rd.

The commission appreciates your attention to these matters and members can be made available 

if further clarification is needed. Photos of the proposed areas have been attached.  

Respectfully Submitted, 

Nicholas Maroni 

Deputy Chief of Police/ Traffic Committee Commissioner 

CC: Traffic Commission members, City Clerk 

11115



11115



11115



11115



11116



11116



CCIITTYY  ooff  GGAARRDDNNEERR  
OOffffiiccee  ooff  tthhee  CCiittyy  CClleerrkk  

9955  PPlleeaassaanntt  SSttrreeeett,,  RRoooomm  112211  
  GGaarrddnneerr,,  MMAA  0011444400  

**TTeell..  997788--663300--44005588      **FFaaxx::  997788--663300--22558899

CITY OF GARDNER 
NOTICE OF JOINT PUBLIC HEARING 

Pursuant to G.L. 40A, § 5, notice is hereby given that the City Council and Planning Board will 
conduct a Joint Public Hearing on Tuesday, January 16, 2024 at 6:45 P.M. in the City 
Council Chamber, Room 219, City Hall, 95 Pleasant Street, Gardner, to consider amending 
Chapter 675, the Zoning Code of the City of Gardner. The proposed Amendment involves 
changing items: 

11112 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 
thereof, entitled “Zoning,” to Add “Sports Betting” to the Zoning Table of 
Uses. (Submitted by Councillor Dana Heath; In the City Council, 
Referred to Planning Board 12/4/2023, More Time 12/18/2023) 

11113 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 
thereof, entitled “Zoning,” to Amend Section 1070 thereof, entitled, 
“Marijuana Establishments” to Change the Method to Increase the Quota 
Allowed by the Code of the City of Gardner. (Submitted by Councillor 
Dana Heath; In the City Council, Referred to Planning Board 12/4/2023; 
More Time 12/18/2023) 

 Information regarding this amendment is available for viewing in the City Clerk’s Office, the 
Department of Community Development and Planning (DCDP), or on the City’s webpage – 
www.gardner-ma.gov. 

All persons interested in this matter and desire to offer testimony are invited to attend the 
hearing. 

Titi Siriphan 
City Clerk 

11112

http://www.gardner-ma.gov/


11112



AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF THE CITY OF GARDNER, CHAPTER
675 THEREOF, ENTITLED “ZONING,” TO ADD “SPORTS BETTING” TO THE

ZONING TABLE OF USES.

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GARDNER AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1: That Section 2 10(B) of Chapter 675, entitled “Word Usage and Definitions,” be
amended by adding the following definition to its list:

Sports Betting Facility — An entity licensed by the Massachusetts Gaming
Commission under the provisions of Chapter 173 of the Acts of 2022 of the
General Laws to conduct sporting and wagering events.

SECTION 2: That Section 54 of Attachment I of Chapter 675 of the Code of the City of
Gardner, entitled “Zoning- Table of Uses,” be adding the term “Sports Betting Facility” to the
description of use as follows:

54. Indoor amusement, fitness, or recreational place or place of assembly,
provided that the building is so insulated and maintained as to confine noise to
the premises and is located not less than 100 feet from a residential district, or
a sports betting facility.

SECTION 2: That Section 56 of Attachment I of Chapter 675 of the Code of the City of
Gardner, entitled “Zoning- Table of Uses,” be adding the term “Sports Betting Facility” to the
description of use as follows:

56. Public or commercial outdoor amusement or recreation use, or a sports
betting facility, but not including outdoor drive-in movie theater.

SECTION 3: This this ordinance take effect upon passage and publication as required by law.

11112



11112



11112



11112



11112



CCIITTYY  ooff  GGAARRDDNNEERR  
OOffffiiccee  ooff  tthhee  CCiittyy  CClleerrkk  

9955  PPlleeaassaanntt  SSttrreeeett,,  RRoooomm  112211  
  GGaarrddnneerr,,  MMAA  0011444400  

**TTeell..  997788--663300--44005588      **FFaaxx::  997788--663300--22558899

CITY OF GARDNER 
NOTICE OF JOINT PUBLIC HEARING, continued 

Pursuant to G.L. 40A, § 5, notice is hereby given that the City Council and Planning Board will 
conduct a Joint Public Hearing on Monday, April 3, 2023 at 6:30 P.M. in the City Council 
Chamber, Room 219, City Hall, 95 Pleasant Street, Gardner, to consider amending Chapter 675, 
the Zoning Code of the City of Gardner. The proposed Amendment involves changing items: 

• 10891 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 Thereof,
entitled “Zoning,” to Change the Classification of Certain Parcels of Land Along Route
140.

• 10892 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 thereof,
entitled “Zoning,” to add “Sports Betting” to the Zoning Table of Uses.

• 10893 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 thereof,
entitled “Zoning,” to Amend Section 1070 thereof, entitled, “Marijuana Establishments”
to increase the quota allowed by the Code of the City of Gardner

 Information regarding this amendment is available for viewing in the City Clerk’s Office, the 
Department of Community Development and Planning (DCDP), or on the City’s webpage – 
www.gardner-ma.gov. 

All persons interested in this matter and desire to offer testimony are invited to attend the 
hearing. 

Titi Siriphan 
City Clerk 

11112



CCIITTYY  ooff  GGAARRDDNNEERR  

OOffffiiccee  ooff  tthhee  CCiittyy  CClleerrkk  
9955  PPlleeaassaanntt  SSttrreeeett,,  RRoooomm  112211  

  GGaarrddnneerr,,  MMAA  0011444400  

**TTeell..  997788--663300--44005588      **FFaaxx::  997788--663300--22558899

CITY OF GARDNER 

NOTICE OF JOINT PUBLIC HEARING 

Pursuant to G.L. 40A, § 5, notice is hereby given that the City Council and Planning Board will 

conduct a Joint Public Hearing on Monday, March 20, 2023 at 6:30 P.M. in the City Council 

Chamber, Room 219, City Hall, 95 Pleasant Street, Gardner, to consider amending Chapter 675, 

the Zoning Code of the City of Gardner. The proposed Amendment involves changing items: 

• 10891 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 Thereof,

entitled “Zoning,” to Change the Classification of Certain Parcels of Land Along Route

140.

• 10892 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 thereof,

entitled “Zoning,” to add “Sports Betting” to the Zoning Table of Uses.

• 10893 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 thereof,

entitled “Zoning,” to Amend Section 1070 thereof, entitled, “Marijuana Establishments”

to increase the quota allowed by the Code of the City of Gardner

 Information regarding this amendment is available for viewing in the City Clerk’s Office, the 

Department of Community Development and Planning (DCDP), or on the City’s webpage – 

www.gardner-ma.gov. 

All persons interested in this matter and desire to offer testimony are invited to attend the 

hearing. 

Titi Siriphan 

City Clerk 

10892 11112



City of Gardner - Executive Department
Mayor Michael I Nicholson

Hon. Elizabeth J. Kazinskas. Council President
And City Councilors

Gardner City Hall. Rm 121
95 Pleasant St
Gardner, MA 01440

RE: Zoning Ordinance Proposal- Sports Betting Facilities

Dear Madam President and Councilors,

As you are likely aware, on August 10, 2022, former Governor Charlie Baker signed Chapter
173 of the Acts of 2022 into law, legalizing sports betting in the Commonwealth.

This new addition to the General Laws, some parts of which have already taken effect while
others will within the next few months, allows for the opening of new facilities across the
Commonwealth where individuals can gamble and place wagers on sporting games.

Currently. these types of facilities are not governed by our zoning ordinance, as they were not
allowed prior to the passage of this act. The attached ordinance proposal is being presented to
help proEect the City so that we can regulate where facilities like this can go and make sure that
in the event that a facility like this looks to open in Gardner, it locates in a location that fits this
use rather than in a largely residential area that could cause disruptions to a neighborhood.

I believe it is in the best interest of the City to be proactive in this matter in order to make sure
the City has the tools in place before any situations may arise.

Respectfully Submitted,

Michael J. Nicholson
Mayor, City of Gardner

CC:
City Council Public Welfare Committee
Planning Board

February 3, 2023

1089211112



CITY OF GARDNER POLICE DEPARTMENT
200 Main Street

Gardner, Massachusetts 01440
Phone: (918) 632-5600

Fax: (978) 632-9045

Nicholas P. Maroni
Deputy Chief of Police

February 3, 2023

The Honorable Michael J. Nicholson, Mayor
Gardner City Hall
95 Pleasant Street
Gardner, MA 01440

Re: Sports Betting Zoning Ordinance

Dear Mayor,

I have reviewed the proposed addition of the new Sports Betting Ordinance and do not see any issues from the policedepartment. Any proposed facility should have a buffer between any residential zone and this ordinance reflects thenew law.

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me.

Very truly yours,

Eric P. McAvene
Chief of Police

Eric P. McAvene
Chief of Police

1089211112



Feb. 7, 2023

RE: Text Amendment

Dear Mr. Mayor,

City of Gardner
Department of Inspectional Services

115 Pleasant Street, Room 101
Gardner, MA 01440

Tel. (978) 630-4007 Fax: (978) 632-3313

Please accept this letter as my full support for your proposed text amendment to our Zoning Ordinance regarding sports
betting. I believe when new laws are enacted at a state level that a municipalities Zoning must change to reflect the new
law, or be forced to react to a potential problem.

Do not hesitate to contact me should you need any further assistance.

L%Jj%—
Roland Jean
Building Commissioner/Zoning Enforcement Officer
Ciw Hall Annex
115 Pleasant St. RM 101
Gardner, MA 01440
(978) 630 4007
rjeangardner-rna.gov

Mission Statement
To promote the safe and compatible development of the community through fair and consistent enforcement of

building codes and zoning ordinances

1089211112



C
W

f
l
6

C
cc

i 7
G

C
c

G
A

R
D

N
E

R
C

O
D

E

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
of

U
se

S
F

R
I

11
14

2
C

R
3

C
O

M
I

C
O

M
2

I
IN

D
I

1N
02

49
.

R
es

ta
ur

an
t

N
P

SP
N

P
P

P
P

N
P

50
.

R
es

ta
ur

an
t,

fa
st

-f
oo

d,
in

cl
ud

in
g

ap
pu

rt
en

an
t

N
P

N
P

N
P

SP
SP

N
P

N
P

st
ru

ct
ur

es
to

pr
ov

id
e

dr
iv

e-
th

ro
ug

h
or

dr
iv

e-
in

se
rv

ic
es

S
I.

R
es

ta
ur

an
t

se
rv

in
g

fo
od

or
be

ve
ra

ge
s

w
it

h
li

ve
N

P
SP

N
P

SP
P

N
P

N
P

or
m

ec
ha

ni
ca

l
en

le
rt

ai
nm

en
t

52
.

W
ho

le
sa

le
of

fi
ce

or
sh

ow
ro

om
,

w
it

h
st

or
ag

e
N

P
N

P
N

P
P

P
P

P
lim

ite
d_

to
_f

lo
or

_s
am

pl
es

_o
nl

y
53

.
W

ho
le

sa
le

of
fi

ce
or

sh
ow

ro
om

w
it

h
st

or
ag

e
N

P
N

P
N

P
SP

P
P

P
pe

rm
it

te
d_

on
_p

ro
pe

rt
y

54
.

In
do

or
am

us
em

en
t,

fi
tn

es
s,

or
re

cr
ea

ti
on

al
N

P
N

P
N

P
P

P
N

P
N

P
pl

ac
e

or
pl

ac
e

of
as

se
m

bl
y,

pr
ov

id
ed

th
at

th
e

bu
il

di
ng

is
so

in
su

la
te

d
an

d
m

ai
nt

ai
ne

d
as

to
co

nf
in

e
no

is
e

to
th

e
pr

em
is

es
an

d
is

lo
ca

te
d

no
t

le
ss

th
an

10
0

fe
et

fr
om

a
re

si
de

nt
ia

l
di

st
ri

ct
55

.
O

ut
do

or
co

m
m

er
ci

al
cl

ub
s

an
d/

or
re

cr
ea

ti
on

al
N

P
SP

N
P

P
p

N
P

N
P

es
ta

bl
is

hm
en

ts
or

us
e

su
ch

as
sw

im
m

in
g

po
ol

s,
te

nn
is

co
ur

ts
,

sk
i

cl
ub

s,
ca

m
pi

ng
ar

ea
s,

sk
at

in
g

ri
nk

s
or

ot
he

r
co

m
m

er
ci

al
fa

ci
li

ti
es

of
fe

ri
ng

_o
ut

do
or

_r
ec

re
at

io
n

56
.

P
ub

li
c

or
co

m
m

er
ci

al
ou

td
oo

r
am

us
em

en
t

or
N

P
N

P
N

P
N

P
P

P
N

P
re

cr
ea

ti
on

us
e

bu
t

no
t

in
cl

ud
in

g
ou

td
oo

r
dr

iv
e-

in
m

ov
ie

th
ea

te
r

57
.

B
us

st
at

io
n

or
te

rm
in

al
or

ra
il

ro
ad

st
at

io
n

fo
r

N
P

N
P

N
P

P
P

P
N

P
pa

ss
en

ge
rs

58
.

T
ra

ns
po

rt
te

rm
in

al
,

w
ar

eh
ou

se
di

st
ri

bu
ti

on
N

P
N

P
N

P
N

P
N

P
P

P
fa

ci
li

ty
59

.
C

on
tr

ac
ti

ng
bu

si
ne

ss
an

d
co

nt
ra

ct
or

’s
ya

rd
,

N
P

N
P

N
P

N
P

SP
P

N
P

in
cl

ud
in

g_
st

or
ag

e_
in

_t
he

_o
pe

n’

67
5

A
tt

ac
hm

en
t

1:
4

S
up

p
6,

Ju
n

20
19

1089211112



Plo. 5164

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts

The committee of conference on the disagreeing votes of the two branches with reference
to the Senate amendment (striking out all after the enacting clause and inserting in place thereof
the text contained in Senate document numbered 2862) of the House Bill regulating sports
wagering (House, No. 3993), reports recommending passage of the accompanying bill (House,
No. 5164). August 1,2022.

Jerald A. Parisella Michael J. Rodrigues
- Aaron Michlewitz Eric P. Lesser

David K. Muradian Patrick M. O’Connor

I of49

1089211112



FILED ON: 811/2022

I1JLJSF . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . INo. 5164

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts

In the One Hundred and Ninety-Second General Court
(2021—2022)

An Act regulating sports wagering.

Re it enacted by the Senate and House ofRepresentatives in General court assembled, and by tile authority
of the same, asfollon’s:

1 SECTION 1. Section 7 of chapter 4 of the General Laws is hereby amended by striking

2 out clause Tenth, as appearing in the 2020 Official Edition, and inserting in place thereof the

3 following clause:-

4 Tenth, “illegal gaming”, a banking or percentage game played with cards, dice, tiles,

5 dominoes, or an electronic, electrical or mechanical device or machine for money, property,

6 checks, credit or any representative of value, but excluding: (i) a lottery game conducted by the

7 state lottery commission under sections 24, 24A and 27 of chapter 10; (ii) a game conducted

8 under chapter 23K; (iii) sports wagering conducted under chapter 23N; (iv) pari-mumel wagering

9 on horse races under chapters l28A and l28C and greyhound races under said chapter 128C; (v)

10 a game of bingo conducted under chapter 271; (vi) charitable gaming conducted under said

11 chapter 271; and (vii) a fantasy contest conducted under section 1 1M’/2.

12 SECTION 2. Section 7 of chapter 4 of the General Laws is hereby amended by striking

13 out clause Tenth, as inserted by section 1, and inserting in place thereof the following clause:

2 of 49

1089211112



14 Tenth, “Illegal gaming”, a banking or percentage game played with cards, dice, tiles,

15 dominoes, or an electronic, electrical or mechanical device or machine for money, property,

16 checks, credit or any representative of value, but excluding: (i) a lottery game conducted by the

17 state lottery commission under sections 24, 24A and 27 of chapter 10; (ii) a game conducted

18 under chapter 23K; (iii) sports wagering conducted under chapter 23N; (iv) pari-muwel wagering

19 on horse races under chapters l28A and 128C; (v) a game of bingo conducted under chapter 271;

20 and (vi) charitable gaming conducted under said chapter 271.

21 SECTION 3. Chapter 12 of the General Laws is hereby amended by inserting after

22 section 1 IM the following section:-

23 Section 1 1MV2. Notwithstanding sections 24. 24A and 27 of chapter 10, chapter 271 or

24 any other general or special law to the contrary. a person or entity that offers fantasy contests for

25 a cash prize to members of the public may offer a fantasy contest to residents of the

26 commonwealth pursuant to and in accordance with regulations promulgated by the attorney

27 general; provided thrther, for the purposes of section 7 of chapter 4, a fantasy contest shall not be

28 considered illegal gaming. “Fantasy contest” includes any fantasy or simulated game or contest,

29 including, but not limited to, any fantasy or simulated game or contest based on professional

30 sports events in which: (i) the value of all prizes and awards offered to winning participants are

31 established and made known to the participants in advance of the contest; (ii) all winning

32 outcomes reflect the relative knowledge and skill of the participants and shall be determined

33 predominantly by accumulated statistical results of the performance of individuals, including

34 athletes in the ease of sports events; and (iii) no winning outcome is based on the score, point

35 spread, or any performance or performances of any single acwal team or combination of such

3 of49

1089211112



36 teams or solely on any single performance of an individual athlete or player in any single actual

37 event.

38 SECTION 4. Section 4 of chapter 23K of the General Laws, as appearing in the 2020

39 Official Edition, is hereby amended by inserting the following subsection:-

40 (42) regulate and enforce chapter 23N relating to sports wagering.

41 SECTION 5. The General Laws are hereby amended by inserting after chapter 23M the

42 following chapter:-

43 CHAPTER 23N

44 AUTHORIZATION AND REGULATION OF SPORTS WAGERING

45 Section I. This chapter shall be known and maybe cited as the “Massachusetts Sports

46 Wagering Act”.

47 Section 2. Notwithstanding any general or special law to the contrary, the operation of

48 sports wagering and ancillary activities shall be lawftil when conducted in accordance with this

49 chapter and the rules and regulations of the commission.

50 Section 3. As used in this chapter the following words shall, unless the context clearly

51 requires otherwise, have the following meanings:

52 “Adjusted gross fantasy wagering receipts”, the total gross receipts from fantasy contests

53 as defined in section 1 IMI/2 ofchapter 12, less only the total of all cash prizes paid to

54 participants in the fantasy contests; provided, however, that the total of all cash prizes paid to

4 of 49

1089211112



55 participants shall not include the cash equivalent of any merchandise or thing of value awarded

56 as a prize.

57 “Adjusted gross sports wagering receipts”, the total gross receipts from sports wagering

58 less the sum of: (i) the total of all winnings paid to participants; and (ii) all excise taxes paid

59 pursuant to federal law; provided, however, that the total of all winnings paid to participants

60 shall not include the cash equivalent of any merchandise or thing of value awarded as a prize.

61 “Affiliate”, a person who directly or indirectly controls, or is controlled by, or is under

62 common control with, a specified person.

63 “Applicant”, a person who has applied for a license to engage in activity regulated under

64 this chapter.

65 “Breaks”, the odd cents over any multiple of 10 cents of winnings per SI wagered.

66 “Category 1 license”, a license issued by the commission that permits the operation of

67 sports wagering in person at a gaming establishment, as defined in section 2 of chapter 23K, and

68 through not more than 2 individually-branded mobile applications or other digital platforms

69 approved by the commission; provided, that the mobile applications or other digital platforms

70 shaLl be qualified for and issued a category 3 license.

7 1 “Category 2 license”, a license issued by the commission that permits the operation of

72 sports wagering in-person on the premises where either: (1) live horse racing is conducted in

73 accordance with chapter 1 28A or (2) the licensee is authorized by law to conduct simulcast

74 wagering on horse or greyhound racing, and through not more than 1 individually branded

75 mobile application or other digital platform approved by the commission; provided, that the

5 of49

1089211112



76 mobile applications or other digital platforms shall be qualified for and issued a category 3

77 license; provided further, that the commission may issue a category’ 2 license to: (1) a person or

78 entity licensed by the commission in accordance with said chapter l28A to conduct a live horse

79 racing meeting, (2) a running horse racing licensee that conducted simulcast wagering as of

80 December 31, 2020 as authorized by law, or (3) a greyhound meeting licensee that conducted

81 simulcast wagering as of December 31, 2020 as authorized by law; provided further, a category 2

82 licensee shall make a capital investment of not less than $7,500,000 within 3 years after

83 receiving a sports wagering license.

84 “Category 3 license”, a license issued by the commission that permits the operation of

85 sports wagering through a mobile application and other digital platforms approved by the

86 commission.

87 “Close associate”, a person who holds a relevant financial interest in, or is entitled to

88 exercise power in. the business of an applicant or Licensee and, by virtue of that interest or

89 power, is able to exercise a significant influence over the management or operation of a gaming

90 establishment or business licensed under this chapter.

91 “Collegiate sport or athLetic event”, a sport or athletic event offered or sponsored by, or

92 played in connection with, a public or private institution that offers educational services beyond

93 the secondary level.

94 “Collegiate tournament”, a series of collegiate sports or athletic events involving four or

95 more collegiate teams that make up a single unit of competition.

96 “Commission”, the Massachusetts gaming commission established in section 3 of chapter

97 23K.

6 of 49

1089211112



98 “Electronic sports”, a single or multiplayer video game played competitively for

99 spectators

100 “Governmental authority”, any governmental unit of a national, state or local body

101 exercising governmental ftnctions, except the United States government.

102 “License”, any license applied for or issued by the commission under this chapter,

103 including, but not limited to: (i) an operator license or (ü) an occupational license.

104 “National criminal history background check”, a criminal history background check

105 conducted using the criminal history record system maintained by the Federal Bureau of

106 Investigation and based on fingerprint identification or any other method of positive

107 identification.

108 “Occupational license”, a license required to be held by an employee ofan operator when

109 the employee performs duties directly related to the operation of sports wagering in the

110 commonwealth in a supervisory role.

ill “Official league data”, statistics, results, outcomes and other data relating to a sporting

112 event that is obtained pursuant to an agreement with the relevant sports governing body, or with

113 an entity expressly authorized by the relevant sports governing body to provide such data to

114 sports wagering operators, winch authorizes the use of such data for determining the outcome of

115 tier 2 sports wagers on such sporting event.

116 “Operator” or “sports wagering operator”, any entity permitted under this chapter to offer

117 sports wagering to persons in the commonwealth through a category 1 license, category 2 license

118 or category 3 license.

7 of 49

1089211112



11.9 “Operator license”, a category 1 license, category 2 license or category 3 license to

120 operate sports wagering.

121 “Person”, an individual, corporation, association, operation, firm, partnership, trust or

122 other form of business association.

123 “Personal biometric data”, any information about an athlete that is derived from that

124 athlete’s physical or physiological characteristics, including, but not limited to, deoxyribonucleic

125 acid, heart rate, blood pressure, perspiration rate, internal or external body temperature, hormone

126 levels, glucose levels, hydration levels, vitamin levels, bone density, muscle density or sleep

127 patterns.

328 “Players association”, a professional sports association recognized by a sports governing

129 body that represents professional athletes.

130 “Professional sport or athletic event”, an event at which 2 or more persons participate in a

13 1 sport or athletic event and receive compensation in excess of actual expenses for their

1 32 participation in such event.

133 “Promotional gaming credit”, a sports wagering credit or other item issued by an operator

134 to a patron to enable the placement of a sports wager.

135 “Qualified gaming entity”, an entity that: (i) holds a gaming license as defined in section

136 2 of chapter 23K; (ii) (a) is licensed by the commission in accordance with chapter 1 28A to

137 conduct a live horse racing meeting, (b) is a running horse racing licensee that conducted

138 simulcast wagering as of December 31, 2020 as authorized by law or (c) is a greyhound meeting

139 Licensee that conducted simulcast wagering as of December 31, 2020 as authorized by law; or

8 of 49

1089211112



140 (hi) offers an interactive sports wagering platform through a mobile application or other digital

141 platform.

142 “Sports event” or “sporting event”, a professional sport or athletic event, collegiate sport

143 or athletic cvent, a collegiate tournament, motor race event, electronic sports event or other event

144 authorized by the commission under this chapter; provided, however, that “sporting event” shall

145 not include: (i) high school and youth sports or athletic events; or (ii) a collegiate sport or athletic

146 event involving 1 or more collegiate teams from the commonwealth unless they are involved in a

147 collegiate tournament.

148 “Sports governing body”, an organization that is headquartered in the United States and

149 prescribes final rules and enforces codes of conduct with respect to a sporting event and

150 participants therein; provided, however, that, notwithstanding the foregoing, the commission

151 shall adopt regulations to determine the governing body for electronic sports for the purposes of

152 this chapter.

153 “Sports wager”, a wager on a sporting event or a portion of a sporting event.

154 “Sports wagering”, the business of accepting wagers on sporting events or portions of

155 sporting events, other events, the individual performance statistics of athletes in a sporting event

156 or other events or a combination of any of the same by any system or method of wagcring

157 approved by the commission including, but not limited to, mobile applications and other digital

158 platforms; provided, that sports wagering shall not include the acceptance of any wager: (i) with

159 an outcome dependent on the performance of an individual athlete in any collegiate sport or

160 athletic evcnt, including, but not limited, to in-game or in-play wagers; (ii) on a high school or

161 youth sporting event; (iii) on injuries, penalties, player discipline or replay review; and provided

9 of 49

1089211112



162 further, that sports wagering shall not include fantasy contests as defined in section 1 lM½ of

163 chapter 12. Sports wagering shall include, but shall not be limited to, single-game bets, teaser

164 bets, parlays, over-under, moneyline, pools, exchange wagering, in-game wagering, in-play bets,

165 proposition bets and straight bets.

166 “Sports wagering account”, a financial record established by an operator for a patron in

167 which the patron may deposit by any method approved by the commission and withdraw finds

168 for sports wagering and other authorized purchases and to which the operator may credit

169 winnings or other amounts due to or authorized by that patron; provided, however, that such

170 account may be established and funded by the patron electronically through an approved mobile

171 application or digital platform; and provided further, that a deposit into a sports wagering

172 account shall not be made using a credit card.

I 73 “Tier I sports wager”, a sports wager that is determined solely by the final score or

174 outcome of a sporting event and is placed before the sporting event has begun.

175 “Tier 2 sports wager”, a sports wager that is not a tier 1 sports wager.

176 “Wager”, a sum of money or thing of value risked on an uncertain occurrence.

177 Section 4. (a) The commission shall regulate the conduct of sports wagering under this

178 chapter.

179 (b) The commission shall promulgate rules and regulations necessary for the

180 implementation, administration and enforcement of this chapter. The commission may

181 promulgate emergency rules and regulations in accordance with applicable procedures for the

182 promulgation of emergency rules and regulations.

10 of 49

1089211112



183 (c) The commission shall promulgate regulations to prohibit: (i) the purchase or other use

184 of any personal biometric data of an athlete for sports wagering or aiding a patron in placing a

185 wager with sports wagering operators; and (ii) the following advertising, marketing and branding

186 activities: (A) advertisements, marketing and branding in such a manner that it is deceptive,

187 false, misleading, or untrue, or tends to deceive or crcate a misleading impression whether

188 directly, or by ambiguity or omission; (B) use of unsolicited pop-up advertisements on the

189 internet or by text message directed to an individual on the list of self-excluded persons

190 established pursuant to paragraph (2) of subsection (e) of section 13; (C) any form of advertising,

191 marketing or branding that the commission deems unacceptable or disruptive to the viewer

192 experience at a sports event; (D) advertising, marketing and branding deemed to appeal directly

193 to a person younger than 21 years old; and (E) advertising on any billboards, or any other public

194 signagc, which fails to comply with any federal, state or local law.

195 (d)(1) The commission may promulgate rules and regulations including, but not limited

196 to, those governing the acceptance of wagers on a sports event, other event or a series of sports

197 events; types of wagering receipts which may be used; methods of issuing receipts; methods of

198 accounting to be used by operators; types of records to be kept; types of systems for wagering;

199 and any other sports wagering-related issues.

200 (2) The commission shall promulgate rules and regulations regarding protections for

201 patrons placing wagers and the promotion of social responsibility and responsible gaming that

202 shall include, but not be limited to, a requirement that an operator: (i) implement responsible

203 gaming programs that include comprehensive employee trainings on responding to

204 circumstances in which individuals present signs of gambling addiction; (ii) assess, prevent and

205 address problem gaming by an operator’s consumers; (iii) permit a consumer to permanently

II of49

1089211112



206 close an account registcrcd to the consumer on any or all platforms owncd or operated by the

207 operator at any time and for any reason; (iv) offer consumers access to their account history and

208 account details; (v) refrain from making claims as to a consumer’s winnings or money earned

209 that is not net of wagers placed; (vi) allow a consumer to withdraw funds without further

210 solicitation or promotion in the manner in which the finds were deposited; (vii) annually submit

211 a problem gaming plan for approval by the commission, in consultation with the department of

212 public health, that includes the objectives of and timetables for implementing the plan,

213 identification of the persons responsibLe for implementing and maintaining the plan, procedures

214 for identifying consumers with suspected or known problem gaming behavior, procedures for

215 providing information to consumers concerning problem gaming identification and resources,

21 6 procedures to prevent gaming by minors and self-excluded persons and any other information the

217 commission may require; and (viii) shall not offer or provide a line of credit to any consumer.

218 (3) The commission shall promulgate regulations that require mobile applications and

219 digital platforms authorized for sports wagering to prominently display upon each entry into the

220 application or platform the telephone number and website for a problem gambling hotline

221 overseen by the department of public health.

222 (e) The commission shall: (i) determine the eligibility of a person to hold or continue to

223 hold a license; (ii) issue all licenses; and (iii) maintain a record of all licenses issued under this

224 chapter.

225 (fl The commission shall levy and collect all fees, surcharges, civil penalties and taxes on

226 adjusted gross sports wagering receipts imposed by this chapter, except as otherwise provided

227 under this chapter.

12 of49

1089211112



228 (g) The commission shall have the authority to enforce this chapter and any rule or

229 regulation of the commission and may request that the attorney general bring an action to enforce

230 this chapter or any rule or regulation of the commission by civil action or petition for injunctive

23 1 relief

232 (h) The commission may hold hearings, administer oaths and issue subpoenas or

233 subpoenas duces tecum in order to enforce this chapter and the rules and regulations of the

234 commission.

235 (i) The commission may exercise any other powers necessary to effectuate this chapter

236 and the rules and regulations of the commission.

237 Section 5. (a) A person shall not engage in any activity in connection with sports

238 wagering in the commonwealth unless all required licenses have been obtained in accordance

239 with this chapter and the rules and regulations of the commission.

240 (b) The commission shall not grant an operator license until it determines that each

241 person who has control of the applicant meets all qualifications for licensure. For the purposes of

242 this chapter, the following shall be considered to have control of an applicant: (i) a person who

243 owns 10 per cent or more of a corporate applicant and who has the ability to control the activities

244 of the corporate applicant; provided, however, that a bank or other licensed lending institution

245 that holds a mortgage or other lien acquired in the ordinary course of business shall not be

246 considered to have control of an applicant; (ii) a person who holds a beneficial or proprietary

247 interest of 10 per cent or more of a non-corporate applicant’s business operation and who has the

248 ability to control the activities of the non-corporate applicant; and (iii) at the commission’s

13 of 49

1089211112



249 discretion, an executive, employee or agent having the power to exercise significant influence

250 over decisions concerning the applicant’s sports wagering operations in the commonwealth.

251 (c) A person having control of an applicant pursuant to subsection (b) shall submit to the

252 commission an application in a form determined by the commission. Each such person who is a

253 natural person shall also submit to the commission: (i) fingerprints for a national criminal records

254 check by the department of state police and the Federal Bureau of Investigation; and (ii) a signed

255 authorization for the release of the person’s information by the department of state police and the

256 Federal Bureau of Investigation; provided, however, that a person having control of an applicant

257 who is a natural person that has submitted to a national criminal records check in any jurisdiction

258 within the previous year shall not be required to submit to another national criminal records

259 check if such person submits to the commission the results of such previous national criminal

260 records check. Any applicant convicted of any disqualifying offense, as determined by the

261 commission, shall not be licensed.

262 (d) Each person licensed under this chapter shall give the commission written notice not

263 more than 30 days after any change to any material information provided in the application for a

264 license or renewal.

265 (e) A commission employee shall not be an applicant for any license issued under this

266 chapter.

267 Section 6. (a) A licensed qualified gaming entity may operate sports wagering upon the

268 approval of the commission.

269 (b)(l) The commission shall issue a category 1 license to any holder of a gaming license,

270 as defined in section 2 of chapter 23K, that meets the requirements of this chapter and the rules

14 of 49

1089211112



271 and regulations of the commission; provided, however, that any holder of a category 1 license

272 shall not be issued a category 2 license.

273 (2) The commission shall issue a category 2 license to: (i) any holder of a license to

274 conduct a live horse racing meeting in accordance with chapter 28A; (ii) a mnning horse racing

275 licensee that conducted simulcast wagering as of December31, 2020 as authorized by law; or

276 (iii) a greyhound meeting licensee that conducted simulcast wagering as of December31, 2020

277 as authorized by law; that meets the requirements of this chapter and the mles and regulations of

278 the commission; provided, however, that any holder of a category 2 license shall not be issued a

279 category I license; and provided further, that no more than I category 2 license shall be issued to

280 any I person, entity, or affiliate or close associate of such person or entity.

281 (3) The commission may issue a category 3 license to any entity that offers sports

282 wagering through a mobile application or other digital platform that meets the requirements of

283 this chapter and the rules and regulations of the commission; provided, however, the commission

284 shall issue no more than 7 category 3 licenses that are not connected to a category I or category

285 2 license.

286 (4) A category I or category 2 licensee may enter into agreements related to mobile or

287 digital sports wagering with a category 3 licensee pursuant to the approval of the commission.

288 Nothing in this chapter shall require a category 3 licensee to partner with or have any

289 commercial relationship with a category 1 or 2 licensee.

290 (c)(l) A qualified gaming entity may submit to the commission a request for a temporary

291 license for the immediate commencement of sports wagering operations. Such request shall

292 include an initial licensing fee of $1,000,000 payable to the commission.

15 of49

1089211112



293 (2) Upon receiving a request for a temporary license, the executive director of the

294 commission shall review the request. If the executive director determines that the entity

295 requesting the temporary license is a qualified gaming entity and has paid the sports wagering

296 initial licensing fee pursuant to paragraph (1), the commission shall authorize the qualified

297 gaming entity to conduct sports wagering for a period of 1 year under a temporary license or

298 until a final determination on its operator license application is made.

299 (3) All sports wagering conducted under authority of a temporary license shall comply

300 with the house rules adopted under section 10.

301 (d) Prior to issuing an operator license, the commission shall commence an investigation

302 into the suitability of the applicant. The commission may use information obtained from the

303 applicant pursuant to chapter 23K, chapter 128A, chapter U8C, or information from other

304 jurisdictions where the applicant is authorized to conduct sports wagering. In evaluating the

305 suitability of the applicant, the commission shall consider the overall reputation of the applicant

306 including, but not limited to: (i) the integrity, honesty, good character and reputation of the

307 applicant; (ii) the financial stability, integrity and background of the applicant; (iii) the business

308 practices and the business ability of the applicant to establish and maintain a successthl sports

309 wagering operation; (iv) whether the applicant has a history of compliance with gaming or sports

310 wagering licensing requirements in other jurisdictions; (v) whether the applicant, at the time of

311 application, is a defendant in litigation involving its business practices; and (vi) the suitability of

312 all parties in interest to the license, including affiliates and close associates, and the financial

313 resources of the applicant.

16 of 49

1089211112



314 (e) The commission may deny an application, if the commission determines during its

315 investigation that an applicant has failed to: (i) establish the applicant’s integrity or the integrity

316 of any affiliate, close associate, financial rcsources or any person required to be qualified by the

317 commission; (ii) demonstrate responsible business practices in any jurisdiction; or (iii) overcome

318 any other reason, as determined by the commission, as to why it would be injurious to the

319 interests of the commonwealth to award the applicant an operator license.

320 (t) Upon application by a qualified gaming entity that is not denied pursuant to subsection

321 (e) and payment ofa $5,000,000 licensing fee, the commission shall grant an operator license to

322 a qualified gaming entity that provides the right to conduct spoils wagering; provided, that the

323 qualified gaming entity shall meet the requirements for licensure under this chapter and the rules

324 and regulations of the commission. Such license shall be issued for a 5-year period, and may be

325 renewed for 5-year periods upon payment of a $5,000,000 renewal fee; provided, that the

326 operator shall continue to meet all requirements under this chapter and the rules and regulations

327 of the commission. The commission shall credit any initial licensing fee paid pursuant to

328 paragraph (1) of subsection (c) to a successful applicant for an operator license against the

329 licensing fee due under this subsection.

330 (g) An operator shall submit to the commission such documentation or information as the

331 commission may require to demonstrate that the operator continues to meet the requirements of

332 this chapter and the rules and regulations of the commission. An operator shall submit required

333 documentation or information no later than 5 years after issuance of its operator license and

334 every 5 years thereafter, or within lesser periods based on circumstances specified by the

335 commission.

17 of 49

1089211112



336 (h) No licensee shall transfer an operator license, or any direct or indirect interest in the

337 license, without tLe majority approval of the commission. A person seeking to acquire such

338 license through a transfer shall qualify and otherwise be determined by the commission to be

339 eligible for licensure under this chapter. The commission may reject a proposed license transfer

340 or a proposed transfer of interest in the license to an unsuitable person and may reject a proposed

341 transfer that, in the determination of the commission, would be injurious to the interests of the

342 commonwealth. The commission may promulgate regulations governing this process which may

343 incLude assessment of a fee to reflect the cost associated with reviewing the proposed transfer.

344 (i) Applications for operator licenses shall be public records under section 10 of chapter

345 66; provided however, that trade secrets, competitively-sensitive or other proprietary information

346 provided in the course of an application for an operator license under this chapter, the disclosure

347 of which would place the applicant at a competitive disadvantage, may be withheld from

348 disclosure under said section 10 of said chapter 66.

349 Section 7. (a) An applicant for an operator license shall pay to the commission a

350 nonrefundable processing fee of $200,000 for the costs associated with the processing of the

351 application and investigation of the applicant; provided, however, that if the costs of the

352 investigation exceed the initial application fee, the applicant shall pay the additional amount to

353 the commission not more than 30 days after notification of insufficient fees or the application

354 shall be rejected.

355 (b) All fees in this section shall be deposited into the Sports Wagering Control Fund

356 established in section 14.

18 of 49

1089211112



357 Section 8. Section 8. (a) All persons employed by an operator to perform duties directly

358 related to the operation of sports wagering in the commonwealth in a supen’isoiy role shall

359 maintain a valid occupational license issued by the commission. The commission shall issue such

360 occupational license to a person who meets the requirements of this section.

361 (b) An occupational license authorizes the licensee to be employed in the capacity

362 designated by the commission while the license is active. The commission may establish, by Me

363 or regulation, job classifications with different requirements based on the extent to which a

364 particular job impacts, or has the potential to impact, the lawftil operation of sports wagering.

365 (e) An applicant for an occupational license shall submit any required application forms

366 established by the commission and shall pay a nonrefiandable application fee ofSlOO. An

367 employer may pay an application fee on behalf of an applicant.

368 (d) Not later than March 1 of the third calendar year following the issuance or renewal of

369 an occupational license, an occupational license holder shall pay a nonreffindable license renewal

370 fee of$ 100 and submit a renewal application on a form established by the commission. An

371 employer may pay the license renewal fee on behalf of the licensed employee.

372 Section 9. Section 9. (a) The commission may deny a license to any applicant, reprimand

373 any licensee or suspend or revoke a license if the applicant or licensee: (i) has knowingly made a

374 false statement of a material fact to the commission; (ii) has had a license revoked by any

375 governmental authority’ responsible for regulation of gaming activities; (iii) has been convicted

376 of a felony or other crime involving embezzlement, theft, fraud, perjury, or a gambling-related

377 offense; (iv) has not demonstrated to the satisfaction of the commission financial responsibility

378 sufficient to adequately meet the requirements of the proposed enterprise; (v) has affiliates or

19 of 49

1089211112



379 close associates that would not qualify for a license or whose relationship with the applicant may

380 pose an injurious threat to the interests of the commonwealth in awarding an operator license to

381 the applicant; or (vi) in the case of an operator or an applicant for an operator license, is not the

382 Ewe owner of the business or is not the sole owner and has not disclosed the existence or identity

383 of other persons who have an ownership interest in the business.

384 (b) The commission may deny, suspend or revoke an operator license or reprimand any

385 licensee if the applicant or licensee has not met the requirements of this chapter.

386 Section 10. (a) An operator shall adopt comprehensive house rules for game play

387 governing sports wagering transactions with the operator’s patrons. The house rules shall specify

388 the amounts to be paid on winning wagers and the effect of sports event schedule changes. An

389 operator shall not conduct sports wagering until the commission has approved the house rules

390 and an operator shall not conduct sports wagering in a manner inconsistent with approved house

391 rules.

392 (b) The house rules, together with any other information the commission deems

393 appropriate, shall be accessible to any patrons of the sports wagering operator. The operator shall

394 make copies readily available to patrons and shall post the house rules as required by the

395 commission, including on a prominent place on the operator’s public website and mobile

396 application or other digital platform.

397 Section 11. (a) An operator shall employ commercially reasonable methods to: (i)

398 prohibit the operator, directors, officers, owners and employees of the operator and any relative

399 living in the same household as any such person from placing bets with the operator; (ii) prohibit

400 athletes, coaches, referees, team owners, employees of a sports governing body or its member

20 of 49

1089211112



401 teams and player and referee union personnel from wagering on any sporting event of their

402 sport’s governing body; provided, however, that the operator shall use lists of such persons that a

403 sports governing body may provide to the commission to determine which persons are excluded

404 from placing wagers under this subsection; and provided ftirther, that the commission may use

405 the list of barred employees from the operator and may work directly with a member team to

406 determine the risk posed by certain employees for obtaining nonpublic confidential information

407 on a sporting event and may remove an employee without knowledge of team strategy or game

408 operations from such a list if the commission determines any such risk is de minimis; (iii)

409 prohibit any individual with access to nonpublic confidential information held by the operator

410 from placing wagers with the operator; (iv) prohibit persons from placing wagers as agents or

411 proxies for others; and (v) maintain the security of wagering data, customer data and other

412 confidential information from unauthorized access and dissemination; provided, however, that

413 nothing in this chapter shall preclude the use of internet or cloud-based hosting of such data and

414 information or disclosure as required by court order, other law or this chapter; and provided

415 ffirther, that such data and information shall be hosted in the United States.

416 (b) A sports governing body or players association representing athletes who participate

417 in sporting events of the sports governing body may submit to the commission, in writing, by

4 18 providing notice in a form and manner as the commission may require, a request to restrict, limit

419 or exclude a certain type, form or category of sports wagering with respect to sporting events of

420 the sports governing body, if the sports governing body or players association believes that such

421 type, form or category of sports wagering with respect to sporting events of the sports governing

422 body: (i) is contrary to public policy; (ii) unfair to consumers; (iii) may undermine the perceived

423 integrity of the sports governing body, sporting events of the sports governing body or the

21 of49

1089211112



424 aihletes participating therein; or (iv) affects the integrity of the sports governing body or sporting

425 events of the sports governing body or the athletes participating therein.

426 The commission shall request comment from operators on all such requests. After giving

427 due consideration to all comments received, the commission shall, upon a demonstration of good

428 cause from the requestor, grant the request. The commission shall respond to a request

429 concerning a particular event before the start of the event or, if it is not feasible to respond before

430 the start of the event, not later than 7 days after the request is made; provided, however, that if

431 the commission determines that the requestor is more likely than not to prevail in successftilly

432 demonstrating good cause for its request, the commission may provisionally grant the request

433 until the commission makes a final determination as to whether the requestor has demonstrated

434 good cause. Absent a provisional grant by the commission, an operator may continue to offer

435 sports wagering on sporting events that are the subject of a request during the pendency of the

436 consideration of the applicable request.

437 (c) The commission shall designate a state law enforcement entity to have primary

438 responsibility for conducting, or assisting the commission in conducting, investigations into

439 abnormal betting activity, match fixing and other conduct that corrupts a betting outcome of a

440 sporting event for purposes of financial gain.

441 (d) The commission and operators shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate

442 with investigations conducted by sports governing bodies or law enforcement agencies,

443 including, but not limited to, using commercially reasonable efforts to provide or facilitate the

444 provision of anonymized account-level betting information and audio or video files relating to

445 persons placing wagers. All disclosures under this section are subject to the obligation of an

22 of 49

1089211112



446 operator to comply with all federal, state and local laws and regulations, including, but not

447 limited to, laws and regulations relating to privacy and personally identifiable information.

448 (e) An operator shall immediately report to the commission any information relating to:

449 (i) criminaL or disciplinary proceedings commenced against the operator in connection with its

450 operations; (ii) abnormal betting activity or patterns that may indicate a concern with the

451 integrity ofa sporting event; (iii) any potential breach of the internal rules and codes of conduct

452 pertaining to sports wagering of a relevant sports governing body; (iv) any other conduct that

453 corrupts a betting outcome of a sporting event for purposes of financial gain, including, but not

454 limited to, match fixing; or (v) suspicious or illegal wagering activities, including, but not limited

455 to: (A) use of funds derived from illegal activity; (B) wagers to conceal or launder funds derived

456 from illegal activity; (C) use of agents to place wagers; and (D) use of false identification. An

457 operator shall immediately report information relating to conduct described in clauses (H), (Hi)

458 and (iv) of this subsection to the relevant sports governing body.

459 (f) The commission and operators shall maintain the confidentiality of information

460 provided by a sports governing body for purposes of investigating or preventing the conduct

461 described in clauses (H), (iii) and (iv) of subsection (e), unless disclosure is required by this

462 chapter, the commission, other law or court order or unless the sports governing body consents to

463 disclosure.

464 (g) With respect to any information provided by an operator to a sports governing body

465 relating to conduct described in clauses (H), (Hi) and (iv) of subsection (e), a sports governing

466 body shall: (I) only use such information for integrity purposes and shall not use the information

467 for any commercial or other purpose; and (ii) maintain the confidentiality of such information,

23 of49

1089211112



468 unless disclosure is required by this chapter, the commission, other law or court order or unless

469 the operator consents to disclosure; provided, however, that the sports governing body may make

470 any disclosure necessary to conduct and resolve integrity-related investigations and may publicly

471 disclose such information if required by its integrity policies or if deemed by the sports

472 governing body in its reasonable judgment to be necessary to maintain the actual or perceived

473 integrity of its sporting events, and subject in all cases to the sports governing body’s compliance

474 with federal, state and local laws and regulations, including, but not limited to, laws and

475 reguLations relating to privacy and personally identifiable information; and provided further, that

476 prior to any such public disclosure that would identify the operator by name, the sports

477 governing body shall provide the operator with notice of such disclosure and an opportunity to

478 object to such disclosure.

479 (h) An operator shall maintain records of all wagers placed by its patrons, including: (i)

480 personally identifiable information of a patron who places a sports wager through a mobile

481 appLication or other digital platform or a patron who places an in-person sports wager that

482 exceeds an amount determined by the commission; (H) amount and type of the bet; (Hi) the time

483 the bet was placed; (iv) the location of the bet, including the Internet Protocol address if

484 applicable; (v) the outcome of the bet; and (vi) records of abnormal betting activity for 3 years

485 after a sporting event occurs and video camera recordings in the case of in-person wagers for at

486 least I year after a sporting event occurs. An operator shall make these records available for

487 inspection upon request of the commission or as required by court order.

488 (i) An operator shall use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain, in real time and at

489 the account level, anonymized information for each patron, including: (i) the amount and type of

490 bet; (ii) the time the bet was placed; (iii) the location of the bet, including the Internet Protocol

24 of49

1089211112



491 address if applicable; (iv) the outcome of the bet; and (v) records of abnormal betting activity.

492 The commission may request the information in the form and manner as it requires. Nothing in

493 this section shall require an operator to provide any information prohibited by federal, state or

494 local laws or regulations, including, but not limited to, laws and regulations relating to privacy

495 and personally identifiable information.

496 (j) If a sports governing body has notified the commission and demonstrated a need for

497 access to the information described in subsection (i) for wagers placed on sporting events of the

498 sports governing body for integrity monitoring purposes and demonstrated the capability to use

499 the data for the purpose of effectively monitoring the integrity of sporting events of the sports

500 governing body, an operator shall share, in a commercially reasonable frequency, form and

501 manner, with the sports governing body or its designee the same information the operator is

502 required to maintain pursuant to said subsection (i) with respect to sports wagers on sporting

503 events of the sports governing body. A sports governing body and its designee shall only use

504 information received pursuant to this section for integrity-monitoring purposes and shall not use

505 information received pursuant to this section for any commercial or other purpose. Nothing in

506 this section shall require an operator to provide any infornrntion that is prohibited by federal,

507 state or local law or regulation, including, but not limited to, laws and regulations relating to

508 privacy and personally identifiable information.

509 (k)(I) An operator shall conduct a background check on each newly hired employee.

510 Background checks shall search for criminal history, charges or convictions involving corruption

511 or manipulation of sporting events and association with organized crime.

25 of49

1089211112



512 (2) An operator shall conduct a single background check on any employee hired before

513 the operator was issued an operator license. Background checks shall search for criminal history,

514 charges or convictions involving corruption or manipulation of sporting events and association

515 with organized crime.

516 Section 12. (a) An operator shall: (i) employ a monitoring system utilizing software to

517 identi1i irregularities in volume or changes in odds that could signal suspicious activities and

518 promptly report such information to the commission for ftirther investigation; provided,

519 however, that system requirements and specifications shall be developed according to industry

520 standards and implemented by the commission as part of the minimum internaL control

521 standards; (ii) promptly report to the commission any facts or circumstances related to the

522 operation of a sports wagering license that constitute a violation of state or federal law and

523 promptly report to the appropriate state or federal authorities any suspicious betting over a

524 threshold set by the operator that has been approved by the commission; (iii) conduct all sports

525 wagering activities and functions in a manner that does not pose a threat to the public health,

526 safety or welfare of the residents of the commonwealth; (iv) keep current in all payments and

527 ohligations to the commission; (v) prevent any person from tampering or interfering with the

528 operation of any sports wagering; (vi) ensure that mobile sports wagering occurs only using a

529 commission-approved mobile application or other digital platform to accept wagers initiated

530 within the commonwealth; (vii) maintain sufficient cash and other supplies to conduct sports

531 wagering at all times; (viii) maintain daily records showing the gross sports wagering receipts

532 and adjusted gross sports wagering receipts of the operator from sports wagering; (ix) timely file

533 with the commission any additional reports required by this chapter or by any rule or regulation;

26 of49

1089211112



534 and (x) use commercially reasonable efforts to prevent a person under 21 years old from placing

535 a wager.

536 (b) Sports wagering operators may use any data source for determining:

537 (1) the results of any and all tier 1 sports wagers on any and all sporting events; and

538 (2) the results of any and all tier 2 sports wagers on sporting events of an organization

539 that is not headquartered in the United States.

540 (c) A sports governing body may notify the commission that it desires sports wagering

541 operators to use official league data to settle tier 2 sports wagers on sporting events of such

542 sports governing body. The notification shall be made in the form and manner as the commission

543 may require. Within 5 days of receipt of the notification, the commission shall notify each sports

544 wagering operator of the requirement to use official league data to settle tier 2 sports wagers. If a

545 sports governing body does not notify the commission of its desire to supply official league data,

546 a sports wagering operator may use any data source for determining the results of any and all tier

547 2 sports wagers on sporting events of the sports governing body.

548 (d) Within 60 days of the commission noti/ing a sport wagering operator of the

549 requirement to use official league data to settle tier 2 sports wagers pursuant to subsection (c), or

550 such longer period as may be agreed between the sports governing body and the applicable

551 sports wagering operator, a sports wagering operator shall use only official league data to

552 determine the results of tier 2 sports wagers on sporting events of that sports governing body,

553 unlcss:

27 of 49

1089211112



554 (1) the sports governing body or its designee cannot provide a feed of official league data

555 to determine the results of a particular type of tier 2 sports wager, in which case a sports

556 wagering operator may use any data source for determining the results of the applicable tier 2

557 sports wager until such time a data feed becomes available from the sports governing body on

558 commercially reasonable tents and conditions; or

559 (2) a sports wagering operator can demonstrate to the commission that the sports

560 governing body or its designee will not provide a feed of official league data to the sports

561 wagering operator on commercially reasonable terms and conditions.

562 (e) In evaluating whether official league data is offered on commercially reasonable

563 tents and conditions for purposes of paragraphs (1) and (2) of subsection (d), the commission

564 may consider factors, including, but not limited to:

565 (1) the availability’ of official league data to a sports wagering operator from more than 1

566 authorized source;

567 (2) market information, including, but not limited to, price and other terms and conditions

568 regarding the purchase by sports wagering operators of comparable data for the purpose of

569 settling sports wagers in the commonwealth and otherjurisdictions;

570 (3) the nature and quantity of data, including the quality and complexity of the process

571 used for collecting the data; and

572 (4) the extent to which a sports governing body or its designee has made data used to

573 settle her 2 wagers available to sports wagering operators and any tents and conditions relating

574 to the use of that data.

28 of49

1089211112



575 (0 Notwithstanding subsection (d) or any provision of this subsection to the contrary,

576 during the pendency of the determination of the commission as to whether a sports governing

577 body or its designee may provide official league data on commercially reasonable terms, a sports

578 wagering operator may use any data source to determine the results of tier 2 sports wagers. The

579 determination shall be made within 120 days of the sports wagering operator notifñng the

580 commission that it requests to demonstrate that the sports governing body or its designee will not

581 provide a feed of official league data to the sports wagering operator on commercially reasonable

582 terms.

583 (g) A sports governing body may enter into commercial agreements with a sports

584 wagering operator or other entity in which such sports governing body may share in the amount

585 wagered or revenues derived from sports wagering on sporting events of the sports governing

586 body. A sports governing body shall not be required to obtain a license or any other approval

587 from the commission to lawflñly accept such amounts or revenues.

588 Section 13. (a) Holders of category I and category 2 licenses may accept wagers on

589 sports events and other events authorized pursuant to this chapter in person at authorized

590 facilities.

591 (b) Holders of an operator license may accept wagers on sports events and other events

592 authorized pursuant to this chapter from individuals physically located within the commonwealth

593 using mobile applications or digital platforms approved by the commission, through the patron’s

594 sports wagering account. The branding for each mobile application or digital platform shall be

595 determined by the operator. All bets authorized pursuant to this section must be initiated,

596 received and otherwise made within the commonwealth. Consistent with the intent of the federal

29 of49

1089211112



597 Unlawful Internet Gambling Enforcement Act of 2006,31 U.S.C. section 5361 to 5367,

598 inclusive, the intermediate routing of electronic data related to a lawful intrastate wager

599 authorized pursuant to this chapter shall not determine the location or locations in which the

600 wager is initiated, received or otherwise made.

601 (c) An operator may: (I) accept wagers placed by other operators and (ii) place wagers

602 with other operators; provided, that any operator that places a wager with another operator shall

603 inform the operator accepting the wager that the wager is being placed by an operator and shall

604 disclose the operator’s identity.

605 (d) An operator shall not accept: (i) a wager from a person who is less than 21 years of

606 age; or (ii) a credit card.

607 (e)(1) The commission or operator may ban any person from participating in the play or

608 operation of any sports wagering consistent with rules and regulations promulgated by the

609 commission. A list of all excluded patrons shall be kept by the commission and provided to each

610 licensee. No patron on the exclusion list shall be permitted to conduct sports wagering pursuant

611 to this chapter.

612 (2) The commission shall establish a list of self-excluded persons from spoils wagering.

613 A person may request their name to be placed on the list of self-excluded persons by filing a

614 statement with the commission acknowledging that they are a problem gambler and by agreeing

615 that, during any period of voluntary exclusion, they shall not collect any winnings or recover any

616 losses resulting from any sports wagering. The commission shall adopt further regulations for the

617 self-excluded persons list including procedures for placement, removal and transmittal of the list

618 to sports wagering operators. The commission may revoke, limit, condition, suspend or fine a

30 of49

1089211112



619 sports wagering operator if the operator knowingly or recklessly fails to exclude or eject from its

620 premises any person placed on the list of self-excluded persons. The list of self-excluded persons

621 from sports wagering shall not be open to public inspection.

622 (3) An operator that operates sports wagering through a mobile application or other

623 digital platform may allow patrons to set self-imposed limitations on sports wagering when the

624 patron joins the mobile application or digital platform.

625 (f) No employee may place a sports wager at any facility or through any mobile

626 application or digital platform owned or operated by their employer.

627 (g) Sections 24, 24A and 27 of chapter 10 of the General Laws shall not apply to an

628 operator conducting sports wagering in accordance with this chapter.

629 (h) Unclaimed winning sports wagers shall be retained by the operator for the person

630 entitled to the wager for 1 year after the game or event in which the wager was won. If no claim

631 is made for the wager within 1 year, the cash or equivalent cash value of the wager shall be

632 deposited in the Sports Wagering Control Fund established in section 15.

633 Section 14. (a) An excise is hereby imposed upon sports wagering operators in the

634 commonwealth at the rate of: (i) 15 per cent of the operator’s adjusted gross sports wagering

635 receipts from the operation of in-person sports wagering; (ii) 20 per cent of the operator’s

636 adjusted gross sports wagering receipts from the operation of sports wagering through mobile

637 applications and other digital platforms approved by the commission; and (iii) IS per cent of the

638 adjusted gross fantasy wagering receipts of a person or entity that offers fantasy contests, as

639 defined in section 11 MW The accrual method of accounting shall be used for purposes of

31 of49

1089211112



640 calculating the amount of the tax owed by the licensee. The excise shall be paid to the

641 commission at the time provided for filing the return pursuant to subsection (b).

642 (b)(1) The excise imposed and collected pursuant to subsection (a) shall be due

643 and payable to the commission in monthly installments on or before the fifteenth calendar day

644 following the calendar month in which the adjusted gross sports wagering receipts were received.

645 (2) On or before the fifteenth calendar day of each month, the operator shall complete and

646 submit the return for the preceding month by electronic communication to the commission in a

647 form prescribed by the commission that provides:

648 (i) the total gross sports wagering receipts and adjusted gross sports wagering receipts

649 from operation of sports wagering during that month;

650 (ii) the total gross fantasy wagering receipts and adjusted gross fantasy wagering receipts

651 from the offering of fantasy contests, as defined in section 1 IMV2 of chapter 12, during that

652 month;

653 (iii) the tax amount for which an operator or a person or entity that offers fantasy

654 contests, as defined in said section I IM’/2 of said chapter 12, is liable; and

655 (iv) any additional information necessary in the computation and collection of the tax on

656 adjusted gross sports wagering receipts and adjusted gross fantasy wagering receipts required by

657 the commission.

658 (3) The excise amount shown to be due shall be remitted by electronic funds transfer

659 simultaneously with the filing of the return.

32 of49

1089211112



660 (4) When an operator’s adjusted gross sports wagering receipts for a month is a negative

661 number because the winnings paid to wagerers and excise taxes paid pursuant to federal law

662 exceed the operator’s total gross receipts from sports wagering, the commission shall allow the

663 operator to carry over the negative amount to returns filed for subsequent months. The negative

664 amount of adjusted gross sports wagering receipts shall not be carried back to an earlier month

665 and taxes previously received by the commission shall not be refunded unless the operator

666 surrenders its license and the operator’s last return reported negative adjusted gross sports

667 wagering receipts.

668 (c) The excise on adjusted gross sports wagering receipts imposed by this section shall be

669 in lieu of all other state and local taxes and fees imposed on the operation of, or the proceeds

670 from operation of, sports wagering.

671 (d) Annually, not later than July 1, the commission shall publish on its website a report

672 stating the amount in fees, surcharges and civil penalties received from operators and taxes

673 received from operators and from people or entities that offer fantasy contests, as defined in

674 section 1 IM’/2 of chapter 12.

675 Section 15. (a) There shall be established and set up on the books of the commonwealth a

676 separate fund to be known as the Sports Wagering Control Fund. The commission shall be the

677 trustee of the fund and shall expend money to finance the operational activities of the

678 commission pertaining to sports wagering. The fund shall be credited with: (i) any appropriation,

679 bond proceeds or other monies authorized by the general court and specifically designated to be

680 credited thereto; (ii) the proceeds of any fees collected pursuant to this section unless otherwise

681 specified; (iii) fees collected pursuant to sections 7 and 8; (iv) breaks; and (v) such additional

33 of49

1089211112



682 funds as are subject to the direction and control of the commission. All available money in the

683 fund that is unexpended at the end of each fiscal year shall not revert to the General Fund and

684 shall be available for expenditure in the subsequent fiscal year.

685 (b) The commission shall establish fees for any investigation into a violation of this

686 chapter or regulation promulgated hereunder by a sports wagering operator to be paid by the

687 sports wagering operator including, but not limited to, billable hours by commission staff

688 involved in the investigation and the costs of services, equipment or other expenses that are

689 incurred by the commission during the investigation.

690 (c) Any remaining costs of the commission necessary to maintain regulatory control over

691 sports wagering operators that are not covered by: (1) the fees set forth in subsection (b); (H) any

692 other fees assessed pursuant to this chapter; or (Hi) any other designated sources of funding, shalt

693 be annually assessed on sports wagering operators pursuant to this chapter in proportion to each

694 operator’s share of the commonwealth’s total adjusted gross sports wagering receipts. Each

695 operator shall pay the amount assessed against the operator not more than 30 days after the date

696 of the notice of assessment from the commission.

697 (d) If the fees collected pursuant to subsections (b) and (c) exceed the cost required to

698 maintain regulatory control, the surplus ftinds shall be credited in proportional shares against

699 each sports wagering operator’s next assessment.

700 (e) The commission shall annually assess and collect a $1,000,000 fee in shares to be

701 determined by the commission against each sports wagering operator that is not a category 1 or

702 category 2 gaming licensee, as defined in section 2 of chapter 23K. The fee collected pursuant to

703 this subsection shall be deposited into the Public Health Trust Fund established in section 58 of

34 of49

1089211112



704 said chapter 23K and shall be used for the costs of services and public health programs provided

705 for in said section 58 of said chapter 23K.

706 Section 16. (a) The commission may assess a civil administrative penalty on an operator

707 who fails to comply with any provision of this chapter, house rules or any regulation or order

708 adopted by the commission; provided, however, that the noncompliance shall have occurred afier

709 the commission has given such operator written notice of the noncompliance and the time stated

710 in the notice for coming into compliance has elapsed; provided further, that the commission may

711 assess a penalty without providing written notice if the failure to comply: (I) was part of a pattern

712 of noncompliance and not an isolated instance; (H) was wiflffil or neglectful and not the result of

713 error; (iii) resulted in a significant breach to the integrity of the operator or the sports wagering

714 laws of the commonwealth; or (iv) consisted of failure to promptly report to the commission any

715 knowledge of evidence or circumstances that would cause a reasonable person to believe that a

716 violation of this chapter has been committed. The civil administrative penalty shall be in addition

717 to any other civil penalty that may be prescribed by law.

718 (b) For the purpose of determining whether such noncompliance was part of a pattern of

719 noncompliance and not an isolated instance, the commission shall consider, but not be limited to;

720 (i) whether the commission had previously notified the operator of such noncompliance on more

721 than I occasion during the previous month or of any noncompliance with the same provision of a

722 law, regulation, order, license or approval as the current noncompliance during the previous 6-

723 month period; or (H) whether the current and previous instances of noncompliance, considered

724 together, indicate a potential threat to the integrity of the operator and sports wagering in the

725 commonwealth or an interference with the commission’s ability to efficiently and effectively

726 regulate sports wagering in the commonwealth and enforce any regulation, license or order. If an

35 of49

1089211112



727 operator that has received a notice of noncompliance fails to come into compliance within the

728 time period stated in the notice, the civil administrative penalty may be assessed by the

729 commission upon the operator from the date of receipt of such notice.

730 (c) If the commission seeks to assess a civil administrative penalty on an operator, the

731 commission shall cause to be sewed upon the operator, by service in hand or by certified mail,

732 return receipt requested, a written notice of its intent to assess a civil administrative penalty that

733 shall include: (i) a concise statement of the alleged act or omission for which such civil

734 administrative penalty is sought to be assessed; (ii) each law, regulation, order, license or

735 approval that has not been complied with as a result of such alleged act or omission; (iii) the

736 amount that the commission seeks to assess as a civil administrative penalty for each alleged act

737 or omission; (iv) a statement of the operator’s right to an adjudicatory hearing on the proposed

738 assessment; (v) the requirements the operator shall comply with to avoid being deemed to have

739 waived the right to an adjudicatory hearing; and (vi) the manner of payment thereof if the

740 operator elects to pay the penalty’ and waive an adjudicatory hearing. After written notice of

741 noncompliance or intent to assess a civil administrative penalty has been given, each day

742 thereafter during which noncompliance occurs or continues shall constitute a separate offense

743 and shall be subject to a separate civil administrative penalty if reasonable efforts have not been

744 made by the operator to promptly come into compliance.

745 (d) If the commission seeks to assess a civil administrative penalty on an operator, the

746 operator shall have the right to an adjudicatory hearing under chapter 30A, the provisions of

747 which shall apply except when they are inconsistent with the provisions of this chapter.

36 of49

1089211112



748 (e) An operator shall be deemed to have waived its right to an adjudicatory hearing

749 unless, not more than 21 days after the date of the commission’s notice that the commission

750 seeks to assess a civil administrative penalty, the operator files with the commission a written

751 statement denying the occurrence of any of the acts or omissions alleged by the commission in

752 the notice or asserting that the amount of the proposed civil administrative penalty is excessive.

753 In an adjudicatory hearing authorized under chapter 30A, the commission shall be required to

754 prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, the occurrence of each act or omission alleged by the

755 commission in the notice.

756 (f) If an operator waives the right to an adjudicatory hearing, the proposed civil

757 administrative penalty shall be final immediately upon such waiver. If a civil administrative

758 penalty is assessed at the conclusion of an adjudicatory hearing, the civil administrative penalty

759 shall be final upon the expiration of30 days unless an action for judicial review of the decision is

760 commenced under chapter 30A.

761 (g) An operator who institutes proceedings forjudicial review of the final assessment of a

762 civil administrative penalty shall place the Ml amount of the final assessment in an interest-

763 bearing escrow account in the custody of the clerk or magistrate of the reviewing court. The

764 establishment of an interest-bearing escrow account shall be a condition precedent to the

765 jurisdiction of the reviewing court unless the party seeking judicial review demonstrates, in a

766 preliminary hearing held not more than 20 days after the filing of the complaint, the presence of

767 a substantial question for review by the court or the operator’s inability to pay. Upon such a

768 demonstration, the court may grant an extension or waiver of the interest-bearing escrow account

769 requirement or may require, in lieu of such interest-bearing escrow account, the posting ofa

37 of 49

1089211112



770 bond payable directly to the commonwealth in the amount of 125 per cent of the assessed

771 penalty.

772 If, afterjudicial review, in a case where the escrow account requirement has been waived,

773 and in cases where a bond has been posted in lieu of such requirement, the court affirms, in

774 whole or in part, the assessment ofa civil administrative penalty, the commission shall be paid

775 the amount thereof together with interest at the rate provided in section 6C of chapter 231. If,

776 afterjudicial review in a case where an interest-bearing escrow account has been established, the

777 court affirms the assessment of such penalty, in whole or in part, the commission shall be paid

778 the amount thereof together with the accumulated interest in the interest-bearing escrow account.

779 If the court sets aside the assessment of a civil administrative penalty in a case where the amount

780 of such penalty has been deposited in an interest-bearing escrow account, the operator on whom

781 [he civil administrative penalty was assessed shall be repaid the amount so set aside, together

782 with the accumulated interest thereon.

783 (h) Each operator who fails to timely pay a civil administrative penalty and each operator

784 who issues a bond under this section and fails to timely pay to the commission the amount

785 required for the bond, shall be liable to Ehe commonwealth for up to 3 times the amount of the

786 civil administrative penalty, together with costs, plus interest accrued from the time the civil

787 administrative penalty became final and attorneys’ fees, including all costs and attorneys fees

788 incurred directly in the collection of the penalty. The rate of interest shall be the rate provided in

789 section 6C of chapter 231. The commission may require that the amount of a civil administrative

790 penalty imposed under this section exceed any economic benefit realized by a person.

38 of 49

1089211112



791 (1) The commission may impose conditions on, suspend or revoke an operator’s license or

792 reprimand or assess a fine on an operator upon a finding that the operator: (i) has committed a

793 criminal or civil offense under this chapter or under any other law; (ii) is not in compliance with

794 sports wagering regulations promulgated pursuant to this chapter; (iii) is under criminal

795 investigation in another jurisdiction; (iv) has breached a condition of licensure; (v) has affiliates,

796 close associates or employees that are not qualified or licensed under this chapter with whom the

797 operator continues to conduct business or employ; (vi) is no longer capable of maintaining

798 operations as a sports wagering operator; or (vii) whose business practice, upon a determination

799 by the commission, is injurious to the policy objectives of this chapter.

800 Section 17. There shall be established and set up on the books of the commonwealth a

801 Sports Wagering Fund which shall receive revenues collected pursuant to sections 6 and 14. The

802 commission shall be the trustee of the hind and shall transfer monies from the hind as follows:

803 (1) 45 per cent to the General Fund;

804 (2) 17.5 per cent to the Workforce Investment Trust Fund established in section 18;

805 (3) 27.5 per cent to the Gaming Local Aid Fund established in section 63 of section 23K;

806 (4) 1 per cent to the Youth Development and Achievement Fund established in section

807 19; and

808 (5)9 per cent to the Public Health Trust Fund established in section 58 of section 23K.

809 Section 18. (a) There is hereby established and set up on the books of the commonwealth

810 a separate hind to be known as the Workforce Investment Trust Fund. There shall be credited to

811 the hind any sports wagering revenue transferred from the Sports Wagering Fund pursuant to

39 of49

1089211112



812 section 16. Monies transferred to the hind shall be continuously expended, without regard for

813 fiscal year, exclusively for carrying out the purposes of this section. Money remaining in the

814 fund at the end of a fiscal year shall not revert to the General Fund.

815 (b) The fund shall be administered by the secretary of housing and economic

816 development. Money in the hind shall be competitively granted to develop and strengthen

817 workforce opportunities for low-income communities and vulnerable youth and young adults in

818 the commonwealth, including providing opportunities and strategies to promote stable

819 employment and wage growth.

820 (c) Eligible grant recipients shall provide opportunities which: (i) target at risk youth,

821 including resources to empower youth to succeed in ihe workforce; (ii) provide job skills

822 trainings, including programs offering trainings in multiple languages and areas for development,

823 including education and hands on skills; (iii) promote adult literacy, including strategies to

824 master reading and writing and providing digital formats to increase accessibility; and (iv)

825 provide English language learning programs to promote access to the workforce. The secretary

826 of housing and economic development shall establish criteria to evaluate applications for the

827 grant program; provided, that the criteria shall include, but shall not be limited to, at risk

828 populations; provided further, that preference shall be given to eligible grant recipients providing

829 opportunities for individuals who meet at least 2 of the following: (i) is under 30 years of age;

830 (ii) is a victim of violence; (iii) is over 18 years of age and does not have a high school diploma;

831 (iv) has been convicted of a felony; (v) has been unemployed or has had a family income below

832 250 per cent of the federal poverty level for not less than 6 months; (vi) lives in a census tract

833 where over 20 per cent of the populations fall below the federal poverty line; or (vii) is an

834 immigrant, refugee or person of color.

40 of49

1089211112



835 (d) Annually, not later than October 1, the secretary of housing and economic

836 development shall provide a report of the grants given and a breakdown of expenditures made by

837 the fund. The report shall be posted on the website of the executive office of housing and

838 economic development.

839 Section 18. There shall be established and set upon the books of the commonwealth a

840 hind to be known as the Youth Development and Achievement Fund. The hind shall be credited

841 any monies transferred from the Sports Wagering Fund pursuant to section 16 and all monies

842 credited to or transferred to the hind from any other hind or source. Expenditures from the hind

843 shall be subject to appropriation and shall be expended equally for the following purposes:

844 (1) For the purposes of providing financial assistance to students from the commonwealth

845 enrolled in and pursuing a program of higher education in any approved public or independent

846 college, university, school of nursing or any other approved institution furnishing a program of

847 higher education;

848 (2) For the purposes of funding after-school and out-of-school activities, including, but

849 not Limited to, youth athletics and other activities that improve student health, literacy programs,

850 English language learning programs, academic tutoring, art, theater and music programs and

851 community service programs; and

852 (3) For the purposes of providing matching grants to elementary and secondary youth

853 sports, organizations, clubs and other school groups to attend events including, but not limited to,

854 academic events and programs, cultural events and award ceremonies both nationally and

855 internationally.

41 of49

1089211112



856 Section 20. The commission shall conduct a study into the feasibility of allowing retail

857 locations in the commonwealth to operate sports wagering kiosks. The study by the commission

858 shall include, but not bc limited to, an analysis of: (i) the economic impact of this chapter on

859 retail establishments that serve alcoholic beverages for on premises consumption, such as

860 restaurants and bars; (ii) which retail locations have the ability to operate a sports wagering

861 kiosk; (iii) the economic impact to the commonwealth of authorizing retail locations to operate a

862 sports wagering kiosk; (iv) the methods and availability of payouts of winnings by a sports

863 wagering kiosks at retail locations; (v) the public health and safety impacts to the commonwealth

864 of authorizing retail locations to operate a sports wagering kiosk; (vi) the potential effect of

865 sports wagering kiosks at retail locations on problem gaming or gambling; (vii) the impact of

866 sports wagering kiosks at retail locations on minors; (viii) the economic impact of authorizing

867 this method of sports wagering on businesses owned by people of color; (ix) the public health

868 and economic impact of this method of sports wagering as an alternative to the current black

869 market, particularly in communities far from authorized in-person sports wagering; and (x)

870 recommendations to ensure diversity, equity and inclusion are included in this method of sports

871 wagering. As part of the study, the commission shall consult retailers, convenience stores,

872 restaurants, women and minority owned businesses and small business owners. The commission

873 shall report on its findings and submit any recommendations to the clerks of the house and

874 senate, the house and senate committees on ways and means, the joint committee on consumer

875 protection and professional licensure and the joint committee on economic development and

876 emerging technologies no later than December 31, 2022.

877 Section 21. (a) The commission may impose on any person who violates this chapter a

878 civil penalty not to exceed $2,000 for each violation or $5,000 for violations arising from the

42 of 49

1089211112



879 same series of events. Such penalty shall be imposed on all persons and is not limited to persons

880 licensed under this chapter.

881 (b) The commission may condition, suspend, reprimand, assess a fine or revoke an

882 operator license upon a finding that a licensee: (i) has committed a criminal or civil offense

883 under this chapter or under any other laws of the commonwealth; (ii) is not in compliance with

884 sports wagering regulations; (iii) is under criminal investigation in another jurisdiction; (iv) has

885 breached a condition of licensure; (v) has affiliates, close associates or employees that are not

886 qualified or licensed under this chapter with whom the licensee continues to conduct business or

887 employ; (vi) is no longer capable of maintaining operations as a sports wagering operator or data

888 supplier; or (vii) whose business practice, upon a determination by the commission,

889 is injurious to the policy objectives of this chapter.

890 Section 21. (a) Whoever, other than an operator under this chapter, engages in accepting,

891 facilitating or operating a sports wagering operation shall be punished by imprisonment in the

892 house of correction for not more than 90 days or by a fine not to exceed $10,000, or both; and for

893 a second offense, by imprisonment in the house of correction for not more than 6 nionths or by a

894 fine of not more than $50,000, or both; and in the case of a third or subsequent violation by

895 imprisonment in the state prison for not less than 1 but not more than 5 years or by a fine of not

896 less than $25,000 and not more than $100,000, or both.

897 Section 22. An operator shall not discharge, demote, suspend, threaten, harass or in any

898 other manner discriminate against an employee because of any lawful act done by the employee

899 to provide information, cause information to be provided or otherwise assist in an investigation

43 of49

1089211112



900 regarding any conduct that the employee reasonably believes constitutes a violation of this

901 chapter.

902 Section 23. (a) The commission shall develop an annual research agenda in order to

903 understand the social and economic effects of sports wagering in the commonwealth and to

904 obtain scientific information relative to the neuroscience, psychology, sociology, epidemiology

905 and etiology of sports wagering. The secretary of health and human services, with the advice and

906 consent of the commission, may expend funds from the Public Health Trust fund established in

907 section 58 of chapter 23K to implement the objectives of the sports wagering research agenda;

908 provided, however, that the objectives of the sports wagering research agenda shall, to the extent

909 practicable, be substantially similar to the objectives of the research agenda established under

910 section 71 of said chapter 23K. The sports wagering research agenda shall also include, but not

911 be limited to: (i) an assessment of whether problem sports wagering is comorbid with problem

912 gambling; (ii) an assessment as to whether the individuals participating in sports wagering are

913 different than those who participate in other forms of gaming or gambling; (iii) an assessment of

914 the impact of sports wagering on youth under the age of 25; (iv) an assessment of the impacts of

91 5 sports wagering on college athletics and professional sports; and (v) the costs of implementing

916 this chapter.

917 (b) Annually, the commission shall make scientifically-based recommendations that

918 reflect the results of the research under clause (a) to the clerks of the senate and house of

919 representatives, the senate and house committees on ways and means, the joint committee on

920 economic development and emerging technologies, the joint committee on mental health,

921 substance use and recovery and the joint committee on public health. The commission shall

922 consider any such recommendations, research and findings in all decisions related to enhancing

44 of 49

1089211112



923 responsible gambling and mitigating problem sports wagering. The recommendations shall be

924 posted on the commission’s website.

925 SECTION 6. Chapter 128C of the General Laws is hereby amended by inserting the

926 following new section:

927 Section 9. Notwithstanding sections 1 to 8, inclusive, or any other general or special law

928 to the contrary, no racing meeting licensee, including licensees holding racing meetings in

929 connection with a state or county fair as defined in section 1 of chapter l2XA, shalt simulcast or

930 accept a wager on greyhound dog racing, and a running horse racing meeting licensee shall

931 conduct not less than 20 live racing days at a thoroughbred horse racing track, provided, the

932 commission may waive this requirement as necessary and appropriate to ensure the financial

933 ability of the licensee to develop and operate a race track.

934 SECTION 7. Section 1 ofchapter 137 of the General Laws, as appearing in the 2018

935 Official Edition, is hereby amended by inserting after the figure “23K”, in line 3, the following

936 words:- or sports wagering conducted pursuant to chapter 23N.

937 SECTION 8. Section 2 of said chapter 137, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

938 inserting after the figure “23K”, in line 3, the following words:- or an operator who offers sports

939 wagering pursuant to chapter 23N.

940 SECTION 9. Section 3 of said chapter 137, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

941 inserting after the figure “23K”, in line 7, the following words:- or sports wagering conducted

942 pursuant to chapter 23N.

45 of49

1089211112



943 SECTION 10. Section 1 of chapter 271 of the General Laws, as so appearing, is hereby

944 amended by striking out, in line 4, the words “chapter 23K” and inserting in place thereof the

945 following words:- chapters 23K and 23N.

946 SECTION 11. Section 2 of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

947 striking out, in line 4, the words “chapter 23K” and inserting in place thereof the following

948 words:- chapters 23K and 23N.

949 SECTION 12. Section 3 of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

950 striking out, in line 1, the words “chapter 23K” and inserting in place thereof the following

951 words:- chapters 23K and 23N.

952 SECTION 13. Section 5 of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

953 striking out, in line I, the words “chapter 23K” and inserting in place thereof the following

954 words:- chapters 23K and 23N.

955 SECTION 14. Section 5A of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is further amended by

956 inserting after the words “chapter 23K”, in line 32, the following words:- or sports wagering

957 conducted pursuant to chapter 23N.

958 SECTION 15. Section SB of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

959 striking out, in line 58, the words “chapter 23K” and inserting in place thereof the following

960 words:- chapters 23K and 23N.

961 SECTTON 16. Section 8 of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

962 striking out, in lines 10 to 11. the words “other game of chance that is not being conducted in a

963 gaming establishment licensed under chapter 23K” and inserting in place thereof the following

46 of 49

1089211112



964 words:- other game that is not being conducted pursuant to chapter 23K and any other sports

965 wagering that is not being conducted pursuant to chapter 23N.

966 SECTION 17. Section 17 of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

967 inserting after the words “chapter 23K”, in line 27, the following words:- or for the purpose of

968 sports wagering conducted in accordance with chapter 23N.

969 SECTION 18. Said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby further amended by striking

970 out section 17A and inserting in place thereof the following section:-

971 Section 1 7A. Except as permitted under chapter 23N, whoever uses a telephone, internet

972 or other communications technology or, being the occupant in control of premises where a

973 telephone, internet or other communications technology is located or a subscriber for such

974 communications technology, knowingly permits another to use a telephone, internet or other

975 communications technology so located or for which such person subscribes, as the case may be,

976 for the purpose of accepting wagers or bets, or buying or selling of pools, or for placing all or

977 any portion of a wager with another, upon the result of a trial or contest of skill, speed or

978 endurance of man, beast, bird or machine, or upon the result of an athletic game or contest, or

979 upon the lottery called the numbers game, or for the purpose of reporting the same to a

980 headquarters or booking office, or who under another name or otherwise falsely or fictitiously

981 procures telephone, internet or other communications technology service for oneself or another

982 for such purposes, shall be punished by a tine of not more than S2,000 or by imprisonment for

983 not more than 1 year; provided, however, that this section shall not apply to use of telephones or

984 other devices or means to place wagers authorized pursuant to the provisions of section SC of

985 chapter l2SA.

47 of49

1089211112



986 SECTION 19. Section 19 of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

987 inserting after the words “chapter 23K”, in line 19, the following words:- and shall not apply to

988 advertising of sports wagering conducted pursuant to chapter 23N.

989 SECTION 20. Section 20 of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

990 adding the following sentence:- Nothing in this section shall prohibit an operator licensed under

991 chapter 23N from posting, advertising or displaying materials relevant to its sports wagering

992 operations.

993 SECTION 21. Section 23 of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

994 inserting after the words “chapter 23K”, in line 31, the following words:- and shall not apply to

995 sports wagering conducted pursuant to chapter 23N.

996 SECTION 22. Section 27 of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

997 inserting after the word “thereto”, in line 15, the following words:- ; provided, however, that

998 such provisions shall not apply to sports wagering conducting pursuant to chapter 23N.

999 SECTION 23. Section 28 of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

1000 inserting after the word “prescribed”, in line 12, the following words:- provided, however, that

1001 such provisions shall not apply to sports wagering conducted pursuant to chapter 23N.

1002 SECTION 24. Section 42 of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

1003 inserting after the word “both”, in line 4, the following words:- ; provided, however, that such

1004 provisions shall not apply to sports wagering conducted pursuant to chapter 23N.

1005 SECTION 25. The Massachusetts gaming commission shall conduct a study on the

1006 participation by minority business enterprises, women business enterprises and veteran business

48 of 49

1089211112



1007 enterprises in the sports wagering industry in the commonwealth. The study shall include, but not

1008 be limited to, an analysis of: (i) participation in activities related to the regulation, licensing and

1009 promotion of sports wagering operators; (ii) the level of participation of women, minority and

1010 veteran employees working for sports wagering licensees and employers; (iii) the level of

loll participation by minority-owned and women-owned businesses that contract with or provide

1012 services to sports wagering licensees and employers; (iv) any barriers to employment of women

1013 and minorities in the sports wagering industry; and (v) methods for increasing racial and gender

1014 diversity in the workforce in the sports wagering industry, including whether to set reasonable

1015 and appropriate goals and procedures for increasing the number of minority business enterprises

1016 providing sports wagering industry-related services to sports wagering licensees and employers.

1017 The commission shall report on its findings and submit any recommendations to the clerks of the

1018 senate and house of representatives, the house and senate committees on ways and means, the

1019 joint committee on racial equity, civil rights, and inclusion and the joint committee on economic

1020 development and emerging technologies not later than December31, 2022.

1021 SECTION 26. Section 135 of chapter 219 of the acts of 2016 is hereby repealed.

1022 SECTION 27. Sections 2 and 6 shall take effect I year after the effective date of this act.

49 of49

1089211112



11112



AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF THE CITY OF GARDNER, CHAPTER
675 THEREOF, ENTITLED “ZONING,” TO AMEND SECTION 1070 THEREOF,
ENTITLED, “MARIJUANA ESTABLISHMENTS” TO INCREASE THE QUOTE

ALLOWED BY THE CODE OF THE CITY OF GARDNER.

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GARDNER AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1: Subsection (C)(8)(b) of Section 1070 of Chapter 675 of the Code of the City of
Gardner be amended by replacing “20%” with “35%” as follows:

b) The number of marijuana retail establishments shall not exceed 35% of liquor
licenses issued for retail sale of alcohol not consumed on the premises in the City
of Gardner, said number to be rounded up to the next whole number;

SECTION 2: That this ordinance take effect upon passage and publication as required by law.

11112



11112



City of Gardner · Executive Department

Mayor Michael J. Nicholson 

March 29, 2023 

Hon. Elizabeth J. Kazinskas, Council President 
And City Councilors 

Gardner City Hall, Rm 121 
95 Pleasant St 
Gardner, MA 01440 

Mr. Mark Schafron, Chair 
And Planning Board Members 

Gardner City Hall, Manca Annex, Rm 201 
115 Pleasant St 
Gardner, MA 01440 

RE: Written Testimony: Item #10893: An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 
675 thereof, entitled "Zoning," to amend Section 1070 thereof, entitled "Marijuana Establishments" to 
increase the quota allowed by the Code of the City of Gardner 

Dear Madam President, Councilors, Mr. Chairman, and Planning Board Members, 

I am writing in support of the aforementioned zoning amendment proposal. 

When the retail sale of cannabis products was legalized in the Commonwealth in 2019, several 
municipalities, including Gardner, took steps to heavily regulate the industry since we didn't really know 
what would happen once the cannabis industry became legalized. 

Since then we have seen that commercial enterprises like these do not cause as much of a strain on our 
services as we had originally been concerned about and have not been a public safety concern at all for us. 

This proposal seeks to loosen the market constraints in the City and simply let the economic market be 
the market. If the City does not have the capability of handling more up to four (4) retain cannabis stores, 
then the market will correct itself for that. 

An example of this can be seen with the regular tobacco/vape smoke shops that used to exist in the 
Downtown area. These businesses, unregulated in terms of number of facilities that could open in the 
City, were not marketed by the City and simply opened and then consolidated from five (5) to one (1) on 
their own because that was all the market was able to carry. 

The purpose of this amendment, while it also provides a financial benefit to the City through statutorily 
required sales tax and host community agreement fees, is simply to relax some of the regulations placed 
on this industry and let the City's economy play itself out. This does still regulate the retail cannabis 
industry to four (4) locations, but it at least looses the restriction of only being able to allow two (2) 
locations in the City. 

Respectfully, 

�� 
Michael J. Nicholson 
Mayor, City of Gardner 

11112



CCIITTYY  ooff  GGAARRDDNNEERR  
OOffffiiccee  ooff  tthhee  CCiittyy  CClleerrkk  

9955  PPlleeaassaanntt  SSttrreeeett,,  RRoooomm  112211  
  GGaarrddnneerr,,  MMAA  0011444400  

**TTeell..  997788--663300--44005588      **FFaaxx::  997788--663300--22558899

CITY OF GARDNER 
NOTICE OF JOINT PUBLIC HEARING, continued 

Pursuant to G.L. 40A, § 5, notice is hereby given that the City Council and Planning Board will 
conduct a Joint Public Hearing on Monday, April 3, 2023 at 6:30 P.M. in the City Council 
Chamber, Room 219, City Hall, 95 Pleasant Street, Gardner, to consider amending Chapter 675, 
the Zoning Code of the City of Gardner. The proposed Amendment involves changing items: 

• 10891 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 Thereof,
entitled “Zoning,” to Change the Classification of Certain Parcels of Land Along Route
140.

• 10892 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 thereof,
entitled “Zoning,” to add “Sports Betting” to the Zoning Table of Uses.

• 10893 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 thereof,
entitled “Zoning,” to Amend Section 1070 thereof, entitled, “Marijuana Establishments”
to increase the quota allowed by the Code of the City of Gardner

 Information regarding this amendment is available for viewing in the City Clerk’s Office, the 
Department of Community Development and Planning (DCDP), or on the City’s webpage – 
www.gardner-ma.gov. 

All persons interested in this matter and desire to offer testimony are invited to attend the 
hearing. 

Titi Siriphan 
City Clerk 

1089311112



 
        

CCIITTYY  ooff  GGAARRDDNNEERR  

OOffffiiccee  ooff  tthhee  CCiittyy  CClleerrkk  
9955  PPlleeaassaanntt  SSttrreeeett,,  RRoooomm  112211  

              GGaarrddnneerr,,  MMAA  0011444400  

**TTeell..  997788--663300--44005588      **FFaaxx::  997788--663300--22558899  
 
 

 

  

CITY OF GARDNER 

NOTICE OF JOINT PUBLIC HEARING 

 

 

Pursuant to G.L. 40A, § 5, notice is hereby given that the City Council and Planning Board will 

conduct a Joint Public Hearing on Monday, March 20, 2023 at 6:30 P.M. in the City Council 

Chamber, Room 219, City Hall, 95 Pleasant Street, Gardner, to consider amending Chapter 675, 

the Zoning Code of the City of Gardner. The proposed Amendment involves changing items: 

 

• 10891 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 Thereof, 

entitled “Zoning,” to Change the Classification of Certain Parcels of Land Along Route 

140. 

• 10892 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 thereof, 

entitled “Zoning,” to add “Sports Betting” to the Zoning Table of Uses.   

• 10893 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 thereof, 

entitled “Zoning,” to Amend Section 1070 thereof, entitled, “Marijuana Establishments” 

to increase the quota allowed by the Code of the City of Gardner 

 

 Information regarding this amendment is available for viewing in the City Clerk’s Office, the 

Department of Community Development and Planning (DCDP), or on the City’s webpage – 

www.gardner-ma.gov. 

 

All persons interested in this matter and desire to offer testimony are invited to attend the 

hearing. 

 

 

 

 
Titi Siriphan 

City Clerk 

 
                                                     

 

10893 11112



City of Gardner - Executive Department
Mayor Michael J. Nicholson

Hon. Elizabeth J. Kazinskas, Council President
And City Councilors

Gardner City Hall, Rm 121
95 Pleasant St
Gardner, MA 01440

RE: An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 thereof, entitled
“Zoning,” to amend Section 1070 thereof, entitled, “Marijuana Establishments” to increase the
quota allowed by the Code of the City of Gardner.

Dear Madam President and Councilors.

As you are aware, in 2018, the retail sale of cannabis products became legalized in the
Commonwealth.

When the City adopted the sale of Marijuana into our ordinances in November of 2018, the
ordinances limited the number of establishments that could open in the City for the retail sale of
cannabis to twenty percent (20%) of “license issues for retail sale of alcohol not consumed on the
premises.” (Code of the City of Gardner 675-1070(C)(8)(b)).

Whereas the City is currently issued ten (10) liquor licenses that fit this category, this provision
of the City Code limited the number of retail cannabis locations to two (2) locations in the City.

One of the main reasons this quota limit was drafted was due to uncertainty as to how this new
market would run its course in the City and the Commonwealth as a whole. However, since then,
we have seen that these businesses do not provide a detriment to the City, and have seen the
financial benefit the City receives from this as well.

The City currently has one retail location open with Sanctuary, with a second location — Bloc
Cannabis — permitted at the Timpany Crossroads location.

This attached ordinance amendment proposal would increase the number of Locations allowed in
the Ciw from two (2) to four (4). It is the belief of the Administration that this would allow more
economic activity in the City based on inquiries that we have seen, keep the industry within a
workable range that we are seeing in market trends with the cannabis industry’ around the
Commonwealth, and done with the full support of our public safety departments.

Respectfully Submitted.

Michael J. Nicholson
Mayor, City of Gardner

CC:
City Council Public Welfare Committee
Planning Board

February 3, 2023

1089311112



CITY OF GARDNER POLICE DEPARTMENT
200 Main Street

Gardner, Massachusetts 01440
Phone: (972) 632-5600

Fax: (978) 632-9045

Nicholas P. Maroni
Deputy Chief of Police

February 2,2023

The Honorable Michael J. Nicholson, Mayor
Gardner City Hall
95 Pleasant Street
Gardner, MA 01440

Re: Retail Marijuana Ordinance

Dear Mayor,

After reviewing the proposed ordinance change from two retail dispensary licenses to four, I do not see anyissue with thi5 particular change moving forward. Retail marijuana dispensaries have been operating in the state for thepast few years and are closely monitored and regulated by the Cannabis Control Commi5sion. Any retail dispensariesare required to have pre-determined surveillance camera coverage (inside and outside) and purpose-built safes forstored retail product. This is in addition to physical security during operating hours.

The Gardner Police Department has responded to calls at the current recreational retail dispensary, but the vastmajority of the calls are general service calls (accidents, lockouts, burglar alarms, etc.). The police department rarelydeals with anything else there.

We have conducted “compliance checks” at Sanctuary using underage youths to enter and purchase cannabisproducts. Sanctuary has never failed a compliance check. In fact, no youth has ever made it past the front door. I havespoken to law enforcement in other host dispensary locations and have not heard of any major issues.

If there are any further questions or concerns, please do not hesitate to contact me.

Very truly yours,

Eric P. McAvene
Chief of Police

Eric P. McAvene
Chief of Police

1089311112



Feb. 7. 2023

RE: Marijuana Retail Establishments

Dear Mr. Mayor,

City of Gardner
Department of Inspectional Services

115 Pleasant Street, Room 101
Gardner, MA 01440

Tel. (978) 630-4007 Fax: (978) 632-3313

I believe the text amendment regarding the number of Marijuana Retail Establishments will only increase opportunities in
the City for revenue, and jobs. From a Zoning standpoint I have seen no ill effects from the existing Marijuana Facility. I
currently have an application for a Building permit for a second facility which would leave us with no additional licenses.
This would in effect tie our hands regarding further growth. I am in full support ofihis proposal.

Do not hesitate to contact me should you need any further assistance.

Roland Jean
Building Commissioner/Zoning Enforcement Officer
City Hall Annex
115 Pleasant St. RM 101
Gardner, MA 01440
(978) 630 4007
rjean@gardner-rna.gov

Mission Statement
To promote the safe and compatible development of the community through fair and consistent enforcement of

building codes and zoning ordinances

1089311112



Mayor

From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Hi Mike

Here you go.

John Richard
Wednesday, February 1, 2023 11:14AM
Mayor
Marijuana Fees History

Description 2023 Actual 2022 Actual 2021 Actual 2020 Actual 2019 Actual
MARIJUANA HCA FEES $ 26,367.11 $ 124,076.56 $ 132,015.11 $ 118,394.64 547,072.12
MARIJUANASALESEXCISETAX $104,773.64 $237,668.25 $ 306,969.74 $ 383,850.54 $50,330.46
TOTAL $131,140.75 $361,744.81 $ 438,984.85 $ 502,245.18 $97,402.58

John Richard
City Auditor

[__
95 Pleasant Street, Room 114
Gardner, MA 01440-2630
978-632-1900 ext 8020

1

1089311112



Mayor

From: Ashley Metivier
Sent: Wedne5day, February 1,2023 11:04AM
To: Mayor
Subject: Liquor Retail - Not Consumed on Premise

Hi Mike,

We have 10 locations licensed as retail sale, not consumed on premises:

Malt/Wine Packaged Goods
Town Convenience, 13 Pine St
BP, 221 Main St
South Gardner Mini Mart, 94S. Main St
Jays Variety, 32 E. Broadway
Price Chopper, 500 Main St

All Alcohol Packaged Goods
Beauregard Liquors, 11 West St
Brazells, 201 Pleasant St
Hannaford, 14-20 Timpany Blvd
Gardner Spirits, 364 Timpany Blvd
Anthony’s, 12 Pearson Blvd

Let me know if you need any more informationl

Ashley Metivier
Administrative Assistant/License Commission Clerk
City of Gardner
95 Pleasant St, Room 29
Gardner, MA 01440
P: 978-630-4013 Ext 8042
F: 978-632-4682
E: AMetiviergardner-ma.gov

confidentiality Notice: This email message, including any attachments, is for the use of the intended recipient(s) only and may contain informationthat is privileged, confidential, and prohibited from unauthori2ed disclosure under applicable law. If you are not the intended recipient of thismessage, any dissemination, distribution, or copying of this message is strictly prohibited. If you received this message in error, please notify thesender by reply email and destroy all copies of the original message and attachments. Please be advised that the Massachusetts Secretary of Stateconsiders e-mail to be a public record, and therefore subject to public access under the Massachusetts Public Records law, MilL c. 66 section 10

1

1089311112



Select Language V

C OI7Cn

O City of Gardner; MA
1t7 0 /7 C,,ç,, Friday, Febwanj 3, 2023

Chapter 675. Zoning

Article X. Supplemental Regulations

§ 675-1070. Marijuana establishments.

A. Purpose.

(1) To provide for the placement of marijuana establishments in appropriate places and under conditions
in accordance with the provisions of MGL c. 94G.

(2) To minimize the adverse impacts of marijuana establishments on adjacent properties, residential
neighborhoods, schools and other places where children congregate, local historic districts, and other
sensitive land uses potentially incompatible with said establishments.

(3) To regulate the siting, design, placement, security, safety, monitoring, modification, and discontinuance
of marijuana establishments.

B. Applicability.

(1) No marijuana establishment shall be established except in compliance with the provisions of § 675-
410 (Schedule of permitted uses) and this § 675-1070 (Marijuana establishments).

(2) Nothing in this section shall be construed to supersede federal and state laws governing the sale and
distribution of Class 1 Controlled Substances.

(3) If any provision of this section or the application of any such provision to any person or circumstance
shall be held invalid, the remainder of this section, to the extent it can be given effect, or the
application of those provisions to persons or circumstances other than those to which it is held invalid,
shall not be affected thereby, and to this end the provisions of this section are severable.

C. General requirements and conditions for all marijuana establishments.

(1) All marijuana establishments shall be contained within a building or structure.

(2) The hours of operation of marijuana establishments shall be set by the special permit granting
authority.

(3) No marijuana establishment property line shall be located within 500 linear feet of a lot line where the
following districts, activity, or uses occur:

(a) (Reserved)t11
[1] Editor’s Note: Former Subsection C(3)(a), regarding nonconforming residential dwellings, was

repealed 9-3-2019 by Ord, No. 1625.

(b) Any church, public or private school or child-care facility; or place where minors frequent (e.g., a
library, ball field, park, sports or family recreation facility, religious facility or the like);

(c) Any other marijuana establishment;

(d) Any drug or alcohol rehabilitation facility; or

(e) Any correctional facility, halfway house or similar facility.

(4) No smoking, burning or consumption of any product containing marijuana or marijuana-related
products shall be permitted on the premises of a marijuana establishment.

1089311112



(5) No marijuana establishment shall be located inside a building containing residential units, including
transient housing such as motels and dormitories, or inside a movable or mobile structure such as a
van or truck.

(6) Marijuana establishments shall provide the Gardner Police and Fire Departments, Building
Commissioner, Board of Health, and the special permit granting authority with the names, phone
numbers and e-mail addresses of all management staff and key holders to whom one can provide
notice if there are operating problems associated with the establishment.

(7) The City shall have access at any time to inspect the premises of the marijuana establishment to
ensure compliance with local and state regulations, excluding client health information protected under
the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996.

(8) Pursuant to MGL c. 94G, § 3(a)(2)(i) to (Ni), the maximum number of licensed marijuana
establishments in the City shall be consistent with the following provisions:

(a) Shall not prohibit one or more types of marijuana establishment;

(b) The number of marijuana retail establishments shall not exceed 20% of liquor licenses issued for
retail sale of alcohol not consumed an the premises in the City of Gardner, said number to be
rounded up to the next whole number;

(c) The number of marijuana establishments shall not prevent the conversion of a medical marijuana
treatment center licensed or registered no later than July 1, 2017, to a marijuana establishment
engaged in the same type of activity.
[Amended 9-3-2019 by Ord. No. 1625]

0. Special permit requirements.

(1) No special permit for any marijuana establishment shall be issued without site plan approval first
having been obtained from the Planning Board, § 675-1010, Site plan review, of this chapter. In
addition to the standards set forth within, the site plan must meet all dimensional, parking,
landscaping, and signage requirements within this chapter.

(2) A marijuana establishment shall only be allowed by special permit from the Gardner Planning Board in
accordance with MGL c, 40A, § 9, subject to the following statements, regulations, requirements,
conditions and limitations.

(3) A special permit for a marijuana establishment shall be limited to one or more of the following uses
that shall be specified by the special permit granting authority:

(a) Marijuana cultivator;

(b) Marijuana product manufacturer;

(c) Marijuana retailer;

(d) Marijuana testing facility;

(e) Marijuana transportation or distribution facility; and

(f) Any other type of licensed marijuana-related business,

(4) In addition to the application requirements set forth above, a special permit application for a marijuana
establishment shall include the following:

(a) The name and address of each owner of the establishment;

(b) Copies of all required licenses and permits issued to the applicant by the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts Cannabis Control Commission and any of its other agencies for the
establishment;

(c) Evidence of the applicant’s right to use the site of the establishment for the establishment, such
as a purchase and sale agreement, deed, owner’s authorization, or lease;

(d) Proposed security measures for the marijuana establishment, including lighting, fencing, gates
and alarms, etc., to ensure the safety of persons and to protect the premises from theft. A letter

1089311112



from the City of Gardner Police Chief, or designee, acknowledging review and approval of the
marijuana establishment security plan is required. To the extent allowed by law, all such
documents shall be confidential.

(5) Mandatory findings. The special permit granting authority shall not issue a special permit for a
marijuana establishment unless it finds that:

(a) The establishment is designed to minimize any adverse impacts on abutters and other parties in
interest, as defined in MGL c. 40A, § 11.

(b) The establishment demonstrates that it will meet all the permitting requirements of all applicable
agencies within the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and will comply with all applicable state
laws and regulations; and

(c) The applicant has satisfied all the conditions and requirements set forth herein.

(6) A special permit granted under this section shall have a term limited to the duration of the applicant’s
ownership or leasehold of the premises as a marijuana establishment. A special permit may be
transferred only with the approval of the special permit granting authority in the form of an amendment
to the special permit with all information required in this § 675-1070.

E. Abandonment or discontinuance of use.

(1) A special permit shall lapse if not exercised within one year of issuance.

(2) A marijuana establishment shall be required to remove all personal property, including but not limited
to all material, plants, equipment, accessories, paraphernalia, and any other property no later than the
earliest of:

(a) Prior to surrendering its state-issued licenses or permits; or

(b) Within six months of ceasing operations.

1089311112



11112



AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF THE CITY OF GARDNER, CHAPTER
675 THEREOF, ENTITLED “ZONING,” TO ADD “SPORTS BETTING” TO THE

ZONING TABLE OF USES.

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GARDNER AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1: That Section 2 10(B) of Chapter 675, entitled “Word Usage and Definitions,” be
amended by adding the following definition to its list:

Sports Betting Facility — An entity licensed by the Massachusetts Gaming
Commission under the provisions of Chapter 173 of the Acts of 2022 of the
General Laws to conduct sporting and wagering events.

SECTION 2: That Section 54 of Attachment I of Chapter 675 of the Code of the City of
Gardner, entitled “Zoning- Table of Uses,” be adding the term “Sports Betting Facility” to the
description of use as follows:

54. Indoor amusement, fitness, or recreational place or place of assembly,
provided that the building is so insulated and maintained as to confine noise to
the premises and is located not less than 100 feet from a residential district, or
a sports betting facility.

SECTION 2: That Section 56 of Attachment I of Chapter 675 of the Code of the City of
Gardner, entitled “Zoning- Table of Uses,” be adding the term “Sports Betting Facility” to the
description of use as follows:

56. Public or commercial outdoor amusement or recreation use, or a sports
betting facility, but not including outdoor drive-in movie theater.

SECTION 3: This this ordinance take effect upon passage and publication as required by law.

11112



11112



11112



11112



11112



CCIITTYY  ooff  GGAARRDDNNEERR  
OOffffiiccee  ooff  tthhee  CCiittyy  CClleerrkk  

9955  PPlleeaassaanntt  SSttrreeeett,,  RRoooomm  112211  
  GGaarrddnneerr,,  MMAA  0011444400  

**TTeell..  997788--663300--44005588      **FFaaxx::  997788--663300--22558899

CITY OF GARDNER 
NOTICE OF JOINT PUBLIC HEARING, continued 

Pursuant to G.L. 40A, § 5, notice is hereby given that the City Council and Planning Board will 
conduct a Joint Public Hearing on Monday, April 3, 2023 at 6:30 P.M. in the City Council 
Chamber, Room 219, City Hall, 95 Pleasant Street, Gardner, to consider amending Chapter 675, 
the Zoning Code of the City of Gardner. The proposed Amendment involves changing items: 

• 10891 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 Thereof,
entitled “Zoning,” to Change the Classification of Certain Parcels of Land Along Route
140.

• 10892 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 thereof,
entitled “Zoning,” to add “Sports Betting” to the Zoning Table of Uses.

• 10893 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 thereof,
entitled “Zoning,” to Amend Section 1070 thereof, entitled, “Marijuana Establishments”
to increase the quota allowed by the Code of the City of Gardner

 Information regarding this amendment is available for viewing in the City Clerk’s Office, the 
Department of Community Development and Planning (DCDP), or on the City’s webpage – 
www.gardner-ma.gov. 

All persons interested in this matter and desire to offer testimony are invited to attend the 
hearing. 

Titi Siriphan 
City Clerk 

11112



CCIITTYY  ooff  GGAARRDDNNEERR  

OOffffiiccee  ooff  tthhee  CCiittyy  CClleerrkk  
9955  PPlleeaassaanntt  SSttrreeeett,,  RRoooomm  112211  

  GGaarrddnneerr,,  MMAA  0011444400  

**TTeell..  997788--663300--44005588      **FFaaxx::  997788--663300--22558899

CITY OF GARDNER 

NOTICE OF JOINT PUBLIC HEARING 

Pursuant to G.L. 40A, § 5, notice is hereby given that the City Council and Planning Board will 

conduct a Joint Public Hearing on Monday, March 20, 2023 at 6:30 P.M. in the City Council 

Chamber, Room 219, City Hall, 95 Pleasant Street, Gardner, to consider amending Chapter 675, 

the Zoning Code of the City of Gardner. The proposed Amendment involves changing items: 

• 10891 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 Thereof,

entitled “Zoning,” to Change the Classification of Certain Parcels of Land Along Route

140.

• 10892 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 thereof,

entitled “Zoning,” to add “Sports Betting” to the Zoning Table of Uses.

• 10893 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 thereof,

entitled “Zoning,” to Amend Section 1070 thereof, entitled, “Marijuana Establishments”

to increase the quota allowed by the Code of the City of Gardner

 Information regarding this amendment is available for viewing in the City Clerk’s Office, the 

Department of Community Development and Planning (DCDP), or on the City’s webpage – 

www.gardner-ma.gov. 

All persons interested in this matter and desire to offer testimony are invited to attend the 

hearing. 

Titi Siriphan 

City Clerk 

10892 11112



City of Gardner - Executive Department
Mayor Michael I Nicholson

Hon. Elizabeth J. Kazinskas. Council President
And City Councilors

Gardner City Hall. Rm 121
95 Pleasant St
Gardner, MA 01440

RE: Zoning Ordinance Proposal- Sports Betting Facilities

Dear Madam President and Councilors,

As you are likely aware, on August 10, 2022, former Governor Charlie Baker signed Chapter
173 of the Acts of 2022 into law, legalizing sports betting in the Commonwealth.

This new addition to the General Laws, some parts of which have already taken effect while
others will within the next few months, allows for the opening of new facilities across the
Commonwealth where individuals can gamble and place wagers on sporting games.

Currently. these types of facilities are not governed by our zoning ordinance, as they were not
allowed prior to the passage of this act. The attached ordinance proposal is being presented to
help proEect the City so that we can regulate where facilities like this can go and make sure that
in the event that a facility like this looks to open in Gardner, it locates in a location that fits this
use rather than in a largely residential area that could cause disruptions to a neighborhood.

I believe it is in the best interest of the City to be proactive in this matter in order to make sure
the City has the tools in place before any situations may arise.

Respectfully Submitted,

Michael J. Nicholson
Mayor, City of Gardner

CC:
City Council Public Welfare Committee
Planning Board

February 3, 2023

1089211112



CITY OF GARDNER POLICE DEPARTMENT
200 Main Street

Gardner, Massachusetts 01440
Phone: (918) 632-5600

Fax: (978) 632-9045

Nicholas P. Maroni
Deputy Chief of Police

February 3, 2023

The Honorable Michael J. Nicholson, Mayor
Gardner City Hall
95 Pleasant Street
Gardner, MA 01440

Re: Sports Betting Zoning Ordinance

Dear Mayor,

I have reviewed the proposed addition of the new Sports Betting Ordinance and do not see any issues from the policedepartment. Any proposed facility should have a buffer between any residential zone and this ordinance reflects thenew law.

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me.

Very truly yours,

Eric P. McAvene
Chief of Police

Eric P. McAvene
Chief of Police

1089211112



Feb. 7, 2023

RE: Text Amendment

Dear Mr. Mayor,

City of Gardner
Department of Inspectional Services

115 Pleasant Street, Room 101
Gardner, MA 01440

Tel. (978) 630-4007 Fax: (978) 632-3313

Please accept this letter as my full support for your proposed text amendment to our Zoning Ordinance regarding sports
betting. I believe when new laws are enacted at a state level that a municipalities Zoning must change to reflect the new
law, or be forced to react to a potential problem.

Do not hesitate to contact me should you need any further assistance.

L%Jj%—
Roland Jean
Building Commissioner/Zoning Enforcement Officer
Ciw Hall Annex
115 Pleasant St. RM 101
Gardner, MA 01440
(978) 630 4007
rjeangardner-rna.gov

Mission Statement
To promote the safe and compatible development of the community through fair and consistent enforcement of

building codes and zoning ordinances

1089211112



C
W

f
l
6

C
cc

i 7
G

C
c

G
A

R
D

N
E

R
C

O
D

E

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
of

U
se

S
F

R
I

11
14

2
C

R
3

C
O

M
I

C
O

M
2

I
IN

D
I

1N
02

49
.

R
es

ta
ur

an
t

N
P

SP
N

P
P

P
P

N
P

50
.

R
es

ta
ur

an
t,

fa
st

-f
oo

d,
in

cl
ud

in
g

ap
pu

rt
en

an
t

N
P

N
P

N
P

SP
SP

N
P

N
P

st
ru

ct
ur

es
to

pr
ov

id
e

dr
iv

e-
th

ro
ug

h
or

dr
iv

e-
in

se
rv

ic
es

S
I.

R
es

ta
ur

an
t

se
rv

in
g

fo
od

or
be

ve
ra

ge
s

w
it

h
li

ve
N

P
SP

N
P

SP
P

N
P

N
P

or
m

ec
ha

ni
ca

l
en

le
rt

ai
nm

en
t

52
.

W
ho

le
sa

le
of

fi
ce

or
sh

ow
ro

om
,

w
it

h
st

or
ag

e
N

P
N

P
N

P
P

P
P

P
lim

ite
d_

to
_f

lo
or

_s
am

pl
es

_o
nl

y
53

.
W

ho
le

sa
le

of
fi

ce
or

sh
ow

ro
om

w
it

h
st

or
ag

e
N

P
N

P
N

P
SP

P
P

P
pe

rm
it

te
d_

on
_p

ro
pe

rt
y

54
.

In
do

or
am

us
em

en
t,

fi
tn

es
s,

or
re

cr
ea

ti
on

al
N

P
N

P
N

P
P

P
N

P
N

P
pl

ac
e

or
pl

ac
e

of
as

se
m

bl
y,

pr
ov

id
ed

th
at

th
e

bu
il

di
ng

is
so

in
su

la
te

d
an

d
m

ai
nt

ai
ne

d
as

to
co

nf
in

e
no

is
e

to
th

e
pr

em
is

es
an

d
is

lo
ca

te
d

no
t

le
ss

th
an

10
0

fe
et

fr
om

a
re

si
de

nt
ia

l
di

st
ri

ct
55

.
O

ut
do

or
co

m
m

er
ci

al
cl

ub
s

an
d/

or
re

cr
ea

ti
on

al
N

P
SP

N
P

P
p

N
P

N
P

es
ta

bl
is

hm
en

ts
or

us
e

su
ch

as
sw

im
m

in
g

po
ol

s,
te

nn
is

co
ur

ts
,

sk
i

cl
ub

s,
ca

m
pi

ng
ar

ea
s,

sk
at

in
g

ri
nk

s
or

ot
he

r
co

m
m

er
ci

al
fa

ci
li

ti
es

of
fe

ri
ng

_o
ut

do
or

_r
ec

re
at

io
n

56
.

P
ub

li
c

or
co

m
m

er
ci

al
ou

td
oo

r
am

us
em

en
t

or
N

P
N

P
N

P
N

P
P

P
N

P
re

cr
ea

ti
on

us
e

bu
t

no
t

in
cl

ud
in

g
ou

td
oo

r
dr

iv
e-

in
m

ov
ie

th
ea

te
r

57
.

B
us

st
at

io
n

or
te

rm
in

al
or

ra
il

ro
ad

st
at

io
n

fo
r

N
P

N
P

N
P

P
P

P
N

P
pa

ss
en

ge
rs

58
.

T
ra

ns
po

rt
te

rm
in

al
,

w
ar

eh
ou

se
di

st
ri

bu
ti

on
N

P
N

P
N

P
N

P
N

P
P

P
fa

ci
li

ty
59

.
C

on
tr

ac
ti

ng
bu

si
ne

ss
an

d
co

nt
ra

ct
or

’s
ya

rd
,

N
P

N
P

N
P

N
P

SP
P

N
P

in
cl

ud
in

g_
st

or
ag

e_
in

_t
he

_o
pe

n’

67
5

A
tt

ac
hm

en
t

1:
4

S
up

p
6,

Ju
n

20
19

1089211112



Plo. 5164

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts

The committee of conference on the disagreeing votes of the two branches with reference
to the Senate amendment (striking out all after the enacting clause and inserting in place thereof
the text contained in Senate document numbered 2862) of the House Bill regulating sports
wagering (House, No. 3993), reports recommending passage of the accompanying bill (House,
No. 5164). August 1,2022.

Jerald A. Parisella Michael J. Rodrigues
- Aaron Michlewitz Eric P. Lesser

David K. Muradian Patrick M. O’Connor

I of49

1089211112



FILED ON: 811/2022

I1JLJSF . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . INo. 5164

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts

In the One Hundred and Ninety-Second General Court
(2021—2022)

An Act regulating sports wagering.

Re it enacted by the Senate and House ofRepresentatives in General court assembled, and by tile authority
of the same, asfollon’s:

1 SECTION 1. Section 7 of chapter 4 of the General Laws is hereby amended by striking

2 out clause Tenth, as appearing in the 2020 Official Edition, and inserting in place thereof the

3 following clause:-

4 Tenth, “illegal gaming”, a banking or percentage game played with cards, dice, tiles,

5 dominoes, or an electronic, electrical or mechanical device or machine for money, property,

6 checks, credit or any representative of value, but excluding: (i) a lottery game conducted by the

7 state lottery commission under sections 24, 24A and 27 of chapter 10; (ii) a game conducted

8 under chapter 23K; (iii) sports wagering conducted under chapter 23N; (iv) pari-mumel wagering

9 on horse races under chapters l28A and l28C and greyhound races under said chapter 128C; (v)

10 a game of bingo conducted under chapter 271; (vi) charitable gaming conducted under said

11 chapter 271; and (vii) a fantasy contest conducted under section 1 1M’/2.

12 SECTION 2. Section 7 of chapter 4 of the General Laws is hereby amended by striking

13 out clause Tenth, as inserted by section 1, and inserting in place thereof the following clause:

2 of 49

1089211112



14 Tenth, “Illegal gaming”, a banking or percentage game played with cards, dice, tiles,

15 dominoes, or an electronic, electrical or mechanical device or machine for money, property,

16 checks, credit or any representative of value, but excluding: (i) a lottery game conducted by the

17 state lottery commission under sections 24, 24A and 27 of chapter 10; (ii) a game conducted

18 under chapter 23K; (iii) sports wagering conducted under chapter 23N; (iv) pari-muwel wagering

19 on horse races under chapters l28A and 128C; (v) a game of bingo conducted under chapter 271;

20 and (vi) charitable gaming conducted under said chapter 271.

21 SECTION 3. Chapter 12 of the General Laws is hereby amended by inserting after

22 section 1 IM the following section:-

23 Section 1 1MV2. Notwithstanding sections 24. 24A and 27 of chapter 10, chapter 271 or

24 any other general or special law to the contrary. a person or entity that offers fantasy contests for

25 a cash prize to members of the public may offer a fantasy contest to residents of the

26 commonwealth pursuant to and in accordance with regulations promulgated by the attorney

27 general; provided thrther, for the purposes of section 7 of chapter 4, a fantasy contest shall not be

28 considered illegal gaming. “Fantasy contest” includes any fantasy or simulated game or contest,

29 including, but not limited to, any fantasy or simulated game or contest based on professional

30 sports events in which: (i) the value of all prizes and awards offered to winning participants are

31 established and made known to the participants in advance of the contest; (ii) all winning

32 outcomes reflect the relative knowledge and skill of the participants and shall be determined

33 predominantly by accumulated statistical results of the performance of individuals, including

34 athletes in the ease of sports events; and (iii) no winning outcome is based on the score, point

35 spread, or any performance or performances of any single acwal team or combination of such

3 of49

1089211112



36 teams or solely on any single performance of an individual athlete or player in any single actual

37 event.

38 SECTION 4. Section 4 of chapter 23K of the General Laws, as appearing in the 2020

39 Official Edition, is hereby amended by inserting the following subsection:-

40 (42) regulate and enforce chapter 23N relating to sports wagering.

41 SECTION 5. The General Laws are hereby amended by inserting after chapter 23M the

42 following chapter:-

43 CHAPTER 23N

44 AUTHORIZATION AND REGULATION OF SPORTS WAGERING

45 Section I. This chapter shall be known and maybe cited as the “Massachusetts Sports

46 Wagering Act”.

47 Section 2. Notwithstanding any general or special law to the contrary, the operation of

48 sports wagering and ancillary activities shall be lawftil when conducted in accordance with this

49 chapter and the rules and regulations of the commission.

50 Section 3. As used in this chapter the following words shall, unless the context clearly

51 requires otherwise, have the following meanings:

52 “Adjusted gross fantasy wagering receipts”, the total gross receipts from fantasy contests

53 as defined in section 1 IMI/2 ofchapter 12, less only the total of all cash prizes paid to

54 participants in the fantasy contests; provided, however, that the total of all cash prizes paid to

4 of 49

1089211112



55 participants shall not include the cash equivalent of any merchandise or thing of value awarded

56 as a prize.

57 “Adjusted gross sports wagering receipts”, the total gross receipts from sports wagering

58 less the sum of: (i) the total of all winnings paid to participants; and (ii) all excise taxes paid

59 pursuant to federal law; provided, however, that the total of all winnings paid to participants

60 shall not include the cash equivalent of any merchandise or thing of value awarded as a prize.

61 “Affiliate”, a person who directly or indirectly controls, or is controlled by, or is under

62 common control with, a specified person.

63 “Applicant”, a person who has applied for a license to engage in activity regulated under

64 this chapter.

65 “Breaks”, the odd cents over any multiple of 10 cents of winnings per SI wagered.

66 “Category 1 license”, a license issued by the commission that permits the operation of

67 sports wagering in person at a gaming establishment, as defined in section 2 of chapter 23K, and

68 through not more than 2 individually-branded mobile applications or other digital platforms

69 approved by the commission; provided, that the mobile applications or other digital platforms

70 shaLl be qualified for and issued a category 3 license.

7 1 “Category 2 license”, a license issued by the commission that permits the operation of

72 sports wagering in-person on the premises where either: (1) live horse racing is conducted in

73 accordance with chapter 1 28A or (2) the licensee is authorized by law to conduct simulcast

74 wagering on horse or greyhound racing, and through not more than 1 individually branded

75 mobile application or other digital platform approved by the commission; provided, that the

5 of49

1089211112



76 mobile applications or other digital platforms shall be qualified for and issued a category 3

77 license; provided further, that the commission may issue a category’ 2 license to: (1) a person or

78 entity licensed by the commission in accordance with said chapter l28A to conduct a live horse

79 racing meeting, (2) a running horse racing licensee that conducted simulcast wagering as of

80 December 31, 2020 as authorized by law, or (3) a greyhound meeting licensee that conducted

81 simulcast wagering as of December 31, 2020 as authorized by law; provided further, a category 2

82 licensee shall make a capital investment of not less than $7,500,000 within 3 years after

83 receiving a sports wagering license.

84 “Category 3 license”, a license issued by the commission that permits the operation of

85 sports wagering through a mobile application and other digital platforms approved by the

86 commission.

87 “Close associate”, a person who holds a relevant financial interest in, or is entitled to

88 exercise power in. the business of an applicant or Licensee and, by virtue of that interest or

89 power, is able to exercise a significant influence over the management or operation of a gaming

90 establishment or business licensed under this chapter.

91 “Collegiate sport or athLetic event”, a sport or athletic event offered or sponsored by, or

92 played in connection with, a public or private institution that offers educational services beyond

93 the secondary level.

94 “Collegiate tournament”, a series of collegiate sports or athletic events involving four or

95 more collegiate teams that make up a single unit of competition.

96 “Commission”, the Massachusetts gaming commission established in section 3 of chapter

97 23K.

6 of 49

1089211112



98 “Electronic sports”, a single or multiplayer video game played competitively for

99 spectators

100 “Governmental authority”, any governmental unit of a national, state or local body

101 exercising governmental ftnctions, except the United States government.

102 “License”, any license applied for or issued by the commission under this chapter,

103 including, but not limited to: (i) an operator license or (ü) an occupational license.

104 “National criminal history background check”, a criminal history background check

105 conducted using the criminal history record system maintained by the Federal Bureau of

106 Investigation and based on fingerprint identification or any other method of positive

107 identification.

108 “Occupational license”, a license required to be held by an employee ofan operator when

109 the employee performs duties directly related to the operation of sports wagering in the

110 commonwealth in a supervisory role.

ill “Official league data”, statistics, results, outcomes and other data relating to a sporting

112 event that is obtained pursuant to an agreement with the relevant sports governing body, or with

113 an entity expressly authorized by the relevant sports governing body to provide such data to

114 sports wagering operators, winch authorizes the use of such data for determining the outcome of

115 tier 2 sports wagers on such sporting event.

116 “Operator” or “sports wagering operator”, any entity permitted under this chapter to offer

117 sports wagering to persons in the commonwealth through a category 1 license, category 2 license

118 or category 3 license.

7 of 49

1089211112



11.9 “Operator license”, a category 1 license, category 2 license or category 3 license to

120 operate sports wagering.

121 “Person”, an individual, corporation, association, operation, firm, partnership, trust or

122 other form of business association.

123 “Personal biometric data”, any information about an athlete that is derived from that

124 athlete’s physical or physiological characteristics, including, but not limited to, deoxyribonucleic

125 acid, heart rate, blood pressure, perspiration rate, internal or external body temperature, hormone

126 levels, glucose levels, hydration levels, vitamin levels, bone density, muscle density or sleep

127 patterns.

328 “Players association”, a professional sports association recognized by a sports governing

129 body that represents professional athletes.

130 “Professional sport or athletic event”, an event at which 2 or more persons participate in a

13 1 sport or athletic event and receive compensation in excess of actual expenses for their

1 32 participation in such event.

133 “Promotional gaming credit”, a sports wagering credit or other item issued by an operator

134 to a patron to enable the placement of a sports wager.

135 “Qualified gaming entity”, an entity that: (i) holds a gaming license as defined in section

136 2 of chapter 23K; (ii) (a) is licensed by the commission in accordance with chapter 1 28A to

137 conduct a live horse racing meeting, (b) is a running horse racing licensee that conducted

138 simulcast wagering as of December 31, 2020 as authorized by law or (c) is a greyhound meeting

139 Licensee that conducted simulcast wagering as of December 31, 2020 as authorized by law; or

8 of 49

1089211112



140 (hi) offers an interactive sports wagering platform through a mobile application or other digital

141 platform.

142 “Sports event” or “sporting event”, a professional sport or athletic event, collegiate sport

143 or athletic cvent, a collegiate tournament, motor race event, electronic sports event or other event

144 authorized by the commission under this chapter; provided, however, that “sporting event” shall

145 not include: (i) high school and youth sports or athletic events; or (ii) a collegiate sport or athletic

146 event involving 1 or more collegiate teams from the commonwealth unless they are involved in a

147 collegiate tournament.

148 “Sports governing body”, an organization that is headquartered in the United States and

149 prescribes final rules and enforces codes of conduct with respect to a sporting event and

150 participants therein; provided, however, that, notwithstanding the foregoing, the commission

151 shall adopt regulations to determine the governing body for electronic sports for the purposes of

152 this chapter.

153 “Sports wager”, a wager on a sporting event or a portion of a sporting event.

154 “Sports wagering”, the business of accepting wagers on sporting events or portions of

155 sporting events, other events, the individual performance statistics of athletes in a sporting event

156 or other events or a combination of any of the same by any system or method of wagcring

157 approved by the commission including, but not limited to, mobile applications and other digital

158 platforms; provided, that sports wagering shall not include the acceptance of any wager: (i) with

159 an outcome dependent on the performance of an individual athlete in any collegiate sport or

160 athletic evcnt, including, but not limited, to in-game or in-play wagers; (ii) on a high school or

161 youth sporting event; (iii) on injuries, penalties, player discipline or replay review; and provided

9 of 49

1089211112



162 further, that sports wagering shall not include fantasy contests as defined in section 1 lM½ of

163 chapter 12. Sports wagering shall include, but shall not be limited to, single-game bets, teaser

164 bets, parlays, over-under, moneyline, pools, exchange wagering, in-game wagering, in-play bets,

165 proposition bets and straight bets.

166 “Sports wagering account”, a financial record established by an operator for a patron in

167 which the patron may deposit by any method approved by the commission and withdraw finds

168 for sports wagering and other authorized purchases and to which the operator may credit

169 winnings or other amounts due to or authorized by that patron; provided, however, that such

170 account may be established and funded by the patron electronically through an approved mobile

171 application or digital platform; and provided further, that a deposit into a sports wagering

172 account shall not be made using a credit card.

I 73 “Tier I sports wager”, a sports wager that is determined solely by the final score or

174 outcome of a sporting event and is placed before the sporting event has begun.

175 “Tier 2 sports wager”, a sports wager that is not a tier 1 sports wager.

176 “Wager”, a sum of money or thing of value risked on an uncertain occurrence.

177 Section 4. (a) The commission shall regulate the conduct of sports wagering under this

178 chapter.

179 (b) The commission shall promulgate rules and regulations necessary for the

180 implementation, administration and enforcement of this chapter. The commission may

181 promulgate emergency rules and regulations in accordance with applicable procedures for the

182 promulgation of emergency rules and regulations.

10 of 49

1089211112



183 (c) The commission shall promulgate regulations to prohibit: (i) the purchase or other use

184 of any personal biometric data of an athlete for sports wagering or aiding a patron in placing a

185 wager with sports wagering operators; and (ii) the following advertising, marketing and branding

186 activities: (A) advertisements, marketing and branding in such a manner that it is deceptive,

187 false, misleading, or untrue, or tends to deceive or crcate a misleading impression whether

188 directly, or by ambiguity or omission; (B) use of unsolicited pop-up advertisements on the

189 internet or by text message directed to an individual on the list of self-excluded persons

190 established pursuant to paragraph (2) of subsection (e) of section 13; (C) any form of advertising,

191 marketing or branding that the commission deems unacceptable or disruptive to the viewer

192 experience at a sports event; (D) advertising, marketing and branding deemed to appeal directly

193 to a person younger than 21 years old; and (E) advertising on any billboards, or any other public

194 signagc, which fails to comply with any federal, state or local law.

195 (d)(1) The commission may promulgate rules and regulations including, but not limited

196 to, those governing the acceptance of wagers on a sports event, other event or a series of sports

197 events; types of wagering receipts which may be used; methods of issuing receipts; methods of

198 accounting to be used by operators; types of records to be kept; types of systems for wagering;

199 and any other sports wagering-related issues.

200 (2) The commission shall promulgate rules and regulations regarding protections for

201 patrons placing wagers and the promotion of social responsibility and responsible gaming that

202 shall include, but not be limited to, a requirement that an operator: (i) implement responsible

203 gaming programs that include comprehensive employee trainings on responding to

204 circumstances in which individuals present signs of gambling addiction; (ii) assess, prevent and

205 address problem gaming by an operator’s consumers; (iii) permit a consumer to permanently

II of49

1089211112



206 close an account registcrcd to the consumer on any or all platforms owncd or operated by the

207 operator at any time and for any reason; (iv) offer consumers access to their account history and

208 account details; (v) refrain from making claims as to a consumer’s winnings or money earned

209 that is not net of wagers placed; (vi) allow a consumer to withdraw funds without further

210 solicitation or promotion in the manner in which the finds were deposited; (vii) annually submit

211 a problem gaming plan for approval by the commission, in consultation with the department of

212 public health, that includes the objectives of and timetables for implementing the plan,

213 identification of the persons responsibLe for implementing and maintaining the plan, procedures

214 for identifying consumers with suspected or known problem gaming behavior, procedures for

215 providing information to consumers concerning problem gaming identification and resources,

21 6 procedures to prevent gaming by minors and self-excluded persons and any other information the

217 commission may require; and (viii) shall not offer or provide a line of credit to any consumer.

218 (3) The commission shall promulgate regulations that require mobile applications and

219 digital platforms authorized for sports wagering to prominently display upon each entry into the

220 application or platform the telephone number and website for a problem gambling hotline

221 overseen by the department of public health.

222 (e) The commission shall: (i) determine the eligibility of a person to hold or continue to

223 hold a license; (ii) issue all licenses; and (iii) maintain a record of all licenses issued under this

224 chapter.

225 (fl The commission shall levy and collect all fees, surcharges, civil penalties and taxes on

226 adjusted gross sports wagering receipts imposed by this chapter, except as otherwise provided

227 under this chapter.

12 of49

1089211112



228 (g) The commission shall have the authority to enforce this chapter and any rule or

229 regulation of the commission and may request that the attorney general bring an action to enforce

230 this chapter or any rule or regulation of the commission by civil action or petition for injunctive

23 1 relief

232 (h) The commission may hold hearings, administer oaths and issue subpoenas or

233 subpoenas duces tecum in order to enforce this chapter and the rules and regulations of the

234 commission.

235 (i) The commission may exercise any other powers necessary to effectuate this chapter

236 and the rules and regulations of the commission.

237 Section 5. (a) A person shall not engage in any activity in connection with sports

238 wagering in the commonwealth unless all required licenses have been obtained in accordance

239 with this chapter and the rules and regulations of the commission.

240 (b) The commission shall not grant an operator license until it determines that each

241 person who has control of the applicant meets all qualifications for licensure. For the purposes of

242 this chapter, the following shall be considered to have control of an applicant: (i) a person who

243 owns 10 per cent or more of a corporate applicant and who has the ability to control the activities

244 of the corporate applicant; provided, however, that a bank or other licensed lending institution

245 that holds a mortgage or other lien acquired in the ordinary course of business shall not be

246 considered to have control of an applicant; (ii) a person who holds a beneficial or proprietary

247 interest of 10 per cent or more of a non-corporate applicant’s business operation and who has the

248 ability to control the activities of the non-corporate applicant; and (iii) at the commission’s

13 of 49

1089211112



249 discretion, an executive, employee or agent having the power to exercise significant influence

250 over decisions concerning the applicant’s sports wagering operations in the commonwealth.

251 (c) A person having control of an applicant pursuant to subsection (b) shall submit to the

252 commission an application in a form determined by the commission. Each such person who is a

253 natural person shall also submit to the commission: (i) fingerprints for a national criminal records

254 check by the department of state police and the Federal Bureau of Investigation; and (ii) a signed

255 authorization for the release of the person’s information by the department of state police and the

256 Federal Bureau of Investigation; provided, however, that a person having control of an applicant

257 who is a natural person that has submitted to a national criminal records check in any jurisdiction

258 within the previous year shall not be required to submit to another national criminal records

259 check if such person submits to the commission the results of such previous national criminal

260 records check. Any applicant convicted of any disqualifying offense, as determined by the

261 commission, shall not be licensed.

262 (d) Each person licensed under this chapter shall give the commission written notice not

263 more than 30 days after any change to any material information provided in the application for a

264 license or renewal.

265 (e) A commission employee shall not be an applicant for any license issued under this

266 chapter.

267 Section 6. (a) A licensed qualified gaming entity may operate sports wagering upon the

268 approval of the commission.

269 (b)(l) The commission shall issue a category 1 license to any holder of a gaming license,

270 as defined in section 2 of chapter 23K, that meets the requirements of this chapter and the rules

14 of 49

1089211112



271 and regulations of the commission; provided, however, that any holder of a category 1 license

272 shall not be issued a category 2 license.

273 (2) The commission shall issue a category 2 license to: (i) any holder of a license to

274 conduct a live horse racing meeting in accordance with chapter 28A; (ii) a mnning horse racing

275 licensee that conducted simulcast wagering as of December31, 2020 as authorized by law; or

276 (iii) a greyhound meeting licensee that conducted simulcast wagering as of December31, 2020

277 as authorized by law; that meets the requirements of this chapter and the mles and regulations of

278 the commission; provided, however, that any holder of a category 2 license shall not be issued a

279 category I license; and provided further, that no more than I category 2 license shall be issued to

280 any I person, entity, or affiliate or close associate of such person or entity.

281 (3) The commission may issue a category 3 license to any entity that offers sports

282 wagering through a mobile application or other digital platform that meets the requirements of

283 this chapter and the rules and regulations of the commission; provided, however, the commission

284 shall issue no more than 7 category 3 licenses that are not connected to a category I or category

285 2 license.

286 (4) A category I or category 2 licensee may enter into agreements related to mobile or

287 digital sports wagering with a category 3 licensee pursuant to the approval of the commission.

288 Nothing in this chapter shall require a category 3 licensee to partner with or have any

289 commercial relationship with a category 1 or 2 licensee.

290 (c)(l) A qualified gaming entity may submit to the commission a request for a temporary

291 license for the immediate commencement of sports wagering operations. Such request shall

292 include an initial licensing fee of $1,000,000 payable to the commission.

15 of49

1089211112



293 (2) Upon receiving a request for a temporary license, the executive director of the

294 commission shall review the request. If the executive director determines that the entity

295 requesting the temporary license is a qualified gaming entity and has paid the sports wagering

296 initial licensing fee pursuant to paragraph (1), the commission shall authorize the qualified

297 gaming entity to conduct sports wagering for a period of 1 year under a temporary license or

298 until a final determination on its operator license application is made.

299 (3) All sports wagering conducted under authority of a temporary license shall comply

300 with the house rules adopted under section 10.

301 (d) Prior to issuing an operator license, the commission shall commence an investigation

302 into the suitability of the applicant. The commission may use information obtained from the

303 applicant pursuant to chapter 23K, chapter 128A, chapter U8C, or information from other

304 jurisdictions where the applicant is authorized to conduct sports wagering. In evaluating the

305 suitability of the applicant, the commission shall consider the overall reputation of the applicant

306 including, but not limited to: (i) the integrity, honesty, good character and reputation of the

307 applicant; (ii) the financial stability, integrity and background of the applicant; (iii) the business

308 practices and the business ability of the applicant to establish and maintain a successthl sports

309 wagering operation; (iv) whether the applicant has a history of compliance with gaming or sports

310 wagering licensing requirements in other jurisdictions; (v) whether the applicant, at the time of

311 application, is a defendant in litigation involving its business practices; and (vi) the suitability of

312 all parties in interest to the license, including affiliates and close associates, and the financial

313 resources of the applicant.

16 of 49

1089211112



314 (e) The commission may deny an application, if the commission determines during its

315 investigation that an applicant has failed to: (i) establish the applicant’s integrity or the integrity

316 of any affiliate, close associate, financial rcsources or any person required to be qualified by the

317 commission; (ii) demonstrate responsible business practices in any jurisdiction; or (iii) overcome

318 any other reason, as determined by the commission, as to why it would be injurious to the

319 interests of the commonwealth to award the applicant an operator license.

320 (t) Upon application by a qualified gaming entity that is not denied pursuant to subsection

321 (e) and payment ofa $5,000,000 licensing fee, the commission shall grant an operator license to

322 a qualified gaming entity that provides the right to conduct spoils wagering; provided, that the

323 qualified gaming entity shall meet the requirements for licensure under this chapter and the rules

324 and regulations of the commission. Such license shall be issued for a 5-year period, and may be

325 renewed for 5-year periods upon payment of a $5,000,000 renewal fee; provided, that the

326 operator shall continue to meet all requirements under this chapter and the rules and regulations

327 of the commission. The commission shall credit any initial licensing fee paid pursuant to

328 paragraph (1) of subsection (c) to a successful applicant for an operator license against the

329 licensing fee due under this subsection.

330 (g) An operator shall submit to the commission such documentation or information as the

331 commission may require to demonstrate that the operator continues to meet the requirements of

332 this chapter and the rules and regulations of the commission. An operator shall submit required

333 documentation or information no later than 5 years after issuance of its operator license and

334 every 5 years thereafter, or within lesser periods based on circumstances specified by the

335 commission.

17 of 49

1089211112



336 (h) No licensee shall transfer an operator license, or any direct or indirect interest in the

337 license, without tLe majority approval of the commission. A person seeking to acquire such

338 license through a transfer shall qualify and otherwise be determined by the commission to be

339 eligible for licensure under this chapter. The commission may reject a proposed license transfer

340 or a proposed transfer of interest in the license to an unsuitable person and may reject a proposed

341 transfer that, in the determination of the commission, would be injurious to the interests of the

342 commonwealth. The commission may promulgate regulations governing this process which may

343 incLude assessment of a fee to reflect the cost associated with reviewing the proposed transfer.

344 (i) Applications for operator licenses shall be public records under section 10 of chapter

345 66; provided however, that trade secrets, competitively-sensitive or other proprietary information

346 provided in the course of an application for an operator license under this chapter, the disclosure

347 of which would place the applicant at a competitive disadvantage, may be withheld from

348 disclosure under said section 10 of said chapter 66.

349 Section 7. (a) An applicant for an operator license shall pay to the commission a

350 nonrefundable processing fee of $200,000 for the costs associated with the processing of the

351 application and investigation of the applicant; provided, however, that if the costs of the

352 investigation exceed the initial application fee, the applicant shall pay the additional amount to

353 the commission not more than 30 days after notification of insufficient fees or the application

354 shall be rejected.

355 (b) All fees in this section shall be deposited into the Sports Wagering Control Fund

356 established in section 14.

18 of 49

1089211112



357 Section 8. Section 8. (a) All persons employed by an operator to perform duties directly

358 related to the operation of sports wagering in the commonwealth in a supen’isoiy role shall

359 maintain a valid occupational license issued by the commission. The commission shall issue such

360 occupational license to a person who meets the requirements of this section.

361 (b) An occupational license authorizes the licensee to be employed in the capacity

362 designated by the commission while the license is active. The commission may establish, by Me

363 or regulation, job classifications with different requirements based on the extent to which a

364 particular job impacts, or has the potential to impact, the lawftil operation of sports wagering.

365 (e) An applicant for an occupational license shall submit any required application forms

366 established by the commission and shall pay a nonrefiandable application fee ofSlOO. An

367 employer may pay an application fee on behalf of an applicant.

368 (d) Not later than March 1 of the third calendar year following the issuance or renewal of

369 an occupational license, an occupational license holder shall pay a nonreffindable license renewal

370 fee of$ 100 and submit a renewal application on a form established by the commission. An

371 employer may pay the license renewal fee on behalf of the licensed employee.

372 Section 9. Section 9. (a) The commission may deny a license to any applicant, reprimand

373 any licensee or suspend or revoke a license if the applicant or licensee: (i) has knowingly made a

374 false statement of a material fact to the commission; (ii) has had a license revoked by any

375 governmental authority’ responsible for regulation of gaming activities; (iii) has been convicted

376 of a felony or other crime involving embezzlement, theft, fraud, perjury, or a gambling-related

377 offense; (iv) has not demonstrated to the satisfaction of the commission financial responsibility

378 sufficient to adequately meet the requirements of the proposed enterprise; (v) has affiliates or

19 of 49

1089211112



379 close associates that would not qualify for a license or whose relationship with the applicant may

380 pose an injurious threat to the interests of the commonwealth in awarding an operator license to

381 the applicant; or (vi) in the case of an operator or an applicant for an operator license, is not the

382 Ewe owner of the business or is not the sole owner and has not disclosed the existence or identity

383 of other persons who have an ownership interest in the business.

384 (b) The commission may deny, suspend or revoke an operator license or reprimand any

385 licensee if the applicant or licensee has not met the requirements of this chapter.

386 Section 10. (a) An operator shall adopt comprehensive house rules for game play

387 governing sports wagering transactions with the operator’s patrons. The house rules shall specify

388 the amounts to be paid on winning wagers and the effect of sports event schedule changes. An

389 operator shall not conduct sports wagering until the commission has approved the house rules

390 and an operator shall not conduct sports wagering in a manner inconsistent with approved house

391 rules.

392 (b) The house rules, together with any other information the commission deems

393 appropriate, shall be accessible to any patrons of the sports wagering operator. The operator shall

394 make copies readily available to patrons and shall post the house rules as required by the

395 commission, including on a prominent place on the operator’s public website and mobile

396 application or other digital platform.

397 Section 11. (a) An operator shall employ commercially reasonable methods to: (i)

398 prohibit the operator, directors, officers, owners and employees of the operator and any relative

399 living in the same household as any such person from placing bets with the operator; (ii) prohibit

400 athletes, coaches, referees, team owners, employees of a sports governing body or its member

20 of 49

1089211112



401 teams and player and referee union personnel from wagering on any sporting event of their

402 sport’s governing body; provided, however, that the operator shall use lists of such persons that a

403 sports governing body may provide to the commission to determine which persons are excluded

404 from placing wagers under this subsection; and provided ftirther, that the commission may use

405 the list of barred employees from the operator and may work directly with a member team to

406 determine the risk posed by certain employees for obtaining nonpublic confidential information

407 on a sporting event and may remove an employee without knowledge of team strategy or game

408 operations from such a list if the commission determines any such risk is de minimis; (iii)

409 prohibit any individual with access to nonpublic confidential information held by the operator

410 from placing wagers with the operator; (iv) prohibit persons from placing wagers as agents or

411 proxies for others; and (v) maintain the security of wagering data, customer data and other

412 confidential information from unauthorized access and dissemination; provided, however, that

413 nothing in this chapter shall preclude the use of internet or cloud-based hosting of such data and

414 information or disclosure as required by court order, other law or this chapter; and provided

415 ffirther, that such data and information shall be hosted in the United States.

416 (b) A sports governing body or players association representing athletes who participate

417 in sporting events of the sports governing body may submit to the commission, in writing, by

4 18 providing notice in a form and manner as the commission may require, a request to restrict, limit

419 or exclude a certain type, form or category of sports wagering with respect to sporting events of

420 the sports governing body, if the sports governing body or players association believes that such

421 type, form or category of sports wagering with respect to sporting events of the sports governing

422 body: (i) is contrary to public policy; (ii) unfair to consumers; (iii) may undermine the perceived

423 integrity of the sports governing body, sporting events of the sports governing body or the

21 of49

1089211112



424 aihletes participating therein; or (iv) affects the integrity of the sports governing body or sporting

425 events of the sports governing body or the athletes participating therein.

426 The commission shall request comment from operators on all such requests. After giving

427 due consideration to all comments received, the commission shall, upon a demonstration of good

428 cause from the requestor, grant the request. The commission shall respond to a request

429 concerning a particular event before the start of the event or, if it is not feasible to respond before

430 the start of the event, not later than 7 days after the request is made; provided, however, that if

431 the commission determines that the requestor is more likely than not to prevail in successftilly

432 demonstrating good cause for its request, the commission may provisionally grant the request

433 until the commission makes a final determination as to whether the requestor has demonstrated

434 good cause. Absent a provisional grant by the commission, an operator may continue to offer

435 sports wagering on sporting events that are the subject of a request during the pendency of the

436 consideration of the applicable request.

437 (c) The commission shall designate a state law enforcement entity to have primary

438 responsibility for conducting, or assisting the commission in conducting, investigations into

439 abnormal betting activity, match fixing and other conduct that corrupts a betting outcome of a

440 sporting event for purposes of financial gain.

441 (d) The commission and operators shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate

442 with investigations conducted by sports governing bodies or law enforcement agencies,

443 including, but not limited to, using commercially reasonable efforts to provide or facilitate the

444 provision of anonymized account-level betting information and audio or video files relating to

445 persons placing wagers. All disclosures under this section are subject to the obligation of an

22 of 49

1089211112



446 operator to comply with all federal, state and local laws and regulations, including, but not

447 limited to, laws and regulations relating to privacy and personally identifiable information.

448 (e) An operator shall immediately report to the commission any information relating to:

449 (i) criminaL or disciplinary proceedings commenced against the operator in connection with its

450 operations; (ii) abnormal betting activity or patterns that may indicate a concern with the

451 integrity ofa sporting event; (iii) any potential breach of the internal rules and codes of conduct

452 pertaining to sports wagering of a relevant sports governing body; (iv) any other conduct that

453 corrupts a betting outcome of a sporting event for purposes of financial gain, including, but not

454 limited to, match fixing; or (v) suspicious or illegal wagering activities, including, but not limited

455 to: (A) use of funds derived from illegal activity; (B) wagers to conceal or launder funds derived

456 from illegal activity; (C) use of agents to place wagers; and (D) use of false identification. An

457 operator shall immediately report information relating to conduct described in clauses (H), (Hi)

458 and (iv) of this subsection to the relevant sports governing body.

459 (f) The commission and operators shall maintain the confidentiality of information

460 provided by a sports governing body for purposes of investigating or preventing the conduct

461 described in clauses (H), (iii) and (iv) of subsection (e), unless disclosure is required by this

462 chapter, the commission, other law or court order or unless the sports governing body consents to

463 disclosure.

464 (g) With respect to any information provided by an operator to a sports governing body

465 relating to conduct described in clauses (H), (Hi) and (iv) of subsection (e), a sports governing

466 body shall: (I) only use such information for integrity purposes and shall not use the information

467 for any commercial or other purpose; and (ii) maintain the confidentiality of such information,

23 of49

1089211112



468 unless disclosure is required by this chapter, the commission, other law or court order or unless

469 the operator consents to disclosure; provided, however, that the sports governing body may make

470 any disclosure necessary to conduct and resolve integrity-related investigations and may publicly

471 disclose such information if required by its integrity policies or if deemed by the sports

472 governing body in its reasonable judgment to be necessary to maintain the actual or perceived

473 integrity of its sporting events, and subject in all cases to the sports governing body’s compliance

474 with federal, state and local laws and regulations, including, but not limited to, laws and

475 reguLations relating to privacy and personally identifiable information; and provided further, that

476 prior to any such public disclosure that would identify the operator by name, the sports

477 governing body shall provide the operator with notice of such disclosure and an opportunity to

478 object to such disclosure.

479 (h) An operator shall maintain records of all wagers placed by its patrons, including: (i)

480 personally identifiable information of a patron who places a sports wager through a mobile

481 appLication or other digital platform or a patron who places an in-person sports wager that

482 exceeds an amount determined by the commission; (H) amount and type of the bet; (Hi) the time

483 the bet was placed; (iv) the location of the bet, including the Internet Protocol address if

484 applicable; (v) the outcome of the bet; and (vi) records of abnormal betting activity for 3 years

485 after a sporting event occurs and video camera recordings in the case of in-person wagers for at

486 least I year after a sporting event occurs. An operator shall make these records available for

487 inspection upon request of the commission or as required by court order.

488 (i) An operator shall use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain, in real time and at

489 the account level, anonymized information for each patron, including: (i) the amount and type of

490 bet; (ii) the time the bet was placed; (iii) the location of the bet, including the Internet Protocol

24 of49

1089211112



491 address if applicable; (iv) the outcome of the bet; and (v) records of abnormal betting activity.

492 The commission may request the information in the form and manner as it requires. Nothing in

493 this section shall require an operator to provide any information prohibited by federal, state or

494 local laws or regulations, including, but not limited to, laws and regulations relating to privacy

495 and personally identifiable information.

496 (j) If a sports governing body has notified the commission and demonstrated a need for

497 access to the information described in subsection (i) for wagers placed on sporting events of the

498 sports governing body for integrity monitoring purposes and demonstrated the capability to use

499 the data for the purpose of effectively monitoring the integrity of sporting events of the sports

500 governing body, an operator shall share, in a commercially reasonable frequency, form and

501 manner, with the sports governing body or its designee the same information the operator is

502 required to maintain pursuant to said subsection (i) with respect to sports wagers on sporting

503 events of the sports governing body. A sports governing body and its designee shall only use

504 information received pursuant to this section for integrity-monitoring purposes and shall not use

505 information received pursuant to this section for any commercial or other purpose. Nothing in

506 this section shall require an operator to provide any infornrntion that is prohibited by federal,

507 state or local law or regulation, including, but not limited to, laws and regulations relating to

508 privacy and personally identifiable information.

509 (k)(I) An operator shall conduct a background check on each newly hired employee.

510 Background checks shall search for criminal history, charges or convictions involving corruption

511 or manipulation of sporting events and association with organized crime.

25 of49

1089211112



512 (2) An operator shall conduct a single background check on any employee hired before

513 the operator was issued an operator license. Background checks shall search for criminal history,

514 charges or convictions involving corruption or manipulation of sporting events and association

515 with organized crime.

516 Section 12. (a) An operator shall: (i) employ a monitoring system utilizing software to

517 identi1i irregularities in volume or changes in odds that could signal suspicious activities and

518 promptly report such information to the commission for ftirther investigation; provided,

519 however, that system requirements and specifications shall be developed according to industry

520 standards and implemented by the commission as part of the minimum internaL control

521 standards; (ii) promptly report to the commission any facts or circumstances related to the

522 operation of a sports wagering license that constitute a violation of state or federal law and

523 promptly report to the appropriate state or federal authorities any suspicious betting over a

524 threshold set by the operator that has been approved by the commission; (iii) conduct all sports

525 wagering activities and functions in a manner that does not pose a threat to the public health,

526 safety or welfare of the residents of the commonwealth; (iv) keep current in all payments and

527 ohligations to the commission; (v) prevent any person from tampering or interfering with the

528 operation of any sports wagering; (vi) ensure that mobile sports wagering occurs only using a

529 commission-approved mobile application or other digital platform to accept wagers initiated

530 within the commonwealth; (vii) maintain sufficient cash and other supplies to conduct sports

531 wagering at all times; (viii) maintain daily records showing the gross sports wagering receipts

532 and adjusted gross sports wagering receipts of the operator from sports wagering; (ix) timely file

533 with the commission any additional reports required by this chapter or by any rule or regulation;

26 of49

1089211112



534 and (x) use commercially reasonable efforts to prevent a person under 21 years old from placing

535 a wager.

536 (b) Sports wagering operators may use any data source for determining:

537 (1) the results of any and all tier 1 sports wagers on any and all sporting events; and

538 (2) the results of any and all tier 2 sports wagers on sporting events of an organization

539 that is not headquartered in the United States.

540 (c) A sports governing body may notify the commission that it desires sports wagering

541 operators to use official league data to settle tier 2 sports wagers on sporting events of such

542 sports governing body. The notification shall be made in the form and manner as the commission

543 may require. Within 5 days of receipt of the notification, the commission shall notify each sports

544 wagering operator of the requirement to use official league data to settle tier 2 sports wagers. If a

545 sports governing body does not notify the commission of its desire to supply official league data,

546 a sports wagering operator may use any data source for determining the results of any and all tier

547 2 sports wagers on sporting events of the sports governing body.

548 (d) Within 60 days of the commission noti/ing a sport wagering operator of the

549 requirement to use official league data to settle tier 2 sports wagers pursuant to subsection (c), or

550 such longer period as may be agreed between the sports governing body and the applicable

551 sports wagering operator, a sports wagering operator shall use only official league data to

552 determine the results of tier 2 sports wagers on sporting events of that sports governing body,

553 unlcss:

27 of 49

1089211112



554 (1) the sports governing body or its designee cannot provide a feed of official league data

555 to determine the results of a particular type of tier 2 sports wager, in which case a sports

556 wagering operator may use any data source for determining the results of the applicable tier 2

557 sports wager until such time a data feed becomes available from the sports governing body on

558 commercially reasonable tents and conditions; or

559 (2) a sports wagering operator can demonstrate to the commission that the sports

560 governing body or its designee will not provide a feed of official league data to the sports

561 wagering operator on commercially reasonable terms and conditions.

562 (e) In evaluating whether official league data is offered on commercially reasonable

563 tents and conditions for purposes of paragraphs (1) and (2) of subsection (d), the commission

564 may consider factors, including, but not limited to:

565 (1) the availability’ of official league data to a sports wagering operator from more than 1

566 authorized source;

567 (2) market information, including, but not limited to, price and other terms and conditions

568 regarding the purchase by sports wagering operators of comparable data for the purpose of

569 settling sports wagers in the commonwealth and otherjurisdictions;

570 (3) the nature and quantity of data, including the quality and complexity of the process

571 used for collecting the data; and

572 (4) the extent to which a sports governing body or its designee has made data used to

573 settle her 2 wagers available to sports wagering operators and any tents and conditions relating

574 to the use of that data.

28 of49

1089211112



575 (0 Notwithstanding subsection (d) or any provision of this subsection to the contrary,

576 during the pendency of the determination of the commission as to whether a sports governing

577 body or its designee may provide official league data on commercially reasonable terms, a sports

578 wagering operator may use any data source to determine the results of tier 2 sports wagers. The

579 determination shall be made within 120 days of the sports wagering operator notifñng the

580 commission that it requests to demonstrate that the sports governing body or its designee will not

581 provide a feed of official league data to the sports wagering operator on commercially reasonable

582 terms.

583 (g) A sports governing body may enter into commercial agreements with a sports

584 wagering operator or other entity in which such sports governing body may share in the amount

585 wagered or revenues derived from sports wagering on sporting events of the sports governing

586 body. A sports governing body shall not be required to obtain a license or any other approval

587 from the commission to lawflñly accept such amounts or revenues.

588 Section 13. (a) Holders of category I and category 2 licenses may accept wagers on

589 sports events and other events authorized pursuant to this chapter in person at authorized

590 facilities.

591 (b) Holders of an operator license may accept wagers on sports events and other events

592 authorized pursuant to this chapter from individuals physically located within the commonwealth

593 using mobile applications or digital platforms approved by the commission, through the patron’s

594 sports wagering account. The branding for each mobile application or digital platform shall be

595 determined by the operator. All bets authorized pursuant to this section must be initiated,

596 received and otherwise made within the commonwealth. Consistent with the intent of the federal

29 of49

1089211112



597 Unlawful Internet Gambling Enforcement Act of 2006,31 U.S.C. section 5361 to 5367,

598 inclusive, the intermediate routing of electronic data related to a lawful intrastate wager

599 authorized pursuant to this chapter shall not determine the location or locations in which the

600 wager is initiated, received or otherwise made.

601 (c) An operator may: (I) accept wagers placed by other operators and (ii) place wagers

602 with other operators; provided, that any operator that places a wager with another operator shall

603 inform the operator accepting the wager that the wager is being placed by an operator and shall

604 disclose the operator’s identity.

605 (d) An operator shall not accept: (i) a wager from a person who is less than 21 years of

606 age; or (ii) a credit card.

607 (e)(1) The commission or operator may ban any person from participating in the play or

608 operation of any sports wagering consistent with rules and regulations promulgated by the

609 commission. A list of all excluded patrons shall be kept by the commission and provided to each

610 licensee. No patron on the exclusion list shall be permitted to conduct sports wagering pursuant

611 to this chapter.

612 (2) The commission shall establish a list of self-excluded persons from spoils wagering.

613 A person may request their name to be placed on the list of self-excluded persons by filing a

614 statement with the commission acknowledging that they are a problem gambler and by agreeing

615 that, during any period of voluntary exclusion, they shall not collect any winnings or recover any

616 losses resulting from any sports wagering. The commission shall adopt further regulations for the

617 self-excluded persons list including procedures for placement, removal and transmittal of the list

618 to sports wagering operators. The commission may revoke, limit, condition, suspend or fine a

30 of49

1089211112



619 sports wagering operator if the operator knowingly or recklessly fails to exclude or eject from its

620 premises any person placed on the list of self-excluded persons. The list of self-excluded persons

621 from sports wagering shall not be open to public inspection.

622 (3) An operator that operates sports wagering through a mobile application or other

623 digital platform may allow patrons to set self-imposed limitations on sports wagering when the

624 patron joins the mobile application or digital platform.

625 (f) No employee may place a sports wager at any facility or through any mobile

626 application or digital platform owned or operated by their employer.

627 (g) Sections 24, 24A and 27 of chapter 10 of the General Laws shall not apply to an

628 operator conducting sports wagering in accordance with this chapter.

629 (h) Unclaimed winning sports wagers shall be retained by the operator for the person

630 entitled to the wager for 1 year after the game or event in which the wager was won. If no claim

631 is made for the wager within 1 year, the cash or equivalent cash value of the wager shall be

632 deposited in the Sports Wagering Control Fund established in section 15.

633 Section 14. (a) An excise is hereby imposed upon sports wagering operators in the

634 commonwealth at the rate of: (i) 15 per cent of the operator’s adjusted gross sports wagering

635 receipts from the operation of in-person sports wagering; (ii) 20 per cent of the operator’s

636 adjusted gross sports wagering receipts from the operation of sports wagering through mobile

637 applications and other digital platforms approved by the commission; and (iii) IS per cent of the

638 adjusted gross fantasy wagering receipts of a person or entity that offers fantasy contests, as

639 defined in section 11 MW The accrual method of accounting shall be used for purposes of

31 of49

1089211112



640 calculating the amount of the tax owed by the licensee. The excise shall be paid to the

641 commission at the time provided for filing the return pursuant to subsection (b).

642 (b)(1) The excise imposed and collected pursuant to subsection (a) shall be due

643 and payable to the commission in monthly installments on or before the fifteenth calendar day

644 following the calendar month in which the adjusted gross sports wagering receipts were received.

645 (2) On or before the fifteenth calendar day of each month, the operator shall complete and

646 submit the return for the preceding month by electronic communication to the commission in a

647 form prescribed by the commission that provides:

648 (i) the total gross sports wagering receipts and adjusted gross sports wagering receipts

649 from operation of sports wagering during that month;

650 (ii) the total gross fantasy wagering receipts and adjusted gross fantasy wagering receipts

651 from the offering of fantasy contests, as defined in section 1 IMV2 of chapter 12, during that

652 month;

653 (iii) the tax amount for which an operator or a person or entity that offers fantasy

654 contests, as defined in said section I IM’/2 of said chapter 12, is liable; and

655 (iv) any additional information necessary in the computation and collection of the tax on

656 adjusted gross sports wagering receipts and adjusted gross fantasy wagering receipts required by

657 the commission.

658 (3) The excise amount shown to be due shall be remitted by electronic funds transfer

659 simultaneously with the filing of the return.

32 of49

1089211112



660 (4) When an operator’s adjusted gross sports wagering receipts for a month is a negative

661 number because the winnings paid to wagerers and excise taxes paid pursuant to federal law

662 exceed the operator’s total gross receipts from sports wagering, the commission shall allow the

663 operator to carry over the negative amount to returns filed for subsequent months. The negative

664 amount of adjusted gross sports wagering receipts shall not be carried back to an earlier month

665 and taxes previously received by the commission shall not be refunded unless the operator

666 surrenders its license and the operator’s last return reported negative adjusted gross sports

667 wagering receipts.

668 (c) The excise on adjusted gross sports wagering receipts imposed by this section shall be

669 in lieu of all other state and local taxes and fees imposed on the operation of, or the proceeds

670 from operation of, sports wagering.

671 (d) Annually, not later than July 1, the commission shall publish on its website a report

672 stating the amount in fees, surcharges and civil penalties received from operators and taxes

673 received from operators and from people or entities that offer fantasy contests, as defined in

674 section 1 IM’/2 of chapter 12.

675 Section 15. (a) There shall be established and set up on the books of the commonwealth a

676 separate fund to be known as the Sports Wagering Control Fund. The commission shall be the

677 trustee of the fund and shall expend money to finance the operational activities of the

678 commission pertaining to sports wagering. The fund shall be credited with: (i) any appropriation,

679 bond proceeds or other monies authorized by the general court and specifically designated to be

680 credited thereto; (ii) the proceeds of any fees collected pursuant to this section unless otherwise

681 specified; (iii) fees collected pursuant to sections 7 and 8; (iv) breaks; and (v) such additional

33 of49

1089211112



682 funds as are subject to the direction and control of the commission. All available money in the

683 fund that is unexpended at the end of each fiscal year shall not revert to the General Fund and

684 shall be available for expenditure in the subsequent fiscal year.

685 (b) The commission shall establish fees for any investigation into a violation of this

686 chapter or regulation promulgated hereunder by a sports wagering operator to be paid by the

687 sports wagering operator including, but not limited to, billable hours by commission staff

688 involved in the investigation and the costs of services, equipment or other expenses that are

689 incurred by the commission during the investigation.

690 (c) Any remaining costs of the commission necessary to maintain regulatory control over

691 sports wagering operators that are not covered by: (1) the fees set forth in subsection (b); (H) any

692 other fees assessed pursuant to this chapter; or (Hi) any other designated sources of funding, shalt

693 be annually assessed on sports wagering operators pursuant to this chapter in proportion to each

694 operator’s share of the commonwealth’s total adjusted gross sports wagering receipts. Each

695 operator shall pay the amount assessed against the operator not more than 30 days after the date

696 of the notice of assessment from the commission.

697 (d) If the fees collected pursuant to subsections (b) and (c) exceed the cost required to

698 maintain regulatory control, the surplus ftinds shall be credited in proportional shares against

699 each sports wagering operator’s next assessment.

700 (e) The commission shall annually assess and collect a $1,000,000 fee in shares to be

701 determined by the commission against each sports wagering operator that is not a category 1 or

702 category 2 gaming licensee, as defined in section 2 of chapter 23K. The fee collected pursuant to

703 this subsection shall be deposited into the Public Health Trust Fund established in section 58 of

34 of49

1089211112



704 said chapter 23K and shall be used for the costs of services and public health programs provided

705 for in said section 58 of said chapter 23K.

706 Section 16. (a) The commission may assess a civil administrative penalty on an operator

707 who fails to comply with any provision of this chapter, house rules or any regulation or order

708 adopted by the commission; provided, however, that the noncompliance shall have occurred afier

709 the commission has given such operator written notice of the noncompliance and the time stated

710 in the notice for coming into compliance has elapsed; provided further, that the commission may

711 assess a penalty without providing written notice if the failure to comply: (I) was part of a pattern

712 of noncompliance and not an isolated instance; (H) was wiflffil or neglectful and not the result of

713 error; (iii) resulted in a significant breach to the integrity of the operator or the sports wagering

714 laws of the commonwealth; or (iv) consisted of failure to promptly report to the commission any

715 knowledge of evidence or circumstances that would cause a reasonable person to believe that a

716 violation of this chapter has been committed. The civil administrative penalty shall be in addition

717 to any other civil penalty that may be prescribed by law.

718 (b) For the purpose of determining whether such noncompliance was part of a pattern of

719 noncompliance and not an isolated instance, the commission shall consider, but not be limited to;

720 (i) whether the commission had previously notified the operator of such noncompliance on more

721 than I occasion during the previous month or of any noncompliance with the same provision of a

722 law, regulation, order, license or approval as the current noncompliance during the previous 6-

723 month period; or (H) whether the current and previous instances of noncompliance, considered

724 together, indicate a potential threat to the integrity of the operator and sports wagering in the

725 commonwealth or an interference with the commission’s ability to efficiently and effectively

726 regulate sports wagering in the commonwealth and enforce any regulation, license or order. If an

35 of49

1089211112



727 operator that has received a notice of noncompliance fails to come into compliance within the

728 time period stated in the notice, the civil administrative penalty may be assessed by the

729 commission upon the operator from the date of receipt of such notice.

730 (c) If the commission seeks to assess a civil administrative penalty on an operator, the

731 commission shall cause to be sewed upon the operator, by service in hand or by certified mail,

732 return receipt requested, a written notice of its intent to assess a civil administrative penalty that

733 shall include: (i) a concise statement of the alleged act or omission for which such civil

734 administrative penalty is sought to be assessed; (ii) each law, regulation, order, license or

735 approval that has not been complied with as a result of such alleged act or omission; (iii) the

736 amount that the commission seeks to assess as a civil administrative penalty for each alleged act

737 or omission; (iv) a statement of the operator’s right to an adjudicatory hearing on the proposed

738 assessment; (v) the requirements the operator shall comply with to avoid being deemed to have

739 waived the right to an adjudicatory hearing; and (vi) the manner of payment thereof if the

740 operator elects to pay the penalty’ and waive an adjudicatory hearing. After written notice of

741 noncompliance or intent to assess a civil administrative penalty has been given, each day

742 thereafter during which noncompliance occurs or continues shall constitute a separate offense

743 and shall be subject to a separate civil administrative penalty if reasonable efforts have not been

744 made by the operator to promptly come into compliance.

745 (d) If the commission seeks to assess a civil administrative penalty on an operator, the

746 operator shall have the right to an adjudicatory hearing under chapter 30A, the provisions of

747 which shall apply except when they are inconsistent with the provisions of this chapter.

36 of49

1089211112



748 (e) An operator shall be deemed to have waived its right to an adjudicatory hearing

749 unless, not more than 21 days after the date of the commission’s notice that the commission

750 seeks to assess a civil administrative penalty, the operator files with the commission a written

751 statement denying the occurrence of any of the acts or omissions alleged by the commission in

752 the notice or asserting that the amount of the proposed civil administrative penalty is excessive.

753 In an adjudicatory hearing authorized under chapter 30A, the commission shall be required to

754 prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, the occurrence of each act or omission alleged by the

755 commission in the notice.

756 (f) If an operator waives the right to an adjudicatory hearing, the proposed civil

757 administrative penalty shall be final immediately upon such waiver. If a civil administrative

758 penalty is assessed at the conclusion of an adjudicatory hearing, the civil administrative penalty

759 shall be final upon the expiration of30 days unless an action for judicial review of the decision is

760 commenced under chapter 30A.

761 (g) An operator who institutes proceedings forjudicial review of the final assessment of a

762 civil administrative penalty shall place the Ml amount of the final assessment in an interest-

763 bearing escrow account in the custody of the clerk or magistrate of the reviewing court. The

764 establishment of an interest-bearing escrow account shall be a condition precedent to the

765 jurisdiction of the reviewing court unless the party seeking judicial review demonstrates, in a

766 preliminary hearing held not more than 20 days after the filing of the complaint, the presence of

767 a substantial question for review by the court or the operator’s inability to pay. Upon such a

768 demonstration, the court may grant an extension or waiver of the interest-bearing escrow account

769 requirement or may require, in lieu of such interest-bearing escrow account, the posting ofa

37 of 49

1089211112



770 bond payable directly to the commonwealth in the amount of 125 per cent of the assessed

771 penalty.

772 If, afterjudicial review, in a case where the escrow account requirement has been waived,

773 and in cases where a bond has been posted in lieu of such requirement, the court affirms, in

774 whole or in part, the assessment ofa civil administrative penalty, the commission shall be paid

775 the amount thereof together with interest at the rate provided in section 6C of chapter 231. If,

776 afterjudicial review in a case where an interest-bearing escrow account has been established, the

777 court affirms the assessment of such penalty, in whole or in part, the commission shall be paid

778 the amount thereof together with the accumulated interest in the interest-bearing escrow account.

779 If the court sets aside the assessment of a civil administrative penalty in a case where the amount

780 of such penalty has been deposited in an interest-bearing escrow account, the operator on whom

781 [he civil administrative penalty was assessed shall be repaid the amount so set aside, together

782 with the accumulated interest thereon.

783 (h) Each operator who fails to timely pay a civil administrative penalty and each operator

784 who issues a bond under this section and fails to timely pay to the commission the amount

785 required for the bond, shall be liable to Ehe commonwealth for up to 3 times the amount of the

786 civil administrative penalty, together with costs, plus interest accrued from the time the civil

787 administrative penalty became final and attorneys’ fees, including all costs and attorneys fees

788 incurred directly in the collection of the penalty. The rate of interest shall be the rate provided in

789 section 6C of chapter 231. The commission may require that the amount of a civil administrative

790 penalty imposed under this section exceed any economic benefit realized by a person.

38 of 49

1089211112



791 (1) The commission may impose conditions on, suspend or revoke an operator’s license or

792 reprimand or assess a fine on an operator upon a finding that the operator: (i) has committed a

793 criminal or civil offense under this chapter or under any other law; (ii) is not in compliance with

794 sports wagering regulations promulgated pursuant to this chapter; (iii) is under criminal

795 investigation in another jurisdiction; (iv) has breached a condition of licensure; (v) has affiliates,

796 close associates or employees that are not qualified or licensed under this chapter with whom the

797 operator continues to conduct business or employ; (vi) is no longer capable of maintaining

798 operations as a sports wagering operator; or (vii) whose business practice, upon a determination

799 by the commission, is injurious to the policy objectives of this chapter.

800 Section 17. There shall be established and set up on the books of the commonwealth a

801 Sports Wagering Fund which shall receive revenues collected pursuant to sections 6 and 14. The

802 commission shall be the trustee of the hind and shall transfer monies from the hind as follows:

803 (1) 45 per cent to the General Fund;

804 (2) 17.5 per cent to the Workforce Investment Trust Fund established in section 18;

805 (3) 27.5 per cent to the Gaming Local Aid Fund established in section 63 of section 23K;

806 (4) 1 per cent to the Youth Development and Achievement Fund established in section

807 19; and

808 (5)9 per cent to the Public Health Trust Fund established in section 58 of section 23K.

809 Section 18. (a) There is hereby established and set up on the books of the commonwealth

810 a separate hind to be known as the Workforce Investment Trust Fund. There shall be credited to

811 the hind any sports wagering revenue transferred from the Sports Wagering Fund pursuant to

39 of49

1089211112



812 section 16. Monies transferred to the hind shall be continuously expended, without regard for

813 fiscal year, exclusively for carrying out the purposes of this section. Money remaining in the

814 fund at the end of a fiscal year shall not revert to the General Fund.

815 (b) The fund shall be administered by the secretary of housing and economic

816 development. Money in the hind shall be competitively granted to develop and strengthen

817 workforce opportunities for low-income communities and vulnerable youth and young adults in

818 the commonwealth, including providing opportunities and strategies to promote stable

819 employment and wage growth.

820 (c) Eligible grant recipients shall provide opportunities which: (i) target at risk youth,

821 including resources to empower youth to succeed in ihe workforce; (ii) provide job skills

822 trainings, including programs offering trainings in multiple languages and areas for development,

823 including education and hands on skills; (iii) promote adult literacy, including strategies to

824 master reading and writing and providing digital formats to increase accessibility; and (iv)

825 provide English language learning programs to promote access to the workforce. The secretary

826 of housing and economic development shall establish criteria to evaluate applications for the

827 grant program; provided, that the criteria shall include, but shall not be limited to, at risk

828 populations; provided further, that preference shall be given to eligible grant recipients providing

829 opportunities for individuals who meet at least 2 of the following: (i) is under 30 years of age;

830 (ii) is a victim of violence; (iii) is over 18 years of age and does not have a high school diploma;

831 (iv) has been convicted of a felony; (v) has been unemployed or has had a family income below

832 250 per cent of the federal poverty level for not less than 6 months; (vi) lives in a census tract

833 where over 20 per cent of the populations fall below the federal poverty line; or (vii) is an

834 immigrant, refugee or person of color.

40 of49

1089211112



835 (d) Annually, not later than October 1, the secretary of housing and economic

836 development shall provide a report of the grants given and a breakdown of expenditures made by

837 the fund. The report shall be posted on the website of the executive office of housing and

838 economic development.

839 Section 18. There shall be established and set upon the books of the commonwealth a

840 hind to be known as the Youth Development and Achievement Fund. The hind shall be credited

841 any monies transferred from the Sports Wagering Fund pursuant to section 16 and all monies

842 credited to or transferred to the hind from any other hind or source. Expenditures from the hind

843 shall be subject to appropriation and shall be expended equally for the following purposes:

844 (1) For the purposes of providing financial assistance to students from the commonwealth

845 enrolled in and pursuing a program of higher education in any approved public or independent

846 college, university, school of nursing or any other approved institution furnishing a program of

847 higher education;

848 (2) For the purposes of funding after-school and out-of-school activities, including, but

849 not Limited to, youth athletics and other activities that improve student health, literacy programs,

850 English language learning programs, academic tutoring, art, theater and music programs and

851 community service programs; and

852 (3) For the purposes of providing matching grants to elementary and secondary youth

853 sports, organizations, clubs and other school groups to attend events including, but not limited to,

854 academic events and programs, cultural events and award ceremonies both nationally and

855 internationally.

41 of49

1089211112



856 Section 20. The commission shall conduct a study into the feasibility of allowing retail

857 locations in the commonwealth to operate sports wagering kiosks. The study by the commission

858 shall include, but not bc limited to, an analysis of: (i) the economic impact of this chapter on

859 retail establishments that serve alcoholic beverages for on premises consumption, such as

860 restaurants and bars; (ii) which retail locations have the ability to operate a sports wagering

861 kiosk; (iii) the economic impact to the commonwealth of authorizing retail locations to operate a

862 sports wagering kiosk; (iv) the methods and availability of payouts of winnings by a sports

863 wagering kiosks at retail locations; (v) the public health and safety impacts to the commonwealth

864 of authorizing retail locations to operate a sports wagering kiosk; (vi) the potential effect of

865 sports wagering kiosks at retail locations on problem gaming or gambling; (vii) the impact of

866 sports wagering kiosks at retail locations on minors; (viii) the economic impact of authorizing

867 this method of sports wagering on businesses owned by people of color; (ix) the public health

868 and economic impact of this method of sports wagering as an alternative to the current black

869 market, particularly in communities far from authorized in-person sports wagering; and (x)

870 recommendations to ensure diversity, equity and inclusion are included in this method of sports

871 wagering. As part of the study, the commission shall consult retailers, convenience stores,

872 restaurants, women and minority owned businesses and small business owners. The commission

873 shall report on its findings and submit any recommendations to the clerks of the house and

874 senate, the house and senate committees on ways and means, the joint committee on consumer

875 protection and professional licensure and the joint committee on economic development and

876 emerging technologies no later than December 31, 2022.

877 Section 21. (a) The commission may impose on any person who violates this chapter a

878 civil penalty not to exceed $2,000 for each violation or $5,000 for violations arising from the

42 of 49

1089211112



879 same series of events. Such penalty shall be imposed on all persons and is not limited to persons

880 licensed under this chapter.

881 (b) The commission may condition, suspend, reprimand, assess a fine or revoke an

882 operator license upon a finding that a licensee: (i) has committed a criminal or civil offense

883 under this chapter or under any other laws of the commonwealth; (ii) is not in compliance with

884 sports wagering regulations; (iii) is under criminal investigation in another jurisdiction; (iv) has

885 breached a condition of licensure; (v) has affiliates, close associates or employees that are not

886 qualified or licensed under this chapter with whom the licensee continues to conduct business or

887 employ; (vi) is no longer capable of maintaining operations as a sports wagering operator or data

888 supplier; or (vii) whose business practice, upon a determination by the commission,

889 is injurious to the policy objectives of this chapter.

890 Section 21. (a) Whoever, other than an operator under this chapter, engages in accepting,

891 facilitating or operating a sports wagering operation shall be punished by imprisonment in the

892 house of correction for not more than 90 days or by a fine not to exceed $10,000, or both; and for

893 a second offense, by imprisonment in the house of correction for not more than 6 nionths or by a

894 fine of not more than $50,000, or both; and in the case of a third or subsequent violation by

895 imprisonment in the state prison for not less than 1 but not more than 5 years or by a fine of not

896 less than $25,000 and not more than $100,000, or both.

897 Section 22. An operator shall not discharge, demote, suspend, threaten, harass or in any

898 other manner discriminate against an employee because of any lawful act done by the employee

899 to provide information, cause information to be provided or otherwise assist in an investigation

43 of49

1089211112



900 regarding any conduct that the employee reasonably believes constitutes a violation of this

901 chapter.

902 Section 23. (a) The commission shall develop an annual research agenda in order to

903 understand the social and economic effects of sports wagering in the commonwealth and to

904 obtain scientific information relative to the neuroscience, psychology, sociology, epidemiology

905 and etiology of sports wagering. The secretary of health and human services, with the advice and

906 consent of the commission, may expend funds from the Public Health Trust fund established in

907 section 58 of chapter 23K to implement the objectives of the sports wagering research agenda;

908 provided, however, that the objectives of the sports wagering research agenda shall, to the extent

909 practicable, be substantially similar to the objectives of the research agenda established under

910 section 71 of said chapter 23K. The sports wagering research agenda shall also include, but not

911 be limited to: (i) an assessment of whether problem sports wagering is comorbid with problem

912 gambling; (ii) an assessment as to whether the individuals participating in sports wagering are

913 different than those who participate in other forms of gaming or gambling; (iii) an assessment of

914 the impact of sports wagering on youth under the age of 25; (iv) an assessment of the impacts of

91 5 sports wagering on college athletics and professional sports; and (v) the costs of implementing

916 this chapter.

917 (b) Annually, the commission shall make scientifically-based recommendations that

918 reflect the results of the research under clause (a) to the clerks of the senate and house of

919 representatives, the senate and house committees on ways and means, the joint committee on

920 economic development and emerging technologies, the joint committee on mental health,

921 substance use and recovery and the joint committee on public health. The commission shall

922 consider any such recommendations, research and findings in all decisions related to enhancing

44 of 49

1089211112



923 responsible gambling and mitigating problem sports wagering. The recommendations shall be

924 posted on the commission’s website.

925 SECTION 6. Chapter 128C of the General Laws is hereby amended by inserting the

926 following new section:

927 Section 9. Notwithstanding sections 1 to 8, inclusive, or any other general or special law

928 to the contrary, no racing meeting licensee, including licensees holding racing meetings in

929 connection with a state or county fair as defined in section 1 of chapter l2XA, shalt simulcast or

930 accept a wager on greyhound dog racing, and a running horse racing meeting licensee shall

931 conduct not less than 20 live racing days at a thoroughbred horse racing track, provided, the

932 commission may waive this requirement as necessary and appropriate to ensure the financial

933 ability of the licensee to develop and operate a race track.

934 SECTION 7. Section 1 ofchapter 137 of the General Laws, as appearing in the 2018

935 Official Edition, is hereby amended by inserting after the figure “23K”, in line 3, the following

936 words:- or sports wagering conducted pursuant to chapter 23N.

937 SECTION 8. Section 2 of said chapter 137, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

938 inserting after the figure “23K”, in line 3, the following words:- or an operator who offers sports

939 wagering pursuant to chapter 23N.

940 SECTION 9. Section 3 of said chapter 137, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

941 inserting after the figure “23K”, in line 7, the following words:- or sports wagering conducted

942 pursuant to chapter 23N.

45 of49

1089211112



943 SECTION 10. Section 1 of chapter 271 of the General Laws, as so appearing, is hereby

944 amended by striking out, in line 4, the words “chapter 23K” and inserting in place thereof the

945 following words:- chapters 23K and 23N.

946 SECTION 11. Section 2 of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

947 striking out, in line 4, the words “chapter 23K” and inserting in place thereof the following

948 words:- chapters 23K and 23N.

949 SECTION 12. Section 3 of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

950 striking out, in line 1, the words “chapter 23K” and inserting in place thereof the following

951 words:- chapters 23K and 23N.

952 SECTION 13. Section 5 of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

953 striking out, in line I, the words “chapter 23K” and inserting in place thereof the following

954 words:- chapters 23K and 23N.

955 SECTION 14. Section 5A of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is further amended by

956 inserting after the words “chapter 23K”, in line 32, the following words:- or sports wagering

957 conducted pursuant to chapter 23N.

958 SECTION 15. Section SB of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

959 striking out, in line 58, the words “chapter 23K” and inserting in place thereof the following

960 words:- chapters 23K and 23N.

961 SECTTON 16. Section 8 of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

962 striking out, in lines 10 to 11. the words “other game of chance that is not being conducted in a

963 gaming establishment licensed under chapter 23K” and inserting in place thereof the following

46 of 49

1089211112



964 words:- other game that is not being conducted pursuant to chapter 23K and any other sports

965 wagering that is not being conducted pursuant to chapter 23N.

966 SECTION 17. Section 17 of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

967 inserting after the words “chapter 23K”, in line 27, the following words:- or for the purpose of

968 sports wagering conducted in accordance with chapter 23N.

969 SECTION 18. Said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby further amended by striking

970 out section 17A and inserting in place thereof the following section:-

971 Section 1 7A. Except as permitted under chapter 23N, whoever uses a telephone, internet

972 or other communications technology or, being the occupant in control of premises where a

973 telephone, internet or other communications technology is located or a subscriber for such

974 communications technology, knowingly permits another to use a telephone, internet or other

975 communications technology so located or for which such person subscribes, as the case may be,

976 for the purpose of accepting wagers or bets, or buying or selling of pools, or for placing all or

977 any portion of a wager with another, upon the result of a trial or contest of skill, speed or

978 endurance of man, beast, bird or machine, or upon the result of an athletic game or contest, or

979 upon the lottery called the numbers game, or for the purpose of reporting the same to a

980 headquarters or booking office, or who under another name or otherwise falsely or fictitiously

981 procures telephone, internet or other communications technology service for oneself or another

982 for such purposes, shall be punished by a tine of not more than S2,000 or by imprisonment for

983 not more than 1 year; provided, however, that this section shall not apply to use of telephones or

984 other devices or means to place wagers authorized pursuant to the provisions of section SC of

985 chapter l2SA.

47 of49

1089211112



986 SECTION 19. Section 19 of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

987 inserting after the words “chapter 23K”, in line 19, the following words:- and shall not apply to

988 advertising of sports wagering conducted pursuant to chapter 23N.

989 SECTION 20. Section 20 of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

990 adding the following sentence:- Nothing in this section shall prohibit an operator licensed under

991 chapter 23N from posting, advertising or displaying materials relevant to its sports wagering

992 operations.

993 SECTION 21. Section 23 of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

994 inserting after the words “chapter 23K”, in line 31, the following words:- and shall not apply to

995 sports wagering conducted pursuant to chapter 23N.

996 SECTION 22. Section 27 of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

997 inserting after the word “thereto”, in line 15, the following words:- ; provided, however, that

998 such provisions shall not apply to sports wagering conducting pursuant to chapter 23N.

999 SECTION 23. Section 28 of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

1000 inserting after the word “prescribed”, in line 12, the following words:- provided, however, that

1001 such provisions shall not apply to sports wagering conducted pursuant to chapter 23N.

1002 SECTION 24. Section 42 of said chapter 271, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

1003 inserting after the word “both”, in line 4, the following words:- ; provided, however, that such

1004 provisions shall not apply to sports wagering conducted pursuant to chapter 23N.

1005 SECTION 25. The Massachusetts gaming commission shall conduct a study on the

1006 participation by minority business enterprises, women business enterprises and veteran business

48 of 49

1089211112



1007 enterprises in the sports wagering industry in the commonwealth. The study shall include, but not

1008 be limited to, an analysis of: (i) participation in activities related to the regulation, licensing and

1009 promotion of sports wagering operators; (ii) the level of participation of women, minority and

1010 veteran employees working for sports wagering licensees and employers; (iii) the level of

loll participation by minority-owned and women-owned businesses that contract with or provide

1012 services to sports wagering licensees and employers; (iv) any barriers to employment of women

1013 and minorities in the sports wagering industry; and (v) methods for increasing racial and gender

1014 diversity in the workforce in the sports wagering industry, including whether to set reasonable

1015 and appropriate goals and procedures for increasing the number of minority business enterprises

1016 providing sports wagering industry-related services to sports wagering licensees and employers.

1017 The commission shall report on its findings and submit any recommendations to the clerks of the

1018 senate and house of representatives, the house and senate committees on ways and means, the

1019 joint committee on racial equity, civil rights, and inclusion and the joint committee on economic

1020 development and emerging technologies not later than December31, 2022.

1021 SECTION 26. Section 135 of chapter 219 of the acts of 2016 is hereby repealed.

1022 SECTION 27. Sections 2 and 6 shall take effect I year after the effective date of this act.

49 of49

1089211112



CCIITTYY  ooff  GGAARRDDNNEERR  
OOffffiiccee  ooff  tthhee  CCiittyy  CClleerrkk  

9955  PPlleeaassaanntt  SSttrreeeett,,  RRoooomm  112211  
  GGaarrddnneerr,,  MMAA  0011444400  

**TTeell..  997788--663300--44005588      **FFaaxx::  997788--663300--22558899

CITY OF GARDNER 
NOTICE OF JOINT PUBLIC HEARING 

Pursuant to G.L. 40A, § 5, notice is hereby given that the City Council and Planning Board will 
conduct a Joint Public Hearing on Tuesday, January 16, 2024 at 6:45 P.M. in the City 
Council Chamber, Room 219, City Hall, 95 Pleasant Street, Gardner, to consider amending 
Chapter 675, the Zoning Code of the City of Gardner. The proposed Amendment involves 
changing items: 

11112 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 
thereof, entitled “Zoning,” to Add “Sports Betting” to the Zoning Table of 
Uses. (Submitted by Councillor Dana Heath; In the City Council, 
Referred to Planning Board 12/4/2023, More Time 12/18/2023) 

11113 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 
thereof, entitled “Zoning,” to Amend Section 1070 thereof, entitled, 
“Marijuana Establishments” to Change the Method to Increase the Quota 
Allowed by the Code of the City of Gardner. (Submitted by Councillor 
Dana Heath; In the City Council, Referred to Planning Board 12/4/2023; 
More Time 12/18/2023) 

 Information regarding this amendment is available for viewing in the City Clerk’s Office, the 
Department of Community Development and Planning (DCDP), or on the City’s webpage – 
www.gardner-ma.gov. 

All persons interested in this matter and desire to offer testimony are invited to attend the 
hearing. 

Titi Siriphan 
City Clerk 

11113

http://www.gardner-ma.gov/


11113



AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF THE CITY OF GARDNER, CHAPTER
675 THEREOF, ENTITLED “ZONING,” TO AMEND SECTION 1070 THEREOF,
ENTITLED, “MARIJUANA ESTABLISHMENTS” TO INCREASE THE QUOTE

ALLOWED BY THE CODE OF THE CITY OF GARDNER.

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GARDNER AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1: Subsection (C)(8)(b) of Section 1070 of Chapter 675 of the Code of the City of
Gardner be amended by replacing “20%” with “35%” as follows:

b) The number of marijuana retail establishments shall not exceed 35% of liquor
licenses issued for retail sale of alcohol not consumed on the premises in the City
of Gardner, said number to be rounded up to the next whole number;

SECTION 2: That this ordinance take effect upon passage and publication as required by law.

11113



11113



City of Gardner · Executive Department

Mayor Michael J. Nicholson 

March 29, 2023 

Hon. Elizabeth J. Kazinskas, Council President 
And City Councilors 

Gardner City Hall, Rm 121 
95 Pleasant St 
Gardner, MA 01440 

Mr. Mark Schafron, Chair 
And Planning Board Members 

Gardner City Hall, Manca Annex, Rm 201 
115 Pleasant St 
Gardner, MA 01440 

RE: Written Testimony: Item #10893: An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 
675 thereof, entitled "Zoning," to amend Section 1070 thereof, entitled "Marijuana Establishments" to 
increase the quota allowed by the Code of the City of Gardner 

Dear Madam President, Councilors, Mr. Chairman, and Planning Board Members, 

I am writing in support of the aforementioned zoning amendment proposal. 

When the retail sale of cannabis products was legalized in the Commonwealth in 2019, several 
municipalities, including Gardner, took steps to heavily regulate the industry since we didn't really know 
what would happen once the cannabis industry became legalized. 

Since then we have seen that commercial enterprises like these do not cause as much of a strain on our 
services as we had originally been concerned about and have not been a public safety concern at all for us. 

This proposal seeks to loosen the market constraints in the City and simply let the economic market be 
the market. If the City does not have the capability of handling more up to four (4) retain cannabis stores, 
then the market will correct itself for that. 

An example of this can be seen with the regular tobacco/vape smoke shops that used to exist in the 
Downtown area. These businesses, unregulated in terms of number of facilities that could open in the 
City, were not marketed by the City and simply opened and then consolidated from five (5) to one (1) on 
their own because that was all the market was able to carry. 

The purpose of this amendment, while it also provides a financial benefit to the City through statutorily 
required sales tax and host community agreement fees, is simply to relax some of the regulations placed 
on this industry and let the City's economy play itself out. This does still regulate the retail cannabis 
industry to four (4) locations, but it at least looses the restriction of only being able to allow two (2) 
locations in the City. 

Respectfully, 

�� 
Michael J. Nicholson 
Mayor, City of Gardner 

11113



CCIITTYY  ooff  GGAARRDDNNEERR  
OOffffiiccee  ooff  tthhee  CCiittyy  CClleerrkk  

9955  PPlleeaassaanntt  SSttrreeeett,,  RRoooomm  112211  
  GGaarrddnneerr,,  MMAA  0011444400  

**TTeell..  997788--663300--44005588      **FFaaxx::  997788--663300--22558899

CITY OF GARDNER 
NOTICE OF JOINT PUBLIC HEARING, continued 

Pursuant to G.L. 40A, § 5, notice is hereby given that the City Council and Planning Board will 
conduct a Joint Public Hearing on Monday, April 3, 2023 at 6:30 P.M. in the City Council 
Chamber, Room 219, City Hall, 95 Pleasant Street, Gardner, to consider amending Chapter 675, 
the Zoning Code of the City of Gardner. The proposed Amendment involves changing items: 

• 10891 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 Thereof,
entitled “Zoning,” to Change the Classification of Certain Parcels of Land Along Route
140.

• 10892 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 thereof,
entitled “Zoning,” to add “Sports Betting” to the Zoning Table of Uses.

• 10893 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 thereof,
entitled “Zoning,” to Amend Section 1070 thereof, entitled, “Marijuana Establishments”
to increase the quota allowed by the Code of the City of Gardner

 Information regarding this amendment is available for viewing in the City Clerk’s Office, the 
Department of Community Development and Planning (DCDP), or on the City’s webpage – 
www.gardner-ma.gov. 

All persons interested in this matter and desire to offer testimony are invited to attend the 
hearing. 

Titi Siriphan 
City Clerk 

1089311113



 
        

CCIITTYY  ooff  GGAARRDDNNEERR  

OOffffiiccee  ooff  tthhee  CCiittyy  CClleerrkk  
9955  PPlleeaassaanntt  SSttrreeeett,,  RRoooomm  112211  

              GGaarrddnneerr,,  MMAA  0011444400  

**TTeell..  997788--663300--44005588      **FFaaxx::  997788--663300--22558899  
 
 

 

  

CITY OF GARDNER 

NOTICE OF JOINT PUBLIC HEARING 

 

 

Pursuant to G.L. 40A, § 5, notice is hereby given that the City Council and Planning Board will 

conduct a Joint Public Hearing on Monday, March 20, 2023 at 6:30 P.M. in the City Council 

Chamber, Room 219, City Hall, 95 Pleasant Street, Gardner, to consider amending Chapter 675, 

the Zoning Code of the City of Gardner. The proposed Amendment involves changing items: 

 

• 10891 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 Thereof, 

entitled “Zoning,” to Change the Classification of Certain Parcels of Land Along Route 

140. 

• 10892 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 thereof, 

entitled “Zoning,” to add “Sports Betting” to the Zoning Table of Uses.   

• 10893 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 thereof, 

entitled “Zoning,” to Amend Section 1070 thereof, entitled, “Marijuana Establishments” 

to increase the quota allowed by the Code of the City of Gardner 

 

 Information regarding this amendment is available for viewing in the City Clerk’s Office, the 

Department of Community Development and Planning (DCDP), or on the City’s webpage – 

www.gardner-ma.gov. 

 

All persons interested in this matter and desire to offer testimony are invited to attend the 

hearing. 

 

 

 

 
Titi Siriphan 

City Clerk 

 
                                                     

 

10893 11113



City of Gardner - Executive Department
Mayor Michael J. Nicholson

Hon. Elizabeth J. Kazinskas, Council President
And City Councilors

Gardner City Hall, Rm 121
95 Pleasant St
Gardner, MA 01440

RE: An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 675 thereof, entitled
“Zoning,” to amend Section 1070 thereof, entitled, “Marijuana Establishments” to increase the
quota allowed by the Code of the City of Gardner.

Dear Madam President and Councilors.

As you are aware, in 2018, the retail sale of cannabis products became legalized in the
Commonwealth.

When the City adopted the sale of Marijuana into our ordinances in November of 2018, the
ordinances limited the number of establishments that could open in the City for the retail sale of
cannabis to twenty percent (20%) of “license issues for retail sale of alcohol not consumed on the
premises.” (Code of the City of Gardner 675-1070(C)(8)(b)).

Whereas the City is currently issued ten (10) liquor licenses that fit this category, this provision
of the City Code limited the number of retail cannabis locations to two (2) locations in the City.

One of the main reasons this quota limit was drafted was due to uncertainty as to how this new
market would run its course in the City and the Commonwealth as a whole. However, since then,
we have seen that these businesses do not provide a detriment to the City, and have seen the
financial benefit the City receives from this as well.

The City currently has one retail location open with Sanctuary, with a second location — Bloc
Cannabis — permitted at the Timpany Crossroads location.

This attached ordinance amendment proposal would increase the number of Locations allowed in
the Ciw from two (2) to four (4). It is the belief of the Administration that this would allow more
economic activity in the City based on inquiries that we have seen, keep the industry within a
workable range that we are seeing in market trends with the cannabis industry’ around the
Commonwealth, and done with the full support of our public safety departments.

Respectfully Submitted.

Michael J. Nicholson
Mayor, City of Gardner

CC:
City Council Public Welfare Committee
Planning Board

February 3, 2023

1089311113



CITY OF GARDNER POLICE DEPARTMENT
200 Main Street

Gardner, Massachusetts 01440
Phone: (972) 632-5600

Fax: (978) 632-9045

Nicholas P. Maroni
Deputy Chief of Police

February 2,2023

The Honorable Michael J. Nicholson, Mayor
Gardner City Hall
95 Pleasant Street
Gardner, MA 01440

Re: Retail Marijuana Ordinance

Dear Mayor,

After reviewing the proposed ordinance change from two retail dispensary licenses to four, I do not see anyissue with thi5 particular change moving forward. Retail marijuana dispensaries have been operating in the state for thepast few years and are closely monitored and regulated by the Cannabis Control Commi5sion. Any retail dispensariesare required to have pre-determined surveillance camera coverage (inside and outside) and purpose-built safes forstored retail product. This is in addition to physical security during operating hours.

The Gardner Police Department has responded to calls at the current recreational retail dispensary, but the vastmajority of the calls are general service calls (accidents, lockouts, burglar alarms, etc.). The police department rarelydeals with anything else there.

We have conducted “compliance checks” at Sanctuary using underage youths to enter and purchase cannabisproducts. Sanctuary has never failed a compliance check. In fact, no youth has ever made it past the front door. I havespoken to law enforcement in other host dispensary locations and have not heard of any major issues.

If there are any further questions or concerns, please do not hesitate to contact me.

Very truly yours,

Eric P. McAvene
Chief of Police

Eric P. McAvene
Chief of Police

1089311113



Feb. 7. 2023

RE: Marijuana Retail Establishments

Dear Mr. Mayor,

City of Gardner
Department of Inspectional Services

115 Pleasant Street, Room 101
Gardner, MA 01440

Tel. (978) 630-4007 Fax: (978) 632-3313

I believe the text amendment regarding the number of Marijuana Retail Establishments will only increase opportunities in
the City for revenue, and jobs. From a Zoning standpoint I have seen no ill effects from the existing Marijuana Facility. I
currently have an application for a Building permit for a second facility which would leave us with no additional licenses.
This would in effect tie our hands regarding further growth. I am in full support ofihis proposal.

Do not hesitate to contact me should you need any further assistance.

Roland Jean
Building Commissioner/Zoning Enforcement Officer
City Hall Annex
115 Pleasant St. RM 101
Gardner, MA 01440
(978) 630 4007
rjean@gardner-rna.gov

Mission Statement
To promote the safe and compatible development of the community through fair and consistent enforcement of

building codes and zoning ordinances

1089311113



Mayor

From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Hi Mike

Here you go.

John Richard
Wednesday, February 1, 2023 11:14AM
Mayor
Marijuana Fees History

Description 2023 Actual 2022 Actual 2021 Actual 2020 Actual 2019 Actual
MARIJUANA HCA FEES $ 26,367.11 $ 124,076.56 $ 132,015.11 $ 118,394.64 547,072.12
MARIJUANASALESEXCISETAX $104,773.64 $237,668.25 $ 306,969.74 $ 383,850.54 $50,330.46
TOTAL $131,140.75 $361,744.81 $ 438,984.85 $ 502,245.18 $97,402.58

John Richard
City Auditor

[__
95 Pleasant Street, Room 114
Gardner, MA 01440-2630
978-632-1900 ext 8020

1

1089311113



Mayor

From: Ashley Metivier
Sent: Wedne5day, February 1,2023 11:04AM
To: Mayor
Subject: Liquor Retail - Not Consumed on Premise

Hi Mike,

We have 10 locations licensed as retail sale, not consumed on premises:

Malt/Wine Packaged Goods
Town Convenience, 13 Pine St
BP, 221 Main St
South Gardner Mini Mart, 94S. Main St
Jays Variety, 32 E. Broadway
Price Chopper, 500 Main St

All Alcohol Packaged Goods
Beauregard Liquors, 11 West St
Brazells, 201 Pleasant St
Hannaford, 14-20 Timpany Blvd
Gardner Spirits, 364 Timpany Blvd
Anthony’s, 12 Pearson Blvd

Let me know if you need any more informationl

Ashley Metivier
Administrative Assistant/License Commission Clerk
City of Gardner
95 Pleasant St, Room 29
Gardner, MA 01440
P: 978-630-4013 Ext 8042
F: 978-632-4682
E: AMetiviergardner-ma.gov

confidentiality Notice: This email message, including any attachments, is for the use of the intended recipient(s) only and may contain informationthat is privileged, confidential, and prohibited from unauthori2ed disclosure under applicable law. If you are not the intended recipient of thismessage, any dissemination, distribution, or copying of this message is strictly prohibited. If you received this message in error, please notify thesender by reply email and destroy all copies of the original message and attachments. Please be advised that the Massachusetts Secretary of Stateconsiders e-mail to be a public record, and therefore subject to public access under the Massachusetts Public Records law, MilL c. 66 section 10

1

1089311113



Select Language V

C OI7Cn

O City of Gardner; MA
1t7 0 /7 C,,ç,, Friday, Febwanj 3, 2023

Chapter 675. Zoning

Article X. Supplemental Regulations

§ 675-1070. Marijuana establishments.

A. Purpose.

(1) To provide for the placement of marijuana establishments in appropriate places and under conditions
in accordance with the provisions of MGL c. 94G.

(2) To minimize the adverse impacts of marijuana establishments on adjacent properties, residential
neighborhoods, schools and other places where children congregate, local historic districts, and other
sensitive land uses potentially incompatible with said establishments.

(3) To regulate the siting, design, placement, security, safety, monitoring, modification, and discontinuance
of marijuana establishments.

B. Applicability.

(1) No marijuana establishment shall be established except in compliance with the provisions of § 675-
410 (Schedule of permitted uses) and this § 675-1070 (Marijuana establishments).

(2) Nothing in this section shall be construed to supersede federal and state laws governing the sale and
distribution of Class 1 Controlled Substances.

(3) If any provision of this section or the application of any such provision to any person or circumstance
shall be held invalid, the remainder of this section, to the extent it can be given effect, or the
application of those provisions to persons or circumstances other than those to which it is held invalid,
shall not be affected thereby, and to this end the provisions of this section are severable.

C. General requirements and conditions for all marijuana establishments.

(1) All marijuana establishments shall be contained within a building or structure.

(2) The hours of operation of marijuana establishments shall be set by the special permit granting
authority.

(3) No marijuana establishment property line shall be located within 500 linear feet of a lot line where the
following districts, activity, or uses occur:

(a) (Reserved)t11
[1] Editor’s Note: Former Subsection C(3)(a), regarding nonconforming residential dwellings, was

repealed 9-3-2019 by Ord, No. 1625.

(b) Any church, public or private school or child-care facility; or place where minors frequent (e.g., a
library, ball field, park, sports or family recreation facility, religious facility or the like);

(c) Any other marijuana establishment;

(d) Any drug or alcohol rehabilitation facility; or

(e) Any correctional facility, halfway house or similar facility.

(4) No smoking, burning or consumption of any product containing marijuana or marijuana-related
products shall be permitted on the premises of a marijuana establishment.

1089311113



(5) No marijuana establishment shall be located inside a building containing residential units, including
transient housing such as motels and dormitories, or inside a movable or mobile structure such as a
van or truck.

(6) Marijuana establishments shall provide the Gardner Police and Fire Departments, Building
Commissioner, Board of Health, and the special permit granting authority with the names, phone
numbers and e-mail addresses of all management staff and key holders to whom one can provide
notice if there are operating problems associated with the establishment.

(7) The City shall have access at any time to inspect the premises of the marijuana establishment to
ensure compliance with local and state regulations, excluding client health information protected under
the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996.

(8) Pursuant to MGL c. 94G, § 3(a)(2)(i) to (Ni), the maximum number of licensed marijuana
establishments in the City shall be consistent with the following provisions:

(a) Shall not prohibit one or more types of marijuana establishment;

(b) The number of marijuana retail establishments shall not exceed 20% of liquor licenses issued for
retail sale of alcohol not consumed an the premises in the City of Gardner, said number to be
rounded up to the next whole number;

(c) The number of marijuana establishments shall not prevent the conversion of a medical marijuana
treatment center licensed or registered no later than July 1, 2017, to a marijuana establishment
engaged in the same type of activity.
[Amended 9-3-2019 by Ord. No. 1625]

0. Special permit requirements.

(1) No special permit for any marijuana establishment shall be issued without site plan approval first
having been obtained from the Planning Board, § 675-1010, Site plan review, of this chapter. In
addition to the standards set forth within, the site plan must meet all dimensional, parking,
landscaping, and signage requirements within this chapter.

(2) A marijuana establishment shall only be allowed by special permit from the Gardner Planning Board in
accordance with MGL c, 40A, § 9, subject to the following statements, regulations, requirements,
conditions and limitations.

(3) A special permit for a marijuana establishment shall be limited to one or more of the following uses
that shall be specified by the special permit granting authority:

(a) Marijuana cultivator;

(b) Marijuana product manufacturer;

(c) Marijuana retailer;

(d) Marijuana testing facility;

(e) Marijuana transportation or distribution facility; and

(f) Any other type of licensed marijuana-related business,

(4) In addition to the application requirements set forth above, a special permit application for a marijuana
establishment shall include the following:

(a) The name and address of each owner of the establishment;

(b) Copies of all required licenses and permits issued to the applicant by the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts Cannabis Control Commission and any of its other agencies for the
establishment;

(c) Evidence of the applicant’s right to use the site of the establishment for the establishment, such
as a purchase and sale agreement, deed, owner’s authorization, or lease;

(d) Proposed security measures for the marijuana establishment, including lighting, fencing, gates
and alarms, etc., to ensure the safety of persons and to protect the premises from theft. A letter

1089311113



from the City of Gardner Police Chief, or designee, acknowledging review and approval of the
marijuana establishment security plan is required. To the extent allowed by law, all such
documents shall be confidential.

(5) Mandatory findings. The special permit granting authority shall not issue a special permit for a
marijuana establishment unless it finds that:

(a) The establishment is designed to minimize any adverse impacts on abutters and other parties in
interest, as defined in MGL c. 40A, § 11.

(b) The establishment demonstrates that it will meet all the permitting requirements of all applicable
agencies within the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and will comply with all applicable state
laws and regulations; and

(c) The applicant has satisfied all the conditions and requirements set forth herein.

(6) A special permit granted under this section shall have a term limited to the duration of the applicant’s
ownership or leasehold of the premises as a marijuana establishment. A special permit may be
transferred only with the approval of the special permit granting authority in the form of an amendment
to the special permit with all information required in this § 675-1070.

E. Abandonment or discontinuance of use.

(1) A special permit shall lapse if not exercised within one year of issuance.

(2) A marijuana establishment shall be required to remove all personal property, including but not limited
to all material, plants, equipment, accessories, paraphernalia, and any other property no later than the
earliest of:

(a) Prior to surrendering its state-issued licenses or permits; or

(b) Within six months of ceasing operations.

1089311113




